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Corporate Information
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Mr. Chan Cheong Tat (B &3E % &) (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (SR % 4)

Ms. Chen Weijie (FR#5% 2 +)

Mr. Leung Ka Wo (BRI 4E)
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Ms. Chen Weijie (FR#5% % 1) (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (3R @ 5t 4)
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Mr. Leung Ka Wo (RRHMSAE)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (SR{&% 5t &) (Chairman)
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Mr. Leung Ka Wo (BZR AT 4E)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Sau Mei ({h %522 +) (FCG, HKFCG)
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Wu Guoqing (= Bz £)
Ms. Ng Sau Mei ({EF5# = 1)
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Crowe (HK) CPA Limited

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISER
Jingtian & Gongcheng LLP

PRC LEGAL ADVISER
Commerce & Finance Law Offices
COMPANY WEBSITE
www.hongkunwuye.com
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS
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— Beijing Xihongmen Branch

China Minsheng Bank
— Beijing Daxing Branch

Bank of Communications
— Baoding Zhuozhou Branch

China Construction Bank
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Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
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Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
— Dongfang Branch

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Windward 3

Regatta Office Park
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Corporate Information (Continued)

NRER(E)

%D

BEEE(HE) St MEEAAERAR
BRAEED
BARNBEMEBAAREREEAR
SlE RS

BEEMEBA

NCIE B

www.hongkunwuye.com

R AD 5%

1941

FEAERRT

HEERIRTT

— b RAAIPIRAT
PEIRAERTT

— bR KRB 77T
BIRTT

—RIEFIMN AT
B R ERTT

— BT
B TR ERTT

— =BT
B TRAERTT

—RAXAT

FEREEMREE

Windward 3

Regatta Office Park

PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HEEEZERERAE —ZoHFFR



Corporate Information (Continued)

NREHE)

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

Room 108

No. 45 Xinrong North Street
Xihongmen, Daxing District
Beijing, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

31/F, Tower Two, Times Square
1 Matheson Street

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3

Regatta Office Park

PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong
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Financial Highlights
MBREE

RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS FERE

For the year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=+—-BLFE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARKTIT

Revenue Wz 377,314 341,405
Gross profit EH 81,299 61,693
Net loss FEE (21,594) (13,746)
Loss per share (RMB cent) HREEARES)
- Basic —HR (5.42) (3.47)
Revenue Gross profit Net loss
Y2k EF FEBE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥T T AR¥T T
400,000 100,000 = 0
350,000}
80,000 | -5,000 |
300,000 f~
250,000 f~
60,000 - 10,000 |-
200,000 -
40,000 | -15,000 |~
150,000 |-
100,000 [+
20,000 | -20,000 -
50,000
0 0 -25,000 -
2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024

BESBERARAT —T-EFFH



Financial Highlights (Continued)

MBHE(E)

THE BREAKDOWN OF TOTAL REVENUE BY TYPE

OF SERVICES

BRI A E 7 4 U 53 B AT

For the year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=+—-BLFE

2024 2023

—E-UE —E-=4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AR¥TFr

Property management services YIEEIR R 323,809 289,885

Property developer related services V)2 B B RA AR TS 9,375 9,651

Value-added services BERS 44,130 41,869

Total 4Bt 377,314 341,405
SUMMARY OF BALANCE SHEET EEEERREE

As at 31 December
R+=B=+—8

2024 2023

—EopmE —E-=#

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AREFT

Total assets BEE 422,346 439,484

Total liabilities FEN=E 208,294 203,610

Total equity arEss 214,052 235,874

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following
terms shall have the meanings set out below.

“AGM”
[RRBFRE

“Articles of Association”
[E=f248A)

“Audit Committee”

[EZZBE]

“Beijing Herun”

[ER&E]

“Beijing Hongkun” or “Hongkun Ruibang”

[ b |3k G iR 5 |
“Board” or “Board of Directors”
[EFe |

“BVI”
[RBELES]

“Company” or “our Company”

R VNSIIEA NI

“controlling shareholder(s)”
[ RR AR 3R

“Corporate Governance Code”

[EERTAl

Definitions

Bx

RAFHRA - BXERBMEEIN  ATH
EEETIIEE -

the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
B BITH AR RIRFBFEARE

the amended and restated articles of association of the Company
RAREIEET RERTRAEEIZ 4R

the audit committee established by the Board to supervise the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting procedures and the audits of the
Company’s financial statements review

HEFGRUNEZZE S  AEERARANG A MM B RERFIARE
NEINMBRRES

Beijing Herun Asset Management Company Limited* (It R & BHEEEEHR
R/ 7)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC
on 13 November 2013 and owned by Mr. Zhao Weihao and Ms. Wu Hong as
to 99% and 1%, respectively

tRAEBEEERERAR  — MR- E—=F+—A+=HREPREE
R KBRAR  BAEESEERRITZETHRIEFI9%KZ1%

Beijing Hongkun Ruibang Property Management Company Limited* (1t =
JEimE Y EEIRA R AF), a limited liability company established under
the laws of the PRC on 18 June 2003 and an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of our Company

RS HIEBMEEEERAG  — AR =FA+/\BREFEE
B KBRAT - RARATINEEEENB AT

the board of Directors of our Company
KAREEE

the British Virgin Islands
RBELAE

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited (/& 2 & E#E R AR A Al), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 26
March 2019

HESEZERAERAR  —ARZZE-—NF=ZA=-1+"BERSHSTMK
S EVERERR AT

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
BB LWRAME T ZAeRE

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules
R BIMERC1FTE M 2B AT

HEEEERERAE —ZoHFER
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Definitions (Continued)

Bx(E)

“Deed of Acting in Concert”

[—BiT8I &

“Director(s)”

(2%

“GFA”
[ SEmE A

n o«

“Group”, “Ye Xing Group”, “our Group”,
“we” or “Us”

(AR [&E]  [EEEE IR#)

"HK
(%7t

“Hong Kong”
[&% ]

“Hongkun Group”
G E |

“Hongkun Jituan”
By SN
“Independent Third Party(ies)”

[BIE=7]

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

the deed of acting in concert dated 24 July 2019 and executed by Mr.
Zhao Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin whereby they confirmed
their acting in concert arrangements as more particularly set out in
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders and Parent Group — Our
Controlling Shareholders — Deed of Acting in Concert” in the Prospectus. Ms.
Wu Hong is Mr. Zhao Bin’s spouse and Mr. Zhao Weihao is their son. They
are together our controlling shareholders

HEESEE  RUKTMENEEFENERR_ZE-—NFLAZ-ZTMAE
BW—BITEIRE - Bt - REBR T REN BT L - EEFEHNA
MR E A2 A e[ B PR AR R ER N B R [ R AR — TR PR PR IR IR — — BT 892245
oo RETLHZEWRAENRME - BREFELERMANTE T - REHERERK
IR AR R

the director(s) of our Company

RARMES

gross floor area
HREEE

our Company and our subsidiaries, and Chinese entities controlled by the
Company through contractual arrangements
RRE - HB AR RERE TR ARRIEHIN PR B

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

BT BENRIEER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEBRRITTHE

Hongkun Jituan and its subsidiaries, associated companies and joint
ventures
BHEENRREMBAR  MEATREGERE

o

Hongkun Jituan Company Limited* (3% 3# & B A BR A 7]), a limited liability
company established under the laws of the PRC on 15 September 2014
and wholly-owned by Beijing Herun

WHEBRBRAR  —HRZE—NFNATRARBEHREEERIHER
ARIRBIEREHEEHR

third party(ies) who is/are not connected with any of our Directors or
controlling shareholders or any of our subsidiaries or any of our respective
associates (within the meaning under the Listing Rules)

BRI 0 (A7) 6 2 SE AR R S B I AT P B R RIS AR 5 BB A (E &
REmRADGEEENE=7



“Jiangsu Wanhao”

[IgREs]

“Listing”

[ E )
“Listing Date”
[ EE]
“Listing Rules”
[ EmRal]
“Model Code”
[1E%E<PA

“Nomination Committee”

[REZEg]
“Parent Group”
[&5HE |

“PRC” or “China”

[ ]

“Prospectus”
[BRERER]

“Remuneration Committee”
[FZEE =]

“Reporting Period”
[ &5

“RMB”
[ARE]

Definitions (Continued)

#E=(E)

Jiangsu Wanhao Property Management Co., Ltd.* (I# & ZWERBER
A7), a limited liability company incorporated in the PRC on 24 September
2003

IHEBZVERBERAR  —HAR-ZZEZ=FLA-+NBEFHFMAK
UREREERTA

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 13
March 2020
BROMR—ZE-_TF=A+=AEBIAER T

13 March 2020, being the date on which the Shares were listed on the
Stock Exchange

“TTF=RA+=8 " BROREBRF ETR B

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time

EEBMERHMARARES EMHRA - B TRHERT XA

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
TR AIMERCIFTE M LM BT ABZE T HTE S R HITAETA

the nomination committee of the Board

E=gRA%8E

Beijing Herun and its subsidiaries, associated companies and joint
ventures
IEREEREMBAR  BE AR REERE

the People’s Republic of China, for the purposes of this annual report, does
not include Hong Kong, the Macao Special Administrative Region of the
PRC and Taiwan

FEARKNE  SAFERSHE - TEESHE - REIRPISIITHE

AN =
//=

the prospectus dated 28 February 2020 issued by the Company, which
relates to the Listing
AARTENRMA—ZE-_SF A=+ /\BMNBRER - REAEHLM

the remuneration committee of the Board

E=gTMERE

for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_ZT-_ME+-_A=1+—HItFE

Renminbi, China’s lawful currency

TEIEEEB AR

HEEEERERAE —ZoHFER
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Definitions (Continued)

Bx(E)

“SFO”

FH N EE GG
“Share(s)”
[&5 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ &R ]

“sgq.m.”

[F73K]

“Stock Exchange”

[ B 22 P |

“Tianjin Hongsheng”

[ REER ]

* For identification purposes only

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to
time

BREDIFONEE L R AE GG (G IRAEET - MRS AR A B

ordinary share(s) with nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital
of the Company
RARRAREREE.ONVEITH LB

holder(s) of the Share(s)
[ESLESTEPN

square meter

FHK

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBMERXHMBERAT

Tianjin Hongsheng Property Services Company Limited* (K258 5% %) % AR 75
BR/AT]), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC
on 27 December 2013 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
KEEERYERKARAR  — MR _E—=F+-A -+ tHREHEXL
BB ARARRARARIN—H2EWBE QA

* s



2024 Honors and Awards
“ECMFREREE

x 1c¢) “

CERTIFICATE
N\ S

2024 EY RS 2552 Ak

2024 Top 100 Property Management Companies in China
i 3844 7
ALt E AR AR

T2

~—

e—
Go——2,

%‘9 5 RS TR SR AT 0@%
* (3, —O=mFEA

We won the honor “2024 Top 100 Property Management Companies in China” and ranked 38"
BRI 20247 Y BRFAr A B h A sa (b3 15384

> 16G “5‘?%

CERTIFICATE
— —NL S

2024 [Pl b R I 1 i M

2024 Top 100 Brand Influential Property Management Companies in China

ﬁ ARG I ER AL P R 23]

%9 b KRS LB R AT
I o —o=m#+=A SIF

We won the honor “2024 Top 100 Brand Influential Property Management Companies in China”
ERME[ 2024 B ¥ iR B AR |

HEEEZERERAE —ZoHFFR
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2024 Honors and Awards (Continued)
TR NFREREEE)

CERTIFICATE
= e

—CN\uoea

2024 b EPL &R IR SS ) A sk

2024 Top 100 High-quality Service Property Management Companies in China

Aent M ERE YA P TR 23 ]

»

We won the honor “2024 Top 100 High-quality Service Property Management Companies in China
B[ 2024 B ¥ mmE R hBER b

S S S S S S S S S S S

G

202454 {EEWLERSHITOP10E UL

LA R B IR A )

2 S SN

ZBIRE+CA

S S S S S S Y S N

We won the honor “2024 Top 10 Residential Service Power Property Management Companies in North China”
ERME[ 202424 £ hRTE S Top 101 %

12 Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Dear Shareholders and friends who are interested in Ye Xing Group, | am
honored to present the 2024 Annual Report of Ye Xing Group on behalf of
the Company and the Board of Directors.

In 2024, the real estate market is still in a period of deep adjustment,
with sustained sluggish market demand, unfavorable sales data, and
significant inventory pressure. As a downstream industry of real estate,
the property management industry is also facing unprecedented
challenges and changes. Under this environment, our Group adheres to
our original intention, continuously improves our professional capabilities,
builds a learning organization, assists in market expansion, enhances
our Group’s level and qualifications, participates in industry promotion
activities, and takes multiple measures such as steady progress and
improved management efficiency to steadily establish the Group’s
business development.

ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT CONCEPT

In order to fulfill the mission of “creating an enjoyable living environment”
(;= AMP{ES B L), our Group keeps focusing on the needs of property
owners, provides personalized and refined services, establishes a rapid
response mechanism (such as 24-hour customer service and online
repair platform), conducts regular satisfaction surveys, dynamically
adjusting service content (such as elderly care, children’s activities,
etc.), promotes “invisible service” and “active service”, and continuously
improves customer experience.

At the same time, the Group reiterates the “family service system”, with
the aim of meeting the individual needs and service effectiveness of
customers, realizing a diversified business and ecological extension
service model, breaking through traditional property boundaries,
building community ecology, achieving the organic combination of
property management and value-added services, promoting home
economics, elderly care, education, new retail and other businesses, and
collaborating with medical and fitness institutions to provide community
services.

While promoting high-quality and steady development, our Group has
always regarded fulfilling social responsibility as an important part of
sustainable development, adhering to the core concept of green and
sustainable development, promoting energy conservation and emission
reduction, fulfilling social responsibility, implementing energy-saving
lighting, rainwater recycling, garbage classification, and promoting
community low-carbon activities (shared spaces and new energy
charging piles). At the same time, we actively promote the construction
of party building leading and community co-governance, jointly establish
a tripartite coordination mechanism with street offices and property
management committees, and jointly build a harmonious and beautiful
new community.

Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

EHHMBRRARBTEEEEBORARM R
RERRAAREFEMNARREHESE
RO FEFERE -

—ToMOF BHEMSEREERNREAR
H > MISHERBEER  HEBBITTE
B EFEEBORARK  MOXERTE
EREHENTHESR - REHEEZ MK
BHEEESE - P KRR T - ARER
SHL  NERFEERES - TESEE
o B mShE  BRAANKESREE
SMTEREAD - BEBEBITREAE
BYEELRELER  BEARENEBERE -

TEZRER

AEBER FAPESRAL E—E - 18
REIBEFEIRR  ZHREM - BAEIL
ARTS 32 PR B EH S (1124/ NS RAR - 47
ERIEFE)  EHRBER - BREARR
BAR(MEFRE  REEAPE)  #T(E
RS IR TR HERFTTFER

R AEEEH[BBREEER] - UEP
MERFER  RERRRRE  BRZTL
AR B A RE R B A IR TS IR S0 - SRA(E AT
MEER  BEMERAR BRYEEIRHE
RERBERSS  HTRK - B #H
B MTEEEY BMABR  RHRER
AL AR

EfFEnERRERNAR  ARE—H
HETHEEERACRAKERRNER
—R BESEAKEEENROES - #
PETRE R BITHEEME  BEHER
B RKEY - SR DR - R RS
B(HA=RE - HERTERE) - R - &
PIEtR g R EE | REER I - BA
EM  FEGEL=F A% - g
i REHAR o

HEEEERERAE —ZoHFER
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ERHE(R)

ANNUAL RESULTS IN 2024

In 2024, the Company achieved revenue of approximately RMB377.3
million, representing an increase of about 10.5% year on year; realized
gross profit of approximately RMB81.3 million, representing an increase
of about 31.8% year on year; and realized a net loss of approximately
RMB21.6 million (2023: net loss of approximately RMB13.7 million). The
gross profit margin in 2024 was 21.5%, representing an increase of 3.4
percentage points compared with 2023.

As of the end of 2024, the Group’s contracted GFA was approximately
15.8 million sg.m., and the total revenue-bearing GFA under management
exceeded 13.2 million sg.m., which was consistent with that of 2023; the
number of the Group’s managed residential property projects was 63,
with a total revenue-bearing GFA of approximately 12.3 million sg.m.,
accounting for 93.5% of the total revenue-bearing GFA; the number of
the Group’s managed non-residential property projects was 19, with a
total revenue-bearing GFA of approximately 0.9 million sq.m., accounting
for 6.5% of the total revenue-bearing GFA. The non-residential property
projects include shopping malls, office buildings and industrial parks.

FUTURE OUTLOOK: CONSOLIDATE THE BASIC
BUSINESS, ACHIEVING HIGH-QUALITY GROWTH
WITH DIVERSIFIED EXPANSION CONTINUOUSLY

Relying on its own management scale and the advantages of a full range
of business formats, our Group has overcome difficulties in maintaining
market share, improving operational efficiency, and effectively competing
in the market. While increasing the revenue of property basic business
and ensuring the Company’s profit margin, we have made good use
of our services to exchange for future markets. At the same time, we
innovate and incubate various business operations, explore new growth
points, fully leverage the Company’s advantages, increase the expansion
of specialized businesses, and strive to achieve the business goals of
high-quality services, high-quality management of the Company, and
high-quality new project expansion.

In 2025, we will be in a continuously changing industry environment and

have the confidence to take on corporate responsibility, transit smoothly,
and have the ability to repay Shareholders with better performance.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW
Business Overview

The Group is a reputable property management service provider offering
comprehensive property management and related services for residential
and non-residential properties in the PRC. Its parent group, Hongkun
Group, is a leading property developer in the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei
Region and has been ranked among the Top 100 Property Developers
in the PRC* (7 B = #b 5 2% {b % & 38 ). The Group had been ranked
one of the Top 100 Property Management Companies in the PRC* (FF X
W2 BRFS B R %) by China Index Academy* (1 Bl 38 2t 75Fx ) for six
consecutive years since 2016. Through upholding the Group’s service
philosophy of “creating an enjoyable living environment ( & A 7 {£ 1§
F /L )” and the dedication to the Group’s core values of “friendliness,
persistence, innovation and excellence” in delivering its services, the
Group envisions to become an outstanding property management service
provider in the PRC. As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided
property management services to properties spanning across 17 cities in
the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Region, Hainan Province, Hubei Province, Anhui
Province, Jiangsu Province and Guangdong Province, managing a total
revenue-bearing GFA of approximately 13.2 million sgq.m., comprising
63 residential properties (with over 99,000 units in total) and 19 non-
residential properties.

In 2024, the Company achieved a revenue of approximately RMB377.3
million, an increase of about 10.5% year on year; realized gross profit
of approximately RMB81.3 million, an increase of about 31.8% year on
year. The loss and total comprehensive loss for the year amounted to
approximately RMB21.6 million. The gross profit margin in 2024 was
21.5%, representing an increase of 3.4 percentage points as compared
with that of 2023.

BEEEWED T

FR e
EEHME

AEEREESHWNMESERBEER
BFREERIMEEEREEANDES
BREERE - ESSBERHEEAEE
E’JAE%%%;?J%&% W B AE A BE H E R

TEHR - AEEE-T - NFRYEE
/\EEJ\ZLEF‘.TE%@H%B Rl Eil
EERME o WBRAREE A MG
DIKRBE SV ERERBHRETAEE
[RE - BF - 8lF - 28N EE &
EBEMESERATREMOMESTERYG
HEE RN_T_WE+_A=1+—H " K
SEERBRFEHEIME « BEE - HILE -
THAE IHARERAN @AM mRE
MESERY  BEAKSAEEMBEN13.2
BEFHX  BREIEEETME(EHBS
99,000 B4z ) & AQBIFEEWE -

ZEPF - ARRIERREHAREES77.3
BB RLIENH105% @ EEREFHA

R¥81.3E8T * RILIEINL31.8% : FE

FBEMEMEEBEBRABEOARE216E88

fc o ZENEMEMER215% - A=
ZEEMIMEAT D

HEEEERERAE —ZoHFER
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEERWwED T ()

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Business Overview (Continued)

As of the end of 2024, the Group’s contracted GFA was approximately
15.8 million sg.m., and the total revenue-bearing GFA under management
exceeded 13.2 million sg.m., which was consistent with that of 2023; the
number of the Group’s managed residential property projects was 63,
with a total revenue-bearing GFA of approximately 12.3 million sgq.m.,
accounting for 93.5% of the total revenue-bearing GFA; the number of the
Group’s managed non-residential property projects was 19, with a total
revenue-bearing GFA of approximately 0.9 million sq.m., accounting for
6.5% of the total revenue-bearing GFA.

The table below sets forth our (i) contracted GFA; (ii) revenue-bearing
GFA; and (iii) number of properties under our management in relation to
the properties for which we had commenced our provision of property
management services, as at the dates indicated:

EERE(E)
EBEHE(E)

HE_Z-_NFE  A£EHNANELEARE
HABE158EET K BB EEER
HBB132EEF K ,\::—_ﬁaiﬁ
NEBEES(ETAB63ME @ BUREELTEE
N E123AEF K W@u&mL ﬁ%aﬁ
93.5% : AEEAEEIFETIEB19E - 21K
HEEmMBENA09BE LK - fﬁwuﬂzmﬁi
EHIERB.5% °

TREFINAR B EIRMR)A #EEEE
(MR ZEEEAE (iR MEEMELR
PEms SEREHRYEEERTENMEMS)
%A -

As at 31 December

W+=—A=+—H
2024 2023

- Junl 11123 —E-=F
Residential Properties FEYE
Contracted GFA (000 sq.m.) (Note) BHEEmMME(FELK) (K7 13,661 13,746
Revenue-bearing GFA ('000 sq.m.) W sEma (FFAK) 12,354 12,013
Number of properties managed T EMEEE 63 59
Non-residential Properties FEEEME
Contracted GFA (000 sq.m.) (Note) BHEEmMBE(FELK) (K7 2,109 2,109
Revenue-bearing GFA (‘000 sq.m.) e SEmME (FFEHK) 859 859
Number of properties managed T EMEEE 19 17
Total @t
Contracted GFA (000 sq.m.) (Note) BHEEmMBE(FELK) (K7 15,770 15,855
Revenue-bearing GFA (‘000 sq.m.) e SEmME (FFEHK) 13,213 12,872
Number of properties managed EEMEEE 82 76

Note: Contracted GFA refers to the total GFA managed and the total GFA
to be managed by the Group under signed property management

service agreements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FUTURE OUTLOOK

In 2024, China’s exports continued to grow, domestic demand continued
to expand, and the overall economic situation began to stabilize and
recover from a macro perspective. At the same time, the real estate
market adjustment has entered a deep water zone, the property
management industry has gradually moved towards marketization and
standardization after the development in recent years, and the ecological
system has gradually improved. In this context, our Group has not
forgotten its original aspiration and has always adhered to the vision of
“quality serving life”. Based on service standards and guided by customer
needs, it insists on refined services and standardized management and
control, and moves forward firmly to promote our services to be integrated
into the beautiful lives of our customers.

Keep the truth and innovate, move forward steadily

With an eye on future planning, our Group, while consolidating the existing
market, continues to increase its market expansion efforts by relying on its
own management scale and advantages in all business formats, pursues
quality scale growth, actively lays out new tracks in segmented fields,
and strives to build core advantages in residential properties, commercial
office properties and other fields.

In 2024, the Group successfully took over a number of large-scale
projects, including the Tianjin Binhai Hanyuan (X288 E) and Xiyuan
(8% E), the Beijing Xihongmen Ideal Home Phase VI, VIl and VIII (1t &
FAAIPIIEABRE NH - £ 8 - /\HA), the Chengdu Metro (X &P ), the
Beijing Shuanghe Pharmaceutical (3t 7 # #5 & %%), the Beijing Xinchen
Technology Smart Industrial Park (1t R #1 /R B i 2 Z E ¥ &), and the
national Xiaotangshan Villa (2 B/)\5 1L L §t), etc. By focusing on cities
through a centralized strategy, we continuously increase the density of
single-city projects and effectively reduce costs and increase efficiency.

At the same time, the Group continued to make efforts in the field of
value-added services, including cleaning, landscaping, home-based
elderly care, new community retail, convenient maintenance, space
operation and other value-added services, and also newly developed
the live streaming sales business. We always insist on innovation and
are committed to using advanced technology, combining our own
professional skills and scientific management concepts to improve
service quality and create a new and better life for our customers.

EEREFNWED (&)

RERE
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ERWHL - RE - ERERZTSRE -
EHEST  AREATHL - REEE M
BMRBEE MRS - ARG ERER - A
BEF®BERER  BRBALCRE - FE(L
B BERA - EBRMANRBBARS
HEAFAE ©

STIEWRFT  ARERITT

FIRAREMRE - AEEEREFEMSHNE
B RS EEREREERNEDY - T
EiNATSImRIE @ BREmENREE
£ BADREEGRMGRNEE  BHITE
EEEVE  BRRFENEIZEHNZL

B

—EomF - REBERINEEZ BALIE
B eRXREsRE BEEE  ERA
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEERWwED T ()

FUTURE OUTLOOK (CONTINUED)
Strengthen quality and reshape the core

Our Group practices the service philosophy of “creating an enjoyable
living environment (% A {5 12)”, always adheres to the customer-
centric approach, continuously promotes the service capabilities of
“standardized operation + professional service + market-oriented
development”, constantly builds a solid foundation for development,
innovates service measures, forms a service closed loop through demand
analysis, research and solution, innovative promotion, feedback and
upgrade, and improves service standards and quality management and
control system. We always insist on building our core competitiveness
— excellent service capabilities, starting from customer’s entire living
cycle, designs covering 16 major categories of services and a total of 101
service details, covering every aspect of life from prospective property
owners, adaptation period, stable period and old property owners.
We always take care of every member of the family with a cumulative,
persistent attitude and caring approach.

We are committed to ensuring that every service staff has a new service
concept, a good service attitude and high-quality service quality. We
create happy feeling for our customers with caring, meticulous and
humanized services, and ensure that we provide customers with just the
right amount of detailed services through refined property management.

Committed to serving and creating value together

Our Group organically combines property management with value-
added services, achieving equal importance to basic properties and
value-added services. With the community operation center as the core
and guided by the needs of property owners, the value-added services
involve every aspect of the property owners’ lives, establishing a more
harmonious and win-win relationship with the property owners, enhancing
the Company’s development potential and brand strength, and further
promoting the development of the socialized family service industry.

Looking ahead to 2025, in addition to ensuring operating profit, the
Group will continue to strengthen value-added services, and develop
new modules for value-added services to provide professional property
training services to external property companies, establish mini-program
sales business, and strengthen the established operating standard
system. In conjunction with quality control, we will carry out business
training for customer service butlers. On the basis of existing businesses,
we will do a good job in extending diversified business services to fully
meet customers’ growing diversified living needs.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FUTURE OUTLOOK (CONTINUED)

Committed to serving and creating value together
(Continued)

In 2025, all staff of the Group will continue to adhere to the market-
oriented approach and customer demand-based approach to create
a service of “love everywhere, life within the circle, and love at hand”,
so that customers’ living needs can be fully met in the community, and
continue to focus on the core concept of “love life, love the environment,
and love charity”, work together with same heart and mind, forge
ahead, and complete the annual goals and tasks. At the same time, we
continue to consolidate the quality of customer services, expand service
boundaries, explore development paths and profit growth points from an
innovative perspective, achieve high-quality services and rapid business
development, and continue to create greater value for customers, society
and Shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results of Operations

The Group’s revenue was mainly derived from property management
services, property developer related services and value-added services.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s total revenue
was approximately RMB377.3 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB35.9 million or approximately 10.5% as compared to
approximately RMB341.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue generated from
property management services, property developer related services and
value-added services contributed 85.8%, 2.5% and 11.7% to the total
revenue, respectively.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by type of
services for the periods indicated:

BEENWED ()

AREE ()

BAORY HAIEEGER)

“RORF ARELTE2RETHEER
FUATSERER  UEPHTRRRE - THE
[REAE @ £ETHE  BRERRINR
% BEPHAEEFE R AR BT R
RUTHEBERGEIELAE  BERR BH
Z 0B R - ROEE - SREER @ 7TK
FERERBRES - Al RARESER
FREmE - MRREER - EIFEE A
RERERBEMABIZRE  BRERESM®
B EBRER HERTF  AHE A
BRAIEE RREME

g E)

TR AN AL

AL = SR8

WH

AEBHRZEBEREMESTERS  WE
i3 R FERE AR TS B ERTS - BE—T =11
F+_A=+—HIFE  AEERNRAWKE
HEARKI773EETL BEHE-_T-_=F
+_A=1T—HLEFENHAREIMN4EE
T M AN RME35.95 BT #110.5% ° &
ZE-E-_NEF+-_A=+—HILFE  PE
SRS - A8 B AR R I (B AR TS
EErKED FIh B ERI85.8% * 2.5% &
11.7% ©

TREFIRATREE PR RIS RIS D &Y
Yess B4R

Year ended 31 December

BE+-HA=+—HLEE

2024 2023
TE-mF —E=F
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARETFTT % ARETFT %
Property management YEEERE

services 323,809 85.8 289,885 84.9

Property developer related #1332 8 RI AR
services 9,375 25 9,651 2.8
Value-added services 118 AR 44,130 11.7 41,869 12.3
Total “ast 377,314 100.0 341,405 100.0
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEERWwED T ()

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Results of Operations (Continued)
Property Management Services

The revenue generated from property management services increased
by approximately RMB33.9 million, or about 11.7% year on year. Revenue
generated from residential properties increased by approximately
RMB21.8 million or approximately 9.1%, mainly due to (i) the fully
reflected contribution of property management fees from those residential
properties delivered in the second half of 2023; and (ii) 5 newly delivered
residential properties during the year, which generated a total revenue
of approximately RMB8.5 million. Revenue generated from non-
residential properties increased by approximately RMB12.1 million or
approximately 24.2%, primarily because 4 non-residential properties
were newly acquired during the year, which generated a total revenue of
approximately RMB10.0 million. The GFA under management increased
from approximately 12.9 million sg.m. as at 31 December 2023 to
approximately 13.2 million sg.m. as at 31 December 2024.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our total revenue-bearing
GFA and our revenue derived from the property management services by
type of properties as at the dates indicated and for the periods indicated:

B %5 [ s (48
Z<<< % (/\/\>
Y EE R

MEEERBEENRSIZEEMPDARE
3B9BEETTHLI11.7%  EEWEH U FIE
MYARE21 8EETLHKAI1% * EEHRN
(WWZEZ=FTH+<FINNEEDEED
¥ENBEE D2 RM  ARI)VERFTR
FEMERM  HAEERFHARESS
BET  MEEEMEMNREZENHARE
121B BT K24.2%  TEHRFERFTH
EIEEEDENE - HAEEREHARE
100 BT - WaEB2EABERR T =_=F
T A=+ —HHMH1295EFHKENE
RIE-_MF+-_A=1+—HNH13265S
FHK e

TREFIRATR B R 7 AR B R 2R AP A Uk
BEEMERYEEERBE SR EEL
0 E AR -

As at/Year ended 31 December

WT=R=1-R/BERALEE

2024 2023
1.3 i
Revenue-bearing GFA Revenue Revenue-bearing GFA Revenue
hEREER Wi WEREniE it
000 sq.m. %  RMB000 % '000sg.m. % RMB000 %
FEA % AEET % TR % AREFT %
Residential properties FEnE 12,354 93.5 261,850 80.9 12013 93.3 240,028 828
Non-residential properties ~ JHEENE 859 6.5 61,959 19.1 859 6.7 49,857 172
13,213 100.0 323,809 100.0 12,872 100.0 289,885 100.0
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENWEIN (&)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED) B 7 [ e (48
Results of Operations (Continued) K AR (48)
Property Management Services (Continued) MEEERK (&)

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our total revenue-bearing TRETIAFTR B B R F B BB B M 48 U
GFA and our revenue derived from property management services by mEEEERYEERERB W SR ERE
type of property developers as at the dates indicated and for the periods PEEEA B 5 HYRAAR

indicated:

As at/Year ended 31 December

Wr=A=t-B/BEZALER

2024 2023
Z8-pE I
Revenue-bearing GFA Revenue Revenue-bearing GFA Revenue
hEREER g WEREnE it
000 sq.m. %  RMB000 % '000sg.m. % RMB000 %
FEBK % ARETE % T % ARETR %
Hongkun Group BEE 10,301 780 274,633 84.8 10,195 79.2 259,931 89.7
Third party property developers $=71%F%7 2912 20 49,176 15.2 2677 208 29,954 103
13,213 100.0 323,809 100.0 12,872 100.0 289,885 100.0
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENWEIN(E)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED) B 7 [ e (48
Results of Operations (Continued) K AR (48)
Property Management Services (Continued) MEEERK (&)

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our total revenue-bearing TRETIAFTR B B R F B BB B M 48 U
GFA and our revenue derived from property management services by mEEEERYEERERB W SRIIEES
geographic coverage as at the dates indicated and for the periods HE B AR

indicated:

As at/Year ended 31 December

Wr=A=t-B/BEZALER

2024 2023
—E-mE S
Revenue-bearing GFA Revenue Revenue-bearing GFA Revenue
hEREER Wi WEREnE it
000 sq.m. %  RMB000 % '000sg.m. % RMB'000 %
FEA % AEETZ % TR % AREFT %
Beijing R 2,721 20.6 101,667 314 2,552 19.9 93,164 32.1
Tianjin RE 1,981 15.0 62,786 194 1,767 13.7 52,807 18.2
Hebei Province e 4,268 323 87,873 211 4,061 315 80,574 218
Beiing-Tianjin-Hebei Region REEHE 8,970 67.9 252,326 779 8,380 65.1 226,545 781
Hainan Province B 676 51 10,056 34 596 46 9,424 33
Hubei Province sl 810 6.1 17,137 53 784 6.1 19,419 6.7
Anhui Province THE = - 9% - 319 29 2,899 10
Jiangsu Province &4 2,716 206 33,283 10.3 2716 212 29,838 103
Shanghai L - - 3 04 = = 70 02
Guangdong Province ERE 41 03 1421 0.4 17 0.1 1,050 04
Sichuan Province e - - 9,113 29 = - - -
13,213 100.0 323,809 100.0 12,872 100.0 289,885 100.0

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENWEIN (&)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED) B %5 [ s (48

Results of Operations (Continued) K AR (48)

Property Developer Related Services Y358 X R B RIS

Due to the downturn of China’s real estate market, the revenue generated SHEEMEMSERANTE  MERED

from property developer related services decreased slightly by HARBEENREHBEE T -_=F1+=
approximately RMBO0.3 million or about 3.1% from approximately RMB9.7 A=+—BIFENHARKEI7TEE THER
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB9.4 DPEIARBOSEE LKL I%EHE-T
million for the year ended 31 December 2024. ZHF+Z A=+ —HLEFENHARKI4

i —

BETT°

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the number of property TREIIAFRE B RN REBEYEFE
developer related services projects and our revenue derived from PR RSIE B 88 R EF A
property developer related services by geographic coverage as at the ARBREIZIEE S S E S H AR
dates indicated and for the periods indicated:

As at/Year ended 31 December

MtZA=t+-B/BEZALEE

2024 2023
—EBCE 2%
Number of Number of
projects Revenue projects Revenue
BEEA 6 EBEHE Weza
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
ARETFT % ARETFT %
Beijing 5175 1 219 24 1 467 49
Tianjin XE 1 692 74 3 2,009 208
Hebei Province EIg) 5 6,565 69.9 8 5,293 54.8
Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Region REEHE 7 7,476 79.7 12 7,769 80.5
Hainan Province isfezE) 1 827 8.8 1 423 4.4
Hubei Province HitE 1 175 1.9 1 360 37
Anhui Province ZHE 1 897 9.6 1 1,099 114
10 9,375 100.0 15 9,651 100.0

HEEEZERERAE —ZoHFFR 23



24

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEERWwED T ()

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Results of Operations (Continued)
Value-added Services

The revenue generated from value-added services increased slightly by
approximately RMB2.2 million or about 5.3% from approximately RMB41.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB44.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2024. The increase was mainly
due to the increase in number of projects managed, and our Group has
invested more resources including setting up a team to expand the value-
added services.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue derived from
our value-added services for the periods indicated:

5 o A (48

RERE(E)

M=

BERS

BERBEENRGHEBEE_S=Z=F+=
A=+ —HBLEFEMNHNAREMN OB BT
EINHAREK22BEEILHLS3%EHEZ
ToNFE+ A=+ HLFENHARE
AANEETT - EMEZHNEEEE BATIL
m: RAEBERBTEZER - BIEKILK
(h AR RIGE RS -

RS FT R B B AP RO B (B ARAE Y R A
B4

Year ended 31 December

Rt+=-—H=+—H 8ZZALEE
2024 2023
—EUE —Eo=F
Revenue Revenue
g W zs
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARYFT % ARBETFT %
Home living services KIEEERS(HaE1)
(Note 1) 19,333 43.8 19,407 46.4
Leasing of common areas AL (4/a22)
(Note 2) 20,187 45.7 21,243 50.6
Others Hth 4,610 10.5 1,219 3.0
44,130 100.0 41,869 100.0
Notes: Btat -

(1) Our home living services primarily included our collection of electricity, air-
conditioning and heating fees, household repair and maintenance services
provided to property owners and residents of our managed residential or
non-residential properties.

(2) Our leasing of common areas primarily represented the leasing of certain
common areas of our managed residential or non-residential properties
to third-party services providers for setting up advertisement lightboxes,
distilled water vending machines, screens in lifts and other facilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Cost of Services

Our cost of services primarily consist of (i) labour costs which arise mainly
from the security, cleaning and gardening services; (ii) subcontracting
costs; (iii) utility expenses; (iv) office expenses; and (v) maintenance
costs.

Our cost of services increased by approximately 5.8% from approximately
RMB279.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMB296.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. The increase
was primarily attributable to (i) the continuous increase in number of our
projects under management and total revenue-bearing GFA; and (ii) the
increase in resource investment including setting up a team to develop
the business of value-added services.

To maximise our cost and operational efficiency, we outsourced our
cleaning, gardening, equipment maintenance, site security services and
car park management to Independent Third Party subcontractors. We
believe that the subcontracting arrangement allows us to leverage the
resources and expertise of the subcontractors, reduce our operating
costs, and enhance overall efficiency and profitability.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the gross profit of the Group
was approximately RMB81.3 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB19.6 million or approximately 31.8% as compared to
approximately RMB61.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The gross profit margin was 21.5% for the year ended 31 December 2024
and 18.1% for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase in gross
profit margin was mainly due to the significant increase in revenue from
non-residential properties which had relatively high gross profit margin.

Selling Expenses and Administrative Expenses

Our selling expenses primarily consist of (i) promotional expenses;
(i) salaries and allowances for our sales personnel; and (iii) travelling
and entertainment expenses. The total selling expenses of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024 were approximately RMB2.9
million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB0.9 million or
approximately 23.7% as compared with approximately RMB3.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was primarily
because the Group reduced the advertising and promotional expenses
by approximately RMBO0.8 million during the year.

EEREFNWED (&)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEERWwED T ()

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Selling Expenses and Administrative Expenses (Continued)

Our administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) salaries and
allowances for administrative and management personnel in
headquarters; (ii) travelling expenses; (iii) professional fees; (iv) lease-
related expenses; and (v) bank charges.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the administrative expenses of
the Group were approximately RMB47.4 million, representing a slight
decrease of approximately RMB1.9 million or approximately 3.9% as
compared to approximately RMB49.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The decrease was mainly because the professional
service fees decreased by approximately RMB2.1 million during the year.

Other Income

For the year ended 31 December 2024, other income of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB1.5 million, representing a decrease
of approximately RMBO0.6 million or about 28.6% as compared to
approximately RMB2.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The decrease was mainly because the value-add tax refund income
decreased by approximately RMB0.9 million or about 90.9% in 2024.

Impairment Loss of Trade and Other Receivables

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the impairment loss of trade
and other receivables through profit or loss was approximately RMB20.3
million (2023: approximately RMB5.8 million). The increase mainly
because the trade receivables before the impairment allowances
increased significantly by approximately RMB58.5 million or about
63.7% from approximately RMB91.8 million as at 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB150.3 million as at 31 December 2024.

For details of the valuation of the impairment, please refer to the
Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.

Impairment Loss of Amounts due from Related Parties
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the impairment loss of amounts
due from related parties was approximately RMB38.6 million (2023:
approximately RMB18.9 million). The increase was mainly due to the

significant increase in credit risk.

For details of the valuation of the impairment, please refer to the
Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Income Tax Credit

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the income tax credit of the
Group was approximately RMB6.4 million (2023: approximately RMBO0.3
million). The increase in income tax credit was mainly due to the increase
in deferred tax arising from the impairment losses recognised during the
year.

Loss for the Year

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year of the Group was approximately RMB21.6 million (2023:
approximately RMB13.7 million). The loss for the year was mainly due to
the impairment loss of trade and other receivables and impairment loss
of amounts due from related parties of approximately RMB58.9 million in
total.

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2024, the total assets of the Group were
approximately RMB422.3 million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately
RMB439.5 million), and the total liabilities were approximately RMB208.3
million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately RMB203.6 million). As at
31 December 2024, the current ratio was 1.4 (as at 31 December 2023:
1.5).

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group had no
outstanding bank borrowings and undrawn banking facilities.

The Board will continue to follow a prudent policy in managing the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents and maintain a strong liquidity
position to ensure that the Group is able to take full advantage of future
growth opportunities.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Our property, plant and equipment included (i) building for staff
quarters; and (ii) furniture, fixtures and equipment in office premises and
management offices and sites. Our property, plant and equipment was
approximately RMB33.7 million as at 31 December 2024, representing
a decrease of approximately RMB3.5 million or approximately 9.4% as
compared with approximately RMB37.2 million as at 31 December 2023.
It was primarily attributable to the depreciation charged for the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEERWwED T ()

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
Intangible Assets

Our intangible assets were approximately RMB10.0 million as at 31
December 2024, representing a decrease of approximately RMB2.6
million or approximately 20.6% as compared with approximately RMB12.6
million as at 31 December 2023. The decrease was mainly due to the
amortisation charge of intangible assets during the year.

Right-of-use Assets

Our right-of-use assets represented our right to use our leased assets
(i.e. office premises and staff quarters) with lease terms of over one year,
which was initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses under Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards 16.

Our right-of-use assets decreased by approximately RMB2.6 million or
about 7.0% from approximately RMB37.3 million as at 31 December 2023
to approximately RMB34.7 million as at 31 December 2024.

On 26 September 2023, Hongkun Ruibang (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) entered into the transfer agreement
with Beijing Ruihongda Enterprise Consulting Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Ruihongda”), pursuant to which Beijing Ruihongda agreed to transfer
and Hongkun Ruibang agreed to acquire the right-of-use of a property
at a consideration of approximately RMB36.8 million. The property has a
lease term until 30 June 2041. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 26 September 2023 and the circular of the Company
dated 21 November 2023 for further details of the acquisition of the right-
of-use of the property.

Goodwill

As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, our goodwill was approximately
RMB29.7 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
Trade and Other Receivables

Our trade and other receivables increased by approximately RMB38.4
million or about 40.4% from approximately RMB95.1 million as at 31
December 2023 to approximately RMB133.5 million as at 31 December
2024. Our trade receivables increased by approximately RMB38.3 million
or about 48.9% from approximately RMB78.4 million as at 31 December
2023 to approximately RMB116.7 million as at 31 December 2024, mainly
due to the continuous growth in our business. Approximately RMB35.4
million of our trade receivables as at 31 December 2024 had been
recovered as at the date of this annual report.

Amounts due from Related Parties
Trade nature amounts due from related parties

Our trade nature amounts due from related parties mainly represented
the outstanding balances to be received from the Parent Group mainly
in respect of the provisions of our property management services and
property developer related services.

Our trade nature amounts due from related parties decreased by
approximately RMB39.3 million or about 63.8% from approximately
RMB61.6 million as at 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB22.3
million as at 31 December 2024, mainly due to the further impairment loss
made during the year.

Trade and Other Payables

As at 31 December 2024, the trade and other payables were
approximately RMB115.1 million, representing a slight decrease
of approximately RMBO0.5 million or about 0.4% as compared to
approximately RMB115.6 million as at 31 December 2023. Of which, our
account payables were approximately RMB38.7 million, representing
a slight increase of approximately RMBO0.9 million or about 2.4% as
compared to approximately RMB37.8 million as at 31 December 2023.
In view of the increasing weighting of subcontracting cost, we have
accelerated the settlement of payables due to suppliers, in order to
maintain the relationship with suppliers and bargain better prices.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEERWwED T ()

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
Contract Liabilities

Our contract liabilities primarily represented the payments in advance
from our customers for the provision of our property management
services because pursuant to the property management service
agreements, we usually charge a fixed amount of fees by issuing demand
notes to property owners and residents, which are generally required to
be paid in advance on an annual basis for residential properties and on
a monthly or quarterly basis for non-residential properties. Our contract
liabilities decreased by approximately RMB1.2 million or about 1.5%
to approximately RMB79.6 million as at 31 December 2024 (as at 31
December 2023: approximately RMB80.8 million).

Asset Pledged

As at 31 December 2024, none of the assets of the Group was pledged.

Gearing Ratio

Our gearing ratio (total liabilities divided by total assets) increased by
approximately 2.99 percentage points from approximately 46.33% as at
31 December 2023 to approximately 49.32% as at 31 December 2024,
mainly due to significant decrease in the amount due from related parties
as at 31 December 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEENWED ()

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED) B # AR (48)

Proceeds from the Listing RS SIE

The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on BORZZE_FF=A+=HEBRMER
13 March 2020 and 100,000,000 new Shares were issued. The over- 7 0 I E1T100,000,000 K FAE D - R =

allotment option was partially exercised and 5,310,000 new Shares were TZTFNA = BPHITE BRI
issued on 3 April 2020. After deducting the underwriting fees and relevant 775,310,000 i tn A8 HIFR B2 36 & A3 K 48

expenses, net proceeds from the Listing amounted to approximately A% - EASERIBEEENA120488
HK$129.4 million (equivalent to approximately RMB116.2 million). The net BIL(HEERNARK1162BETT) ° 5:mR
proceeds from the Listing were higher than that stated in the Prospectus, SRBETELERERMMZNELHEL
due to a higher final issue price than the median of the range of offer PRS- RAHEEBALERD - EWA
prices stated in the Prospectus and lower-than-expected underwriting BRIBFRELBRERM AL - MBMFT
fees. Such proceeds will be applied in the manner consistent with that as BRIERARERERAE — B A E
set out in the Prospectus which is detailed as follows: A FRan T

Disclosure in the Prospectus

REREBHNEE
Proceeds Proceeds
Approximate planned to planned to
net proceeds Approximate be utilized be utilized
Intended usage utilized percentage in 2020 in 2021
FTER TER
B2 b b 23 —E--F
BHmE B4 Az Az
RERZ HEFH BAl FERE RN
HK$ million HK$ million HKS$ million
FE#T BEBT BT
Expansion of geographic presence AT I s Bl IR iR B
and scale of operations in REEHIE
the PRC 64.4 65.0% 61.3 3.1
Development and enhancement  FIE RIEABFIMEN S
of our information system and &Ik
technological initiatives 12.9 13.0% 12.9 =
Expansion of our value-added BRI ERT
services 9.9 10.0% 4.7 5.2
Staff development BITER 2.0 2.0% 2.0 -
General working capital —REEES 98 10.0% - -
Total M@t 99.0 100.0% 80.9 8.3
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEERWwED T ()

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

Proceeds from the Listing (Continued)

Due to the abovementioned reasons, the net proceeds from the Listing
increased to HK$129.4 million and therefore our expected usage
increased proportionately as follows:

B AR ()
EHAEHRIAGE)
M LR - LS REEERME

12948 & BT - BB MOTRHAZRIRLH
BN

As at 31 December 2024
HE-Z-ME+-A=1-H

Proceeds
Actual planned
amount of  Approximate Proceeds Proceedsnot to be utilized
Intended usage net proceeds percentage utilized yet utilized in 2025
FHEIR
'R It S 3
FrigsE BH % )i KB Bz
RERZ E BA FBRE Frigma FiEsE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEET BEET AEET FEBT
Expansion of geographic presence  EAH MR EMIRIRE
and scale of operations in the PRC RISEHE 84.1 65.0% 470 37.1 37.1
Development and enhancement of our - Fi% RIBA B MM EME 5
information system and technological [ i
initiatives 16.9 13.0% 6.8 10.1 10.1
Expansion of our value-added services 3N AL (ERE 129 10.0% 6.7 6.2 6.2
Staff development BT%E 26 2.0% 16 1.0 1.0
General working capital —HReiELs 12.9 10.0% 6.4 6.5 6.5
Total fast 129.4 100.0% 68.5 60.9 60.9

As at 31 December 2024, the Company has utilized part of such proceeds
according to the use as set out in the Prospectus. Approximately
RMB47.0 million, representing approximately 36.3% of the actual amount
of net proceeds, was utilized for expansion of geographic presence and
scale of operations in the PRC, including acquiring Jiangsu Wanhao;
approximately RMB6.8 million, representing approximately 5.3% of
the actual amount of net proceeds, was utilized for development and
enhancement of our information system and technological initiatives,
including building up a resident communication database; approximately
RMB6.7 million, representing approximately 5.2% of the actual amount
of net proceeds, was utilized for expansion of our value-added services,
including setting up a business development team; approximately
RMB1.6 million, representing approximately 1.2% of the actual amount
of net proceeds, was utilized for staff development, including providing
training to sales team; and approximately RMB6.4 million, representing
approximately 4.9% of the actual amount of net proceeds, was utilized for
general working capital.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
Proceeds from the Listing (Continued)

Due to the continuous downtrend of the real estate industry, the supply
of new property projects in the market decreases, the uncertainty of
acquisition pricing raised, we adopt a more cautious attitude towards
the evaluation of the targets for mergers and acquisitions. Therefore, our
progress in utilizing the proceeds from the Listing was delayed comparing
with the plan. The expected timeline for utilizing the unutilized proceeds
will be one year, which is based on our best estimation and will be subject
to change according to market conditions. The unutilized proceeds as at
31 December 2024 had been deposited in the bank accounts.

Significant Acquisitions and Disposals

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group did not have any significant acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

Significant Investments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
investments.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Asset

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have detailed future plans for
material investments or capital assets.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The 2024 AGM will be held on 30 May 2025 and the notice of the 2024

AGM will be published and sent to the Shareholders in the manner as
required by the Listing Rules in due course.

DIVIDEND

No final dividend was recommended by the Board for the year ended 31
December 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no other significant events affecting the Group after 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEERWwED T ()

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 1,226 employees. Staff
costs for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
RMB158.9 million.

The Company’s policy for determining the remuneration payable to
Directors is based on the skills, knowledge, involvement in the Company’s
affairs and performance of individual Directors, with reference to the
Company’s profitability, the level of remuneration in the industry and
prevailing market conditions. To ensure that the Remuneration Committee
can better advise on the Group’s future remuneration policies and related
strategies, the Remuneration Committee is informed of the Group’s
existing remuneration policies and succession plans (e.g. guidelines for
determining staff remuneration packages and relevant market trends and
information).

In accordance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Group
contributes to the PRC social security fund (including pension insurance,
medical insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance and
work injury insurance) and housing provident fund for its PRC employees.
The Group’s full-time employees in the PRC participate in a number of
government-sponsored defined contribution retirement schemes under
which employees are entitled to a monthly pension calculated according
to certain formulas. The relevant government agencies assume the
responsibility of pension payments to these retired employees. The
Group makes monthly contributions to these pension schemes. Under
these schemes, the Group has no obligation for post-retirement benefits
other than the contributions made. Contributions to these schemes
are expensed as incurred and contributions made to these defined
contribution pension schemes on behalf of an employee cannot be used
to reduce the Group’s future obligations under these defined contribution
pension schemes even if the employee leaves the Group.

*  For identification purposes only
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Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Wu Guoging (5 B %)

Ms. Wu Guoging (R Bl i), aged 50, is our executive Director and the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”). She joined our Group on 7
January 2014 as a general manager of Beijing Hongkun, where she was
responsible for the overall management, strategic planning and day-
to-day business operations. She was appointed as the chairman of the
board of directors of Beijing Hongkun on 18 February 2019. Ms. Wu
Guoging was appointed as our Director on 26 March 2019. She was
redesignated as our executive Director on 24 July 2019. Apart from
being the chairman of the board of directors of Beijing Hongkun, Ms.
Wu Guoging is also its legal representative and general manager. Ms.
Wu Guoqing is responsible for the overall management and business
operations of our Group, including formulating strategies and operational
plans, supervising the working progress of various departments, and
making daily business decisions for our Group.

Ms. Wu Guoging has more than 20 years of experience in the property
management services industry in the PRC. Prior to joining our Group,
she worked at Beijing Vanke Property Service Company Limited*
(At mRERERS AR A F]), a company principally engaging in providing
property management, property agency, property pre-delivery and sales
assistance, consulting and real estate brokerage services, from March 2002
to January 2014 with her last position as director (#28%), where her major job
duties included strategic execution, overseeing property management projects
and management of human resources. Before that, Ms. Wu Guoging had had
work experience in the hotel management industry.

Ms. Wu Guoqging became the vice president of Hebei Property
Management Institute (77l b & #) % & 2 173 & ) in January 2018, the first
member of Law and Policy Working Committee of China Property
Management Institute (R R £ BRI S EZRBER TEZ 8 E) in 2019,
CIH CM Chartered Member of CIH Chartered Institute of Housing ( %
BHERELIEES) in 2020 and the president of Beijing Xihongmen Town
Property Service Institute (3t R FBALPIEEY) 5 AR 755 B8 ) in 2020.
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EERSREEE(R)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

She was awarded “China’s Property Management Innovative Person
in 2017* (2017 A B % E E Al 1 A %) in 2017 by China Property
Management Magazine* ({F Bl % & 12 )54t ), “China’s Outstanding
Property Manager in 2018* (2018 FR @ F ¥ % 4£3E A)” in 2018 by EH
Consulting (18 # %5 &), “China’s Innovative and Entrepreneurial Leader
In 2019* (2019 = B &Il %7 & 3 <B 4h A #7)” in 2019 by Xiou Net* (% BX
49), “Industry Influential People In 2019* (2019 FETE£4EFE A W) in
2019 by The China Finance Summit ( & B Bf &€ I& € ), “Innovation and
Entrepreneurship Leader of the Year 2019* (2019 4F [& & [ Al| 37 A ¥ <8
A ®)” in 2019 by the 7th China Innovation, Entrepreneurship Leaders
Summit* (F-tET BRI IXFHHIES), “2020 Top 30 CEOs* (20205 &
CEO 30 58)” in 2020 by Leju* (24/FB14), “innovation of the year™ in 2021
by The Economic Observer (&E#EETR), “2021 Top 30 CEOs™ (20214F
JECEO 30358) in 2021 by Leju* (£4/E 81 4%), “Outstanding Entrepreneur in
the Property Management Industry in the North China” in 2022 and 2023
by CPMRI* (& #1 #ff #3 ), and “Outstanding Entrepreneur in the Property
Management in the China” in 2023 by CPM Think Tank* (FF#7%8 ).

Ms. Wu Guoging graduated from Hainan University (8 AZ) in Hainan
Province, the PRC in December 1995 with her profession in international
trade. She was qualified as a certified property manager (3% & 12 )
by the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of the PRC in
August 2013.

Mr. Zhao Weihao (H#1E%)

Mr. Zhao Weihao (#f#%) (formerly known as Zhao Liang (#52)), aged
31, is our executive Director. He joined our Group as a director of Beijing
Hongkun on 6 December 2017, where he is responsible for the overall
management and day-to-day business operations. He was appointed
as our Director on 26 March 2019 and redesignated as our executive
Director on 24 July 2019. Mr. Zhao Weihao is responsible for the overall
development and major business decisions making of our Group.

Mr. Zhao is currently a director of Shenzhen Municipal Coast Xingtai Real
Estate Company Limited* (R I T/ EHERTEEHFR A F), a company
located in the PRC with principal business of real estate development,
provision of real estate brokerage services, and property leasing. During
the period from August 2019 to August 2022, Mr. Zhao was a director
of Beijing Hongkun Weiye Property Development Company Limited*
(At BHEXEHERZFR 2 A) (‘Hongkun Weiye”), a company
located in the PRC with principal business of real estate development.

Mr. Zhao Weihao graduated from Boston University in Massachusetts, the

United States in September 2016 with a bachelor’s degree in economics
and computer science.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Ms. Li Yin Ping (Z=#5¥)

Ms. Li Yin Ping ( Z= # 5 ) (also known as Florence Li), aged 48, is our
executive Director. She was appointed as our Director on 26 March 2019
and was redesignated as our executive Director on 24 July 2019. She
was appointed as a director of Beijing Hongkun on 18 February 2019.

Following her appointment as a director of Beijing Hongkun, she has been
actively participating in overseeing our property management services
and business development, including reviewing the workflow, procedures
and delivery of our property management services, and she provides
strategic advice from the managerial perspective. As an executive
Director, Ms. Li Yin Ping also participates in the formulation of business
strategy and major decisions of our Group as well as in the deliberation
and approval of our Group’s administrative expenses, monthly accounts
and budgets, and in the recruitment of senior management.

As at the date of this annual report, Ms. Li Yin Ping also served as
a director in various private companies in Hong Kong and overseas
which engage in different nature of business as listed below. With her
experience in finance and capital investment, particularly investment in
listed companies, Ms. Li Yin Ping is also involved in strategic planning of
our Group’s fund raising and capital investment activities, and provides
guidance and supervision on financial management and corporate
governance of our Group as well as in overall strategic planning and
business development of new business opportunities.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREAREEE(E)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Ms. Li Yin Ping has experiences in finance and capital investments.
She also has previous work experiences in the financial advisory and
insurance industries. Among others, she is holding the following positions

in Hong Kong and overseas:

BITES ()

FREZLTHBESREERNRERLR - KT
A S ERERRRITEABE THEER -
Hep o R EE RBINRET IR -

Place of Principal business of the
Company name incorporation Period of time company Position
NEER TR 3L 3tk B A NEEEEH B
Top Sing International Company Hong Kong October 2013 to present Trading Director
Limited
REEBIR AR AR e —Z—=F+TRES 25 5%
Mega Marketing & Media Hong Kong May 2015 to present Event marketing and public Director
Company Limited relations services
BEEMISREFRL e —LhERRES EEIl=f= PN T 5%
Vibes Management Company Hong Kong May 2016 to present Investment holding in listed Director
Limited company in Hong Kong
FYBEEER AR e —Z—R"FLRES REB TR AINREER 5%
Pioneer Unicorn Limited BVI June 2016 to present Investment holding in listed Director
company in Hong Kong
Pioneer Unicorn Limited RBELES ZT-RFRRES REB EMARRREER B=
Winz Strategy Company Limited Hong Kong February 2017 to present Provision of financial investment Director
consultancy services
HRRBERRAA £ —Z—t+E_HFES RIS EIRE E RS 5%
Winz Strategy BVI April 2017 to present Investment holding in listed Director
company in Hong Kong
SRR RBRZES —tEmAES REB LT RAINREER 5%
Ms. Li Yin Ping is currently a member of the Federation of HK Guangxi ?;ﬁfﬁﬁiiﬁﬁ?ﬁ%rﬁﬁl @%\’%‘ g8 LA
Community Organisations, as well as an executive committee member (& MNBEREEE T -NFENEHEE -
T54818) of 2019 of The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon.
Ms. Li Yin Ping obtained a master’s degree in business administration EHFLIN T —tF—AFRAREEE
(MBA) from European University Business School in January 2017 through FEBBUN K2R M T EIEE LT (MBA)
distance learning. BAfT o
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Ms. Zhang Chunying (iR & %)

Ms. Zhang Chunying (& & %), aged 43, has been appointed as an
executive Director on 7 July 2021, and serve as the chief financial officer
of the Company. Ms. Zhang has joined the Company since 31 July 2018
and is responsible for financial management work of the Company.

Ms. Zhang has over 13 years of experience in accounting and financial
management. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Zhang worked in Beijing
Vanke Property Service Company Limited* (1t R &R 2 RIS EBR A 7))
from October 2007 to July 2018, a company which is mainly engaged
in providing property management, property agency, property pre-
delivery and sales assistance, consulting and real estate brokerage
services before handover of properties and sales. Her last position was
the head of financial management department of Tianjin Vanke Property
Service Company Limited (K& & &3 8k 7% B R A 7)), responsible for
comprehensive financial tasks, including budgeting, auditing, capital and
taxation and others.

Ms. Zhang graduated from Agricultural University of Hebei with bachelor’s
degree of Economic and Management Profession in 2008, and graduated
from North Borneo University College in Malaysia, with a master’s
degree in Management in February 2022. She obtained an accounting
qualification certificate.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Li Yifan (Z— /1)

Mr. Li Yifan (22— ), aged 36, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director on 7 July 2021. Mr. Li has joined Hongkun Jituan since May 2018.
He is the board secretary of Hongkun Jituan and the industrial partner.
Prior to joining Hongkun Group, Mr. Li served as a manager of the board
of directors office at State Development & Investment Corporation (B %
FE % & A R]) from May 2014 to March 2017. From March 2017 to April
2018, Mr. Li was the senior manager and secretary to the chairman of the
board of directors of Zhengrong Group Ltd. (IES5%EHR A ).

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor’s degree in Law from Peking University
in July 2012 and a master’s degree in International Studies from The
University of Sydney in July 2013.
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EERSREEE(R)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (3R {E1)

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (5R{Z%#), aged 43, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 February 2020. He is
responsible for providing independent judgment and advice to the Board.
He is the chairman of the Nomination Committee, and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung has over 14 years of experience in auditing and
accounting industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Cheung Wai Hung
worked at Aoba CPA Limited from July 2004 to April 2014 with his last
position as audit manager, where he assisted in the audit of various
medium-sized and listed companies. Mr. Cheung has been appointed,
since April 2014, as the chief financial officer serving Wai Chi Holdings
Company Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1305), where he is responsible for the
financial management. He has become a member of the risk management
committee of Wai Chi Holdings Company Limited since August 2015
and has been appointed as the company secretary of Wai Chi Holdings
Company Limited since November 2015. Since August 2018, Mr. Cheung
Wai Hung has been appointed as the independent non-executive director
and a member of the audit committee of GT Gold Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited), the shares of
which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8299).

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in November 2003 with a bachelor’s degree in accountancy.
He is currently a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a Chartered tax adviser with a membership in The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat (B & %)

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat (Bf & i), aged 75, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 February 2020. He is
responsible for providing independent judgment and advice to the
Board. He is the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat is the founding shareholder and sole director of
C T Tax Consultants Limited since August 2006. Prior to that, Mr. Chan
Cheong Tat had worked in the Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong
for over 32 years. He joined the HKSAR Government as assistant assessor
in November 1972 and was promoted to assistant commissioner of the
Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong in September 2003. He retired
from the HKSAR Government in April 2005.

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat obtained a master’s degree in financial
management from Central Queensland University of Australia in October
1995 through distance learning. He was admitted as an associate of The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators (now known as The
Chartered Governance Institute) in the United Kingdom in March 1974,
a fellow of the Association of Certified Accountants (now known as the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants) in November 1983, a
fellow of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (now known as Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in March 1986, a fellow of
the Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants (now known as
CPA Australia) in June 1990, and an associate of The Hong Kong Institute
of Company Secretaries (now known as The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute) in August 1994.
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EEREREEE(E)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS By k#TES(H)
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat has been or was appointed as an independent non- PREFELEDKKEERERTIEE LT
executive director of the following listed companies in Hong Kong: NABEIIEMITES
Company name Place of listing and stock code Period of time
NEBRE L B R BRAD 5% RFHA
Medicskin Holdings Limited GEM of the Stock Exchange December 2014 to present
(stock code: 8307)
TR B R A A Bt 22 PTGEM (IR 5% « 8307) —T-ME+-RAES
Hyfusin Group Holdings Limited GEM of the Stock Exchange June 2018 to present
(stock code: 8512)
SlEEEEERBERAA B FIGEM (AR ARSE - 8512) ZE-NFRRAES
Chong Fai Jewellery Group Holdings GEM of the Stock Exchange September 2018 to present
Company Limited (stock code: 8537)
BIEGRE R EITRER AR B FIGEM (AR5 - 8537) —E-NFNLRAES
Accel Group Holdings Limited Main Board of the Stock Exchange September 2019 to present
(stock code: 1283)
SRR EERER AR AP AR (AR 5% - 1283) —E-NFNAES
Wasion Holdings Limited Main Board of the Stock Exchange May 2014 to May 2015; June 2020 to
(stock code: 3393) present
LSRR PR A A B FTER (AR1HARSE - 3393) ZENFRAEZZE—RFHA:

—ECRERAES
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Ms. Chen Weijie (BR4E5%)

Ms. Chen Weijie (Ff # %), aged 44, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 17 February 2020. She is responsible for
providing independent judgment and advice to the Board. She is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Ms. Chen Weijie has over 13 years of experience in executive
management, investment and corporate finance. Since July 2020, Ms.
Chen Weijie has been appointed as the chief executive officer and
responsible officer in Type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated
activities of Vision Finance (Securities) Limited, a company principally
engaging in provision of financial services, where she is responsible for
the overall business development and provision of financial advice to
listed companies.

Ms. Chen Weijie has been or was appointed as a director of the following
listed companies in Hong Kong:
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Company name

NEEE

Place of listing and stock code

Period of time
Fith B R R B RS

Position

B

Finet Group Limited GEM of the Stock Exchange

October 2021 to

Executive director

(stock code: 8317) August 2023
MEHEEBR AR B A FTGEM (IR 1R55%: 8317) —E—F+AE HITES
—E=F)\A

Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1609) (delisted on
28 March 2024)

Chong Kin Group
Holdings Limited

BlEEEGER)ARAR BT ER(BMDASR: 1609)
(BR=ZZE-_WF=A=—+N\HEM) =

Amrita Global
Development Limited
(formerly known as
Tianyun International
Holdings Limited)

Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 6836)
(delisted on 9 January 2025)

HEERZERERAR  BAAER(AHHKR: 6836) S
(R TE R B BB 12 A% (BERZZ-RF—ANBET)
BRAR)

IDT International Limited Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 167)

BRI AR AR B2 P EAR (AR AR 5% 167) =T =

= =y

June 2021 to March 2024

—2-—fAAE

—=

April 2024 to January 2025

WMEMAZE
—E-hF—A

September 2024 to present

mENLAZES

Independent non-
executive director

B IENITES
mE=A

Independent non-
executive director

BIYFFMITES

Independent non-
executive director
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EEREAREEE(E)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Ms. Chen Weijie also has some relevant experience in the legal sector.
Prior to joining our Group, she worked as an intern at the Intermediate
People’s Court of Guangzhou, the PRC, from December 2003 to July
2004, and as a paralegal in the corporate finance department at Norton
Rose Hong Kong (currently known as Norton Rose Fulbright Hong Kong)
from July 2006 to June 2008. She was qualified as a lawyer in the PRC in
2009.

Ms. Chen Weijie graduated from Guangdong University of Finance &
Economics (previously known as Guangdong Business School* (& 3 7
E1)) in Guangdong, the PRC in June 2004 with a bachelor’s degree in
law. She also obtained a master of laws in international business law from
City University of Hong Kong in November 2005. She has been holding a
Type 6 licence (advising on corporate finance) granted by the Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute since July 2013.

Mr. Leung Ka Wo (£ X))

Mr. Leung Ka Wo (X #), aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 7 July 2021. He is responsible for providing
independent judgment and advice to the Board. He is a member of
the Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

Mr. Leung is currently an independent non-executive director, the
chairman and a member of the audit committee and a member of each
of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of Tongguan
Gold Group Limited (formerly known as China Mining Resources Group
Limited) (stock code: 0340), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Leung is currently a director and the chief financial
officer of China TX IIOT Group (Hong Kong) Limited. In addition, Mr.
Leung is also currently a director of B&J Capital (Hong Kong) Co Ltd, B&J
Capital Co Ltd, China IIOT Holding (Cayman) Ltd, Diamond Lane Global
Ltd, Leader Goal Investments Ltd and Granton Vehicle International Co.,
Ltd respectively.

Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from
Seattle University. Mr. Leung is a certified public accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, certified public accountant
of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Shuai Chuanyong (BT &%)

Mr. Shuai Chuanyong (B & B ), aged 56, was appointed as the deputy
general manager of Beijing Hongkun on 17 October 2017. He is
responsible for the project management of our managed properties
in Tianjin, Hebei Province and Hainan Province in the PRC, as well as
business development, quality control oversight and human resources
management of Beijing Hongkun. He is also the executive director of
Tianjin Hongsheng and Xianghe Hongkun Property Service Company

Limited* (/A &30 ARG R A A]).

Mr. Shuai Chuanyong has over 10 years of experience in the property
management industry in the PRC. Prior to joining our Group, he worked
at Beijing Hengfu Property Service Company Limited Tianjin Branch* (1t
FIEEWERBERRRKRESAR), a company principally engaging
in provision of property management and real estate brokerage
services, from 1 September 2011 to 15 October 2017 with his last
position as deputy general manager, where he was responsible for
general management. Before that, Mr. Shuai Chuanyong had had work
experiences in the property management, manufacturing and decoration
industries.

Mr. Shuai Chuanyong graduated from Jiangxi Institute of Economic
Administrators* (T 78487 & 2 #3820t ) in Jiangxi Province, the PRC in
July 1993 with his profession in business management.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERSREEE(A)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Ms. Cao Lixin (& 3 %)

Ms. Cao Lixin ( & 3 $7 ), aged 39, was appointed as the assistant general
manager of Beijing Hongkun on 7 January 2018. She joined our Group on 4
September 2015 as the director (#&5) of Beijing Hongkun’s management
projects in Beijing. She is responsible for project management of our
managed properties in Beijing, Hebei Province and Hubei Province, the
PRC, and customer services oversight.

Prior to joining our Group, she worked at Beijing Vanke Property Service
Company Limited* (3t R&EH Z AR % A BR 2 5]), a company principally
engaging in providing property management, property agency, property
pre-delivery and sales assistance, consulting and real estate brokerage
services, from March 2004 to September 2015 with her last position as
department manager, where she was responsible for project planning
and management.

Ms. Cao Lixin graduated from The Open University of China (AR E
& & 2 K 2) in Beijing, the PRC in January 2005 with her profession in
horticulture through distance learning. She also graduated from China
Agricultural University (R B2 % K 2) in Beijing, the PRC in July 2007 with
her profession in landscape architecture through an online course.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
Mr. Wang Xiaorong (£ %)

Mr. Wang Xiaorong (£ £ %), aged 43, was appointed as the director (42
£2) of Beijing Hongkun’s properties in Tianjin on 12 June 2018. He joined
our Group as a manager and was responsible for project management on
1 August 2016. He is responsible for the general project management of
our managed properties in Tianjin and Xianghe, Hebei Province, the PRC.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Wang Xiaorong worked at Beijing Vanke
Property Management Company Limited* (3t RERMIERFERAF), a
company principally engaging in providing property management,
property agency, property pre-delivery and sales assistance, consulting
and real estate brokerage services, from March 2005 to August 2016 with
his last position as business support system manager, where he was
responsible for maintenance of the business support system and property
environment management.

Mr. Wang Xiaorong graduated from China Agricultural University
(7R B & % KX E) in Beijing, the PRC in January 2016 with his profession
in horticulture through an online course. He passed the property
management examination approved by Beijing Municipal Commission of
Housing and Urban-Rural Development* (it R E M EREZ EE)
of the PRC in April 2015.

*  For identification purposes only
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Project Overview

HEME

HONGKUN PROPERTY PROJECT INFORMATION JS##2£1E B E R

1. BEIJING WOOD AND LIFE VILLA
b e MR EE

As the high-end residential representative of Hongkun Group, Beijing Wood and Life Villa provides scarce, high
comfort and healthy high-tech luxury homes in the city’s core for customers pursuing high quality of life. Based on the
Elysée Palace in France, the Pure Villa Community comprising of 276 town houses and stacked villas, with a plot ratio
of 1.02, is located on Xinwang South Street in Daxing, Beijing.

IR MABEERBHEEBFRA TR EEAR - REREREEENES  BHEMZOBR - SETEE - RFEN
BRRRE - WEAEEBEEREAR @ 276EM MBI R EEKMAREHE - REXRR1.02 - BERURIERH AR
TREERI A e

B
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Project Overview (Continued)
HEME(E)

HONGKUN FLOWER AND LIFE VILLA
HRIHeTE R E

Located in the hinterland of Beijing CBD, Hongkun Flower and Life Villa is the only low-density villa in the CBD, with
shopping, entertainment, star hotel, leisure and fitness, education and medical care, and service facilities all around
the project. The south side of the project is the southeast irrigation canal, and the north side is the 8,000 sg.m. urban
garden (pending building) planned by the government, with a total construction land area of 27,000 sg.m. and a GFA
of approximately 65,000 sq.m., a total of 9 buildings comprising of 270 households, with a plot ratio of only 1.6, a
greening coverage rate of 60%, and a utilization rate of 86%-89%.

TIRe LB E MNIL RCBDME M - ZCBDM —REERFIEER - JBEFEBY  RE  EQRBE - KBRS  #HEE
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Project Overview (Continued)
HEMZEGE)

3. HAINAN HONGKUN LANDSCAPE VILLA
AR e | LSS

As the first resort community in Hainan with Zen culture as the theme, Hainan Hongkun Landscape Villa brings a
unique holiday life to the people in pursuit of spiritual relaxation, leisure and health. By virtue of the natural landscape
of mountains and lush greenery, through incorporating the view of the mountain into the park, Hainan Hongkun
Landscape Villa is the new trend of Sanya, a “second home”.

BEEEe IBEELSBEE - FUBBEXLATENERER - RERLENRR - KEBENAFHERBRNERE
A KFELEBRNBARE  MIUAER - R=5[F_/FEHMIFRR -
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Project Overview (Continued)
HEBE(E)

HONGKUN IDEAL CITY
R 3 o 12130 Y

Located in the heart of the new city of Daxing District, Beijing, Hongkun Ideal City project is a model of Hongkun
Real Estate’s high-level low-density product series. With an area of 130,800 sg.m. and a 100% occupancy rate,
the development, which was ready for check-in November 2010, not only enjoys 35,000 sg.m. of quality education
resources, but is also located by IKEA’s Asian flagship store; has an Art Deco’s classic architectural style and is
inspired by the French Art Deco architecture, and integrates the new decoration style, urban impression concept and
free fashion culture into one through the refined and perfect treatment of facades and decorative components, giving
the urban revival temperament; has the units ranging from 90 to 180 sq.m., showing people a rich and varied lifestyle.
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PR - AEE100% - R=B—BE+—AAE - TEEAISHT P RBEAERELR - BRARSMNEEERRI
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Project Overview (Continued)
HEBE(E)

5. HONGKUN PLAZA SHOPPING CENTRE
R 3 E 5 B 4 O

As the first commercial project launched by Hongkun Real Estate Group to serve community residents, Hongkun
Plaza Shopping Centre is a comprehensive community commercial project integrating retail, restaurant, children,
entertainment, fithess, cinema, co-working and other business modes. The project is dedicated to creating a creative
community sharing centre in the southwest Beijing.

BHESEDDOMERBBMESERLNEEARGHEERNOBMEIRR r 25TE % RE #KRE #F5 ¥
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Project Overview (Continued)
HEME(E)

HONGKUN VALUE TOWN INDUSTRIAL PARK
RS MAERE

Hongkun Value Town Industrial Park is a new landmark of industrial development in the capital city that brings
together modern service industries such as finance, culture and creativity, internet and new industries with innovation.
It has 12 eco-intelligent innovations and “three-star” green building standards, and leads the way to become one of
the few national “dual-ecology” intelligent business parks that combines landscape and industrial ecology in Beijing.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERBE

The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the corporate
governance of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance.

The Board believes that high standards of corporate governance are
key to the Group’s ability to protect Shareholders’ interests, enhance
corporate value, develop business strategies and policies, and improve
transparency and accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code as the basis for the Company’s corporate
governance practices. The Company has also established a corporate
governance framework and has developed a set of policies and
procedures in accordance with the Corporate Governance Code. These
policies and procedures provide the basis for strengthening the Board’s
ability to exercise governance and provide appropriate oversight of the
business conduct and affairs of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all the
applicable code provisions as set out the Corporate Governance Code,
except for the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code. Code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

Ms. Wu Guoging is the general manager of Beijing Hongkun and is
involved in the day-to-day management of our business. Although she
does not hold the title of chief executive officer, she can be regarded as
the de facto chief executive officer of the Group (the “Chief Executive
Officer”). She is also the Chairman. Ms. Wu has been responsible for
the overall management, strategic planning and day-to-day business
operations of the Group. The Board believes that at this stage of the
Group’s development, having the roles of both the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer in the same person brings strong and consistent
leadership to the Company for effective and efficient planning and
implementation of business decisions and strategies. Accordingly, the
Directors consider it is appropriate and reasonable to deviate from code
provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code. However, it is the
Company’s long term objective to have different individuals in the two
roles when suitable candidates are identified.

The Group will continue to review and monitor its corporate governance

practices in order to ensure compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

As at the date of this annual report, the Board is composed of 44.4%
independent non-executive Directors, representing a strong independent
element. Independent views and inputs are always available to the Board
no matter through formal or informal channels. The Chairman promotes a
culture of openness and constructive relations between independent non-
executive Directors and other Directors to facilitate effective contribution
of independent non-executive Directors for independent views and
inputs. Independent professional advice is sought when necessary or as
required by Directors.

During the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board
composition and is satisfied with the independence of the Board.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. The Company
has made specific enquiries to all Directors and all Directors confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code during the Reporting
Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Culture

Through upholding our service philosophy of “creating an enjoyable living
environment (& Aff3{E/8F0))” and our dedication to our core values of
“friendliness, persistence, innovation and excellence” in delivering our
services, we envision to become an outstanding property management
service provider in the PRC. We strive to provide more than just property
management services to property owners and residents. We offer a vast
range of value-added services and organise a variety of activities in our
managed properties. We take pride in creating a cozy and enjoyable
living environment in the residential properties we manage and provide
property owners and residents with a close-knit community with easy
access to diversified services that meet their day-to-day needs.

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the
Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and takes
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEER®E (&)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, consisting of four executive
Directors, namely Mr. Zhao Weihao, Ms. Wu Guoging (Chairman), Ms. Li
Yin Ping and Ms. Zhang Chunying, one non-executive Director, namely
Mr. Li Yifan, and four independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chan Cheong Tat, Mr. Cheung Wai Hung, Ms. Chen Weijie and Mr. Leung
Ka Wo.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 35 to 44 of this
annual report.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors as set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report,
none of the Directors has any personal relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with any other
Directors or the Chief Executive Officer.

All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited
to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a year
involving active participation, either in person or through electronic
means of communication, of a majority of Directors. Notices of not less
than fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide all
Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda
for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board committee meetings, reasonable notice is
generally given. The agenda and accompanying meeting papers are
dispatched to the Directors or Board committee members at least three
days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors
or Board committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will
be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
make their views known to the chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of
meetings are kept by the company secretary with copies circulated to all
Directors for information and records.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records
(Continued)

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by Directors.

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also holds meetings
with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors each year.

During the Reporting Period, 4 Board meetings were held, and 1 general
meeting was convened. The attendance of each Director at these
meetings is set out in the table below:
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Board Meetings
Attended/Eligible

General Meeting
Attended/Eligible

to Attend to Attend
CHEEEEYeE SHERRAE®
Director o= EHERE FEHERE
Mr. Zhao Weihao HEREE 4/4 1/1
Ms. Wu Guoging REEZ L 4/4 1/1
Ms. Li Yin Ping TEEL L 4/4 1/1
Ms. Zhang Chunying SREE LA 4/4 1/1
Mr. Li Yifan k& 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESLLE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung SRIBHESAE 4/4 1/1
Ms. Chen Weijie R4 AL+ 4/4 1/1
Mr. Leung Ka Wo REMFE 4/4 1/1
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer FFERATIRABE

TREBH R REE L EE - RRHEGR
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The position of Chairman is held by Ms. Wu Guoging and she provides
leadership and is responsible for the effective functioning and leadership
of the Board. The Company does not at present have any officer with
the title of chief executive officer. However, being the general manager
of Beijing Hongkun and involved in the day-to-day management of the
Company’s business, Ms. Wu Guoging may be regarded as the de FELLRENZHERTHREH - #BE
facto Chief Executive Officer though she does not carry such title. She is AEENERETIE  BREZIMBE TEKE
responsible for the overall management, strategic planning and day-to- o

day business operations of our Group.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEER®E (&)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the requirements
set out in Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors
representing more than one-third of the board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
The independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific
term of one year commencing from their respective dates of appointment,

subject to renewal after the expiry of their current terms.

The specific terms of service of each non-executive Director (including
independent non-executive Director) are as follows:
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Term of Service

BRISHAPR

Name of Director

EEHNR

Non-executive Director

FHTES

Mr. Li Yifan

From 7 July 2021 and subject to retirement by rotation at least once

every three years. A retiring Director shall be e||g|ble for re-election.

F—NkLE
ERREE

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. Chan Cheong Tat

B=F=— itﬂtlﬂi ZLB=FHERER - IGRIENEEHE

From 17 February 2020 and subject to retirement by rotation at

least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for

re-election.

REZELLE

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

BERWEE -

BE_Z_ZF_A+tRE EOE=FHERE K IHERENES

From 17 February 2020 and subject to retirement by rotation at

least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for

BE_Z_ZF_A+tRE =OE=FHERE K IHRENES

From 17 February 2020 and subject to retirement by rotation at

least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for

BE_Z_ZF_A+tBE =2LE=FHERE K IHRENES

From 7 July 2021 and subject to retirement by rotation at least once

every three years. A retiring Director shall be ellglble for re-election.

re-election.
SRIBTESE A

BERBEEE o
Mr. Chen Weijie

re-election.
PR#EE LT

BEREERE o
Mr. Leung Ka Wo
REMEE

ER RS -
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
Appointment and Re-election of Directors (Continued)

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meetings of the Company. Under the Articles of
Association, at each annual general meeting of the Company, one-
third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is not three
or a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The
Articles of Association also provide that any Directors appointed to fill a
casual vacancy or as an additional Director shall be subject to election
by Shareholders at the first annual general meeting of the Company after
appointment. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations. The
independent non-executive Directors will also be able to provide an
impartial, external opinion to the Board so as to ensure that the Board can
obtain independent views and opinions that it requires when exercising
its powers and making major decisions and to protect the interests of
our Shareholders. During the Reporting Period, the 4 independent non-
executive Directors attended Board meetings regularly and actively
participated in the decision-making process of the Board, and provided
independent views and opinions to the Board when it performed its
duties. In view of the above, and after review, the Board believes
that its mechanism for obtaining independent opinions has been fully
implemented and continues to be effective.
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TEER®E (&)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management (Continued)

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them in public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments as well as their identity and the time involved.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such
induction shall be supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant
sites and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-
facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and reading material
on relevant topics would be provided to Directors where appropriate.

All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
EEERRE (E)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) EEg(HE)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of EZ@KEBREMBE BENMSE
the Board and Management (Continued) BA(EE)

During the Reporting Period, all Directors have received trainings REREEIA - Fﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁ%f’ﬁ%%?
regarding their duties and responsibilities as Directors, corporate HNEBELRET CEEAREETEMESE
governance and regulatory updates and the Directors have been I ESEREAEBEME (BEAHEF
provided with relevant reading materials including compliance manual/ W REREERH fless)  HEE

legal and regulatory updates/seminar handouts for their reference and RE R o
studying.
The individual training record of each Director during the Reporting FUEERREARNAE AL 8EEL M a0
Period is summarized below: T
Attending relevant Reading relevant
trainings regarding materials including
Directors’ duties and compliance manual/
responsibilities, legal and
corporate governance regulatory updates/
and regulatory updates seminar handouts
SHRERESRE BB R - B
REFE - 2EER BRFM SEEER
Name of Director BEgE SR E TR AR BRI B M EES
Mr. Zhao Weihao HEREE 4 v
Ms. Wu Guoging REELZ L v v
Ms. Li Yin Ping TEYELZ L v/ v/
Ms. Zhang Chunying REE LA v v
Mr. Li Yifan Z— LA v v/
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESLLE v v
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung SRIBMESEAE v v
Ms. Chen Weijie PRAEE 2+ v v
Mr. Leung Ka Wo REMFHE v v
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TEER®E (&)

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees are established with specific written terms of reference which
deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website
and are available to the Shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Cheong Tat (Chairman), Mr. Cheung Wai
Hung, Ms. Chen Weijie and Mr. Leung Ka Wo. Mr. Chan Cheong Tat, the
chairman of the Audit Committee, possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting and related financial management expertise as
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has established the Audit Committee in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code.
The main duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems
of the Group, oversee our audit process and perform other duties and
responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings and
the attendance of each Audit Committee member is set out in the table
below:

EEZET
EEQERU=-AZEE  AEXZEE -
FHMEZEGRIREEES  UEEARAE

BEORESTH - FEEEZBREKIFY
REAEEBIERE /%EE\JEH%BZEH’ME
REBE BHRZES  FHZESRIES
é%ﬁﬁ’ﬂ%%%ﬁlfﬂﬁﬁézﬁ A8k Ko B 52
PrABUL - W ARRESRES AR ER] o

BEZRBg

BEREZBemUBBIIFNITESMAN - A
REZESLLE(EF)  REHLE  RETBTL
ITRRRMEE - BERZEEEFREESL
B ETARRIE310KFIRENES SR
EER - St MAEMEERRENE -

RARIEEST EARAEI2NVEREEER
TRV EZLZE® - BREEENEER
EAEMMEBALENTHEREHNE - A
bR B IR M NEES R4 - BEEBRMNEZE
FRETESSEENEAMBE

B 3t
WDH

N EREEERGTIREE &
SeNE LR

R &
BE SR RFR -

Attended/Eligible to attend

Director = BHiE EBHE
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat (Chairman) PREESTE(EE) 3/3
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung RIEMRE 3/3
Ms. Chen Weijie BR#EEZ L 3/3
Mr. Leung Ka Wo RRMI&EE 3/3

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Audit Committee (Continued)
During the meetings, the Audit Committee:

° reviewed the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 and the interim results of the Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2024 as well as the relevant financial
reports;

° reviewed the audit report prepared by the auditor relating to
accounting issues and major findings in course of audit; and

° reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance procedures,
risk management and internal control systems (including the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function), risk management systems and
processes and the re-appointment of the auditor.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor once without the
presence of the executive Directors during the Reporting Period.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Chen Weijie (Chairman), Mr. Cheung Wai Hung,
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat and Mr. Leung Ka Wo.

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee in
compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are to establish and review the policy and structure of the remuneration
for the Directors and senior management of the Company, make
recommendations on employee benefit arrangement and review and/
or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.
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TEER®E (&)

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Remuneration Committee (Continued)
During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held 2

meetings and the attendance of each Remuneration Committee member is
set out in the table below:

EEZEE(H)

ZEe(®)

s B

BEHAN - HFMZESRTT2REH - &
ﬁrﬁ@)ﬂé%‘\ﬁ%,ﬁ’ﬂﬁ}ﬁ’%iﬂm?i‘%ﬁﬁﬁ :

Attended/Eligible to attend

Director = BHiE EBHE
Ms. Chen Weijie (Chairman) PR S (EE) 2/2
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung RIEMRE 2/2
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESLE 2/2
Mr. Leung Ka Wo RRMEE 2/2

During the meetings, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management of the
Company for 2023, reviewed and made recommendations to the Board
on the policy and structure of the remuneration for the Directors and
senior management of the Company for 2024, and considered matters
relating to the proposed share scheme.

The remuneration payable to Directors and senior management of the
Company is determined with reference to capabilities, experiences, duties
and responsibilities, and the remuneration benchmarks normally paid
by other companies in the industry for ensuring a fair and competitive
remuneration package in the market.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company by band are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements and the details of the remuneration of senior management by
band are set out below:

”S%H;QFEJ %’r@ﬂ%iémﬁ_;_fif
BEERANTSHEERE Y FEFE - B
&ﬁﬁ%ﬂi ﬁﬁ%_;_miféiﬁﬁ

BREBEHINBCE REE  URE
réﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬂx@ﬁ%ﬂm%ﬁ o

XNTEZERARRSREEZBNFHHN2
ZREMBES - K8 BE - URTEHM
RAE RN FHELEMETE - ARRE
B Em S LB AT RAGHF S

EREERARARREEEHMZER)
MFBENGEMBERERMEI0 MERE
BEHHREES DRI T

Number of individuals

Remuneration band Ea E]E| AE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0Z 1,000,000/ 7T 2
HK$1,000,000 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,000/ 7L £ 1,500,000/ 7T 1
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (Chairman), Mr. Chan Cheong
Tat, Ms. Chen Weijie and Mr. Leung Ka Wo.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in compliance
with the Corporate Governance Code. The principal duties of the
Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to our Board on the
appointment and removal of our Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity as set out in the Company’s board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”). The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree
on measurable objectives for achieving and maintaining diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria
as set out in the director nomination policy of the Company (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) that are necessary to complement the corporate
strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting
and the attendance of each Nomination Committee member is set out in
the table below:
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Attended/Eligible to attend

Director BE BHiE BHE
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (Chairman) RIEMIRE(EE) 1/1
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat PREZESLE 1/1
Ms. Chen Weijie BR#EEZ L 1/1
Mr. Leung Ka Wo RERFFEE 1/1
During the meeting, the Nomination Committee: EgHiME REE8g -

o reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board; . EHEETSMNERE - ABRAR

° assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

° reviewed the Director Nomination Policy;
° reviewed the Board Diversity Policy; and

° considered the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for
re-election at the annual general meeting.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

We have adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the objective
and approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board. The Board Diversity Policy
provides that our Company should endeavour to ensure that the Board
members have the appropriate balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives that are required to support the execution of our
business strategies. Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, we seek to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to professional experience, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity and length
of service. The Nomination Committee is delegated by the Board to be
responsible for the compliance with relevant code provisions governing
board diversity under the Corporate Governance Code. The Nomination
Committee reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy at least annually to ensure it continues to be effective
and appropriate for the Company and is in compliance with regulatory
requirements and good corporate governance practices. We will disclose
in our corporate governance report about the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy on an annual basis.

The Board comprises nine members, including four executive Directors,
one non-executive Director and four independent non-executive Directors.
Our Directors have a balanced mix of experiences, including overall
management and strategic development, business and risk management,
and finance and accounting experiences. Board members have a wide
range of age, ranging from 31 to 75 years old. Furthermore, more than
one-third of the Board members are female. The Company targets to
have at least one-third of female representation on the Board, so we have
achieved our goal of gender diversity. After due consideration, the Board
believes that based on the meritocracy of the Directors, the composition
of the Board satisfies the Board Diversity Policy.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

EEEZUIBE

BMERMEFSZITEE - HEIIRE
BEEEUEMERRERETENESZTT
EMBRETE - BEFEZTTLBREAE -
ARBEBMIERESENEAEIFEER
REEMITAAROBGEE - KRRZT(ERAT
HEEEFE -  REEFSZTCEEK
BMENEBERZBARZ(BEETRNE
R E - B A MR R XER
HEES BERARBFR)EREESS
Tt  EEERBRERRECRBETEE
ERTRAITREESSZ T CRARR T RIR
X REZBEGELEFRT —RESTES
TALB R EMITIE R FIA AL - ARRBUR
FEERNESARR  AHEEEERR
RUMEREARTH - ZANSFNEEE
AHETRBEEFTS ST LBRMBITIER °

EEeHNAKEEK  BREUEHRITE
B BAFRTEERORBIIRTE
= RANESTTROENRR  SRER
B RRIEER - X5 REREE N LI
eitikh BEFeREFREEE N T
BIRETER ° Wil HFIWEFES BB =2
Z—RB RN - RRABH B RELMERRK
EEFEERHARI=ZDZ AR B
REDERUERNZTIEHER - BEEZE
% EEERA ENERBECENESZE
HE  EFREARTEESTSZ TR -



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (CONTINUED)

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has reviewed
the following measurable objectives and the progress towards these
objectives:
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BARA T AIEHE

Measurable objectives
AFrERE

Progress

ERGERE

The Board has at least one-third of female
representation

EXg2LA=DZ2 REMERE

Consider the appointment of new Director(s)
from a wide range of candidates (including
backgrounds, skills, experience and perspectives
that would complement the existing Board) and
prioritize enhancement of gender diversity
REZAL(BEESS - BN EERYIAH
REFSRENBMNS )EP%F?E?%%E?%&W*
MESEFURNZ T bREP—EELES

Review annually on the composition and structure
of the Board as well as Board diversity

BEAZEFERERRE  UREFEZ T
Establish a pipeline of potential Director
successors to achieve gender diversity

B — AR LAERIME R Z T
JEl

fEEEESETA

I

There are no mitigating factors or circumstances which make achieving

As of 31 December 2024, the Board has four female Directors,
the objective has been achieved.
BE_Z-_ME+_A=+—H EFSHANZMEE B
ZEER ©

Achieved during the year ended 31 December 2024. The
Company will continue to look for diverse and suitable
candidates for recommendation and appointment as
Director(s).

REBE-Z-NF+-A=+—HIFFEDERK - TRAHHE
mesTl  SEANEAEBZERES -

Achieved during the year ended 31 December 2024. The
evaluation process includes an assessment of Board diversity
and objective consideration of the Board’s composition and
performance.
REE_Z_MET_A=+—HIEFEEEX - iTBREaE
BESZ (L SEEBE S ARMER -
Achieved during the year ended 31 December 2024. The
Board will seize the opportunity to increase the proportion of
female members over time when selecting suitable Director
candidates and making recommendations accordingly. The
Company will also continue to promote gender diversity when
recruiting mid-level and senior employees, and reserve a
group of female executives and potential Director successors
for the future.
REZEZZNF+-A=+—RIEFERER - [HEESEY
EFREALHIIRDEREZER - EFSRBERSZSENL
PR B RILLBY R RIS AEBERIEh SR E TRHERIERZ
b - RARREE B LETRABREEEFEEIA -

MELAe<2BE T (BEaRERE)ZE

gender diversity across the workforce (including senior management)
more challenging or less relevant. As at 31 December 2024, the Group
had 1,226 employees, of which 614 were male and 612 were female,
accounting for about 50.1% and 49.9% of all employees, respectively;
the Group had 3 senior management, of which 2 were male and 1 was
female, accounting for 66.7% and 33.3% of all senior management,
respectively. The details of gender diversity of all employees of the Group
are contained in the 2024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report
independently released by the Company.
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TEER®E (&)

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted the Director Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria and process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and appointment of Directors and
aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and the continuity
of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

° Skills, experience and professional expertise — the candidate
should possess the skills, knowledge, experience, qualification and
professional expertise which are relevant to the operation of the
Group.

° Diversity — the candidate should be considered with due regard to
the diversity perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy.

° Commitment — the candidate should be able to devote sufficient
time to attend the Board meetings and participate in induction
training and other relevant activities.

° Standing - the candidate must satisfy the Board and the Stock
Exchange that he/she has the character, experience and
integrity, and is able to demonstrate a standard of competence
commensurate with the relevant position as a Director.

° Independence - the candidate to be nominated as an independent
non-executive Director must satisfy the independence criteria set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the
selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at

general meetings.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in code
provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance with the Model Code and the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
(including environmental, social and governance risks) and internal
control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines in relation to, among others, corporate
governance, risk evaluation and management, anti-corruption, disclosure
of information, confidentiality and financial reporting in order to achieve
effective and efficient operations, reliable financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

All departments conducted internal control assessment regularly to
identify risks that potentially impact the business of the Group and various
aspects including key operational and financial processes, regulatory
compliance and information security. Self-evaluation has been conducted
annually to confirm that control policies are properly complied with by
each department.

TEER®E (&)

DREARA

EE2AARTEEERTANTRIKRYIE
A2 IRFTHEREE -

RBEHAR - EFZSCRHAARFLEER
BEEER  BEEREREEENEIIRE
BEXEE  ARRANREERERERDN
BREER  FETHNETER - UEAR
AEETEEERTANBERERAALEE
SRIE N

JeEL B T T % R P 42

ExemRHANRREE(BRHRE e
REVEER) RNEHERIRA AR - WBRE
BAZERZGNBERE - BARGEEEE
m3EHERARBEEM R B FMER - MAR
EERERNRERAKBRIELAEMN IR
HHRE

EEXg2HA B h RETER R AEK R
BERESEANEREEREE YR
SR R E N A A R B T e A B

BERZEEHESTEREEEERERK
FRet - BEREEREREE R AR

3t o

35

0

SERARERBEE - IENMBEHRER
BTERARRER - ARFIE HIEREA
ZEER(EREFB)LEEL  BRFER
B RES  BEEHN REMPBRE
R R E RS R IES

T BB P E B 1T A BRIEHIRT A - AR AT
RFEAEEXEBLBREZLERMBR
B EEARREMZE2EARZTEMNR
b o GEETERMNMG  UEESHIIZR
BTERHIER

HEEEERERAE —ZoHFER

69



70

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(CONTINUED)

The management, in coordination with department heads, assesses the
likelihood of risk occurrence, provides treatment plans, and monitors the
risk management progress, and reports to the Audit Committee and the
Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the systems.

In accordance with applicable laws and regulations, the Company has
followed internal guidelines to ensure that inside information is released
to the public in a fair and timely manner. The senior management of
the Group’s financial control functions are delegated the responsibility
to monitor and oversee compliance with appropriate procedures in
the disclosure of inside information. Only relevant senior management
is entitled to inside information on a “need-to-know” basis at all times.
Relevant personnel and other relevant professionals are required to
maintain the confidentiality of such inside information before it is publicly
disclosed. Other relevant procedures, such as pre-approval of trading
in the Company’s securities by Directors and designated members of
management and notification to Directors and employees of regular
blackout periods and restrictions on trading in securities, has been also
implemented to prevent possible improper handling of inside information
within the Group.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee on
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Board would review the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems at least once a year. The Board, as supported by the
Audit Committee as well as the management report and the internal audit
findings, reviewed the risk management and internal control systems,
including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for the
year ended 31 December 2024, and considered that such systems are
effective and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial
reporting and internal audit function and staff qualifications, experiences
and relevant resources.

The internal audit department of the Company is responsible for
performing independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems. The Internal Audit
Department examines key issues in relation to the accounting practices
and all material controls and provides its findings and recommendations
for improvement to the Audit Committee.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 100 to 109 of this annual report.

Where appropriate, a statement will be provided by the Audit Committee
explaining its recommendation regarding the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of external auditor and the reasons why the Board
has taken a different view from that of the Audit Committee.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external
auditor, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe”), in respect of audit services
and non-audit services during the year ended 31 December 2024 is set
out below:
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ng Sau Mei (fh75%%), the director of the listing services department
of TMF Hong Kong Limited (a company secretarial services provider),
serves as the company secretary of the Company. Her primary contact
person at the Company is Ms. Wu Guoging, the executive Director.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary on corporate governance and Board practices and matters.
Ms. Wu Guoging, the executive Director, would work and communicate
with Ms. Ng on the Company’s corporate governance and secretarial and
administrative matters.

During the Reporting Period, Ms. Ng has undertaken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with Shareholders through various communication
channels.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Director. All resolutions
put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting/Right to
Call an Extraordinary General Meeting

Shareholders may request the Company to convene an extraordinary
general meeting according to the provision as set out in the Articles of
Association and the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands. A copy of the
Articles of Association can be found on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website. The procedures for Shareholders to nominate
a person for election as a Director is available on the Company’s website
with title “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as
a Director of the Company”.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

The Company also adopted a set of procedures for putting forward
proposals by the Shareholders at general meetings.

Subject to the provisions of the Articles of Association, the Company
may from time to time at general meeting by ordinary resolution elect any
person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
Director.

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a Director for
election as a Director at a general meeting, he/she can deposit a written
notice to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
for the attention of the Board and the company secretary. The period for
lodgement of such written notice shall commence on the day after the
sending of the notice of general meeting and end no later than 7 days
prior to the date of such general meeting.

In order for the Company to inform Shareholders of that proposal,
the written notice must state the full name of the person proposed for
election as a Director, including the person’s biographical details as
required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and be signed by the
Shareholder concerned and that person indicating his/her willingness to
be elected.

In order to allow the Shareholders to have sufficient time to receive and
consider the proposal of election of the proposed person as a Director,
Shareholders are encouraged to submit and lodge the written notice as
early as practicable.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written requests to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the following:

Address: Company’s principal place of business in the PRC
Room 108, No. 45 Xinrong North Street, Xihongmen,
Daxing District, Beijing, PRC
(For the attention of the Board/Company Secretary)
Email: zhangchunying@hongkun.com.cn
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company’s website (www.hongkunwuye.com) provides
comprehensive and accessible news and information of the Company
to the Shareholders, other stakeholders and investors. The Company
will also update the website information from time to time to inform
Shareholders and investors of the latest development of the Company.

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and
in particular, through annual general meetings and other general
meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates
as appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

Changes in Constitutional Documents

There was no change in memorandum and articles of association of the
Company (the “M&A”) during the Reporting Period. The latest version
of the M&A is available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.

Policies Relating to Shareholders
Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has formulated a shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) to ensure that Shareholders’
views and concerns are appropriately addressed. During the Reporting
Period, the Company has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Shareholders’ Communication Policy and confirmed that it has
been effectively implemented.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
The Company does not assure that dividends will be paid in the future or as
to the timing of any dividends that may be paid in the future. The payment
and amounts of dividends, if paid, depend on the Company’s results
of operations, cash flows, financial position, statutory and regulatory
restrictions on the dividends paid by us, future prospects and other
factors which the Company considers relevant.

As at 31 December 2024, no arrangement was reached pursuant to which
the Shareholders waived or agreed to waive their dividends.
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Report of the Directors

The Board herein present its report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 110 of this annual report.

No final dividend was recommended by the Board for the year ended 31
December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business during the year, a discussion on
the prospect of the Group’s future business development, a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 13 to 14 and the
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 15 to 34 of this annual
report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
shown in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 13 to 14, Financial Highlights on pages 5 to 6 and Five-Year
Financial Summary on page 192 of this annual report.
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ExeHE(A)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

This section lists out the principal risks and uncertainties facing by
the Group. It is non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and
uncertainties further to the principal risk areas outlined below. Besides,
this annual report does not constitute a recommendation or an advice
for anyone to invest in the securities of the Company and investors are
advised to make their own judgment or consult their own investment
advisors before making any investment in the securities of the Company.

Government Policy Risk

The PRC government has implemented various measures to tighten the
sales and capital raising/debt issuance activities of property developers in
the PRC, which may have a negative impact on their financial position and
business operations. There is no assurance that the PRC government will
not introduce additional or other types of restrictive policies, regulations
or measures in the future that may affect the property development
market. The failure of the Parent Group to comply with such new policies,
regulations or measures may adversely affect its business, results of
operations and financial condition. As a result, the Group may not always
be able to obtain new property management engagements as planned or
on favorable terms, nor is it certain that any new property management
engagements will be obtained, which may have a material adverse effect
on the Group’s business, growth prospects, results of operations and
financial position.

The Group will keep abreast of the latest regulatory changes in the
real estate development industry (through government websites and
participation in relevant industry seminars) and will communicate with the
Parent Group. The project development plan will be modified accordingly
to respond to new or changed regulations.

The Company will continue to adopt the strategy of expanding its property
management portfolio and focus its marketing strategy on expanding the
Group’s geographical footprint and operations to broaden the Group’s
revenue stream. By adopting this strategy, the Group can ensure stable
property management revenues, thereby minimizing the impact of the
Parent Group.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

Risk of Economic Volatility

Any downturn in the local and global economy or any adverse change in
market conditions will reduce overall business and consumer confidence.
This will adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition,
operations or growth prospects. In particular, the economic instability and
volatile political environment in China caused by the China-United States
trade war and the novel coronavirus may reduce consumers’ spending
power, which in turn may lead to a decline in property sales and affect
revenue from property management services. As a result, the Company’s
growth and profitability may be adversely affected.

The Company will continue to adopt the strategy of expanding its property
management portfolio and focus its marketing strategy on expanding the
Group’s geographical footprint and operations to broaden the Group’s
revenue stream. By adopting this strategy, the Group can ensure stable
property management revenues, thereby minimizing the impact of market
downturns. In particular, the Company has developed a development
plan, which was reviewed and approved by authorized management.
The program focuses on sending a dedicated team to participate in
tenders held by various property developers, and the Company’s sales
and marketing teams oversee and track the program on a monthly
basis. In addition, the Group has maintained an acceptable level of
liquidity to mitigate the risks associated with cyclical downturns due to
rapid changes in market conditions. Management reviews the cash flow
statement and cash flow forecasts on a monthly basis to mitigate the risk
of a cyclical downturn due to rapid changes in market conditions.
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ExeHE(A)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

Third Party Risk

The Group relies on subcontractors to provide certain property
management services to its customers and the Group may be liable
for disputes and claims arising out of or in connection with the services
provided by the subcontractors.

For subcontractor projects where the contract amount exceeds a certain
amount, the Group centralizes the tendering process. In selecting
subcontractors, the Company will consider not only the subcontractors’
quotes, but also their past performance, if any, to ensure that the
appointed subcontractor can provide a reasonable quality of work.
In addition, the terms of the contract provide for the protection of the
Company from substandard work quality and delayed completion. All
contracts are reviewed to ensure that the terms and conditions are fair
to the Company. Finally, the Company conducts regular performance
evaluations of subcontractors (e.g., their expertise and suitability).
If the subcontractor’s performance evaluation is unacceptable, the
subcontractor’s bid will be suspended.

Industry Competition Risk

Competition in the property management industry in China is fierce and
there are many competitors. Competition in the industry may become
more intense if new competitors entering the market continue to increase,
or if the Group’s competitors increase the diversity of products they offer
to capture emerging opportunities. The Group’s competitors may have
competitive advantages over the Group, such as a longer operating
history, stronger business relationships with customers, suppliers and
subcontractors, stronger financial, technical and other resources and a
broader geographic footprint in China.

The Group has established a precise positioning: according to the
customer research report, it has set a reasonable definition of the property
management project’s business model, price, cost, removal rate and
rhythm, and has set up countermeasures in advance to sort out the full
project cycle risks. At the same time, the Group strategically conspires
with regional companies to adopt differentiated competitive strategies to
avoid or reduce competition.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

As a socially responsible corporation, the Group has endeavoured
to strictly comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection.

The Company recognises the importance of environmental protection. The
Company is committed to providing an eco-friendly energy environment
for our staff and has developed energy conservation and carbon
reduction policy so as to minimize negative environmental impacts.

The Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report for 2024 will
be published at the same time as the publication of this annual report on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in compliance with
the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Reporting Period, save as otherwise disclosed in this annual
report, and as far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by our Group
that has a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We fully understand that employees, customers and suppliers and other
persons (together “Stakeholders”) are the key to our sustainable and
stable development. We are committed to maintaining a good relationship
with our Stakeholders so as to ensure our continuing development.

The Group regards our staff as the most valuable assets of the Company.
The Group provides a fair and harmonious workplace where individuals
with diverse cultural backgrounds are treated equally. The Group offers
a reasonable remuneration package and fair opportunities for career
advancement based on employees’ performance. The Group also
provides our staff with different trainings, including on-the-job training
and training courses provided by professional organisations in order to
enhance our staffs’ career progression.

The Group believes that our suppliers (including subcontractors)
are equally important in building high-quality property projects. We
proactively communicate with our suppliers to ensure they are committed
to delivering high-quality and sustainable output.
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ExeHE(A)

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for each
of the last five financial years is set out in the Five-Year Financial Summary
on page 192 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the Reporting Period.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale of
treasury Shares (as defined under the Listing Rules), if any) during the
Reporting Period. As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not hold
any treasury Shares.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 113 to 114 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, details of the reserves available for distribution
of the Company are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 5.0% of the total sales of the Group for the year,
the sales from the largest customer, accounted for less than 3.0% of
the total sales of the Group for the year. Purchases from the five largest
suppliers accounted for less than 20.0% of the Group’s total purchases
for the year, the purchase from the largest supplier accounted for less
than 10.0% of the Group’s total purchase for the year. To the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, except for Hongkun Group, all of the five largest
customers are Independent Third Parties, and none of the Directors, their
associates or any Shareholder (who, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owned 5% or more of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
any of the five largest customers during the Reporting Period. The Group
did not have any major customers who were also the suppliers. To the
best of the Directors’ knowledge, all of the five largest suppliers are
Independent Third Parties, and none of the Directors, their associates or
any Shareholder (who, to the knowledge of Directors, owned more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in any of the five largest
suppliers during the Reporting Period.

BANK BORROWING

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no outstanding bank borrowing.
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ExeHE(A)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 54 to
74 of this annual report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the qualification as Shareholders to attend
and vote at the AGM to be held on 30 May 2025, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 27 May 2025 to Friday, 30
May 2025, both days inclusive. In order to be eligible to attend and vote
at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong,
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 26 May 2025, being the last share
registration date.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Weihao

Ms. Wu Guoqing (Chairman)
Ms. Li Yin Ping

Ms. Zhang Chunying

Non-executive Director
Mr. Li Yifan
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat
Ms. Chen Weijie

Mr. Leung Ka Wo

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
all independent non-executive Directors, and considers them to be still
independent as at the date of this annual report.

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the
meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat.

In addition, in accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association,
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, Ms. Wu Guoging, Mr. Cheung Wai Hung and Ms. Chen
Weijie shall retire by rotation at the AGM and they being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in the
circular which will be sent to the Shareholders in due course.
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CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Ms. Chen Weijie, an independent non-executive Director, resigned as an
independent non-executive director of Amrita Global Development Limited
(formerly known as Tianyun International Holdings Limited) (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, and was delisted on 9 January 2025, stock
code: 6836) on 6 January 2025. In addition, since September 2024, Ms.
Chen Weijie has served as an independent non-executive director of IDT
International Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 167).

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors confirm that no other
information is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the existing Directors are set out on pages 35 to
44 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

Promoting good corporate governance and managing enterprise wide
risk is a priority of the Company. The Company believes that corporate
governance and directors and officers liability insurance (the “D&O
Insurance”) complement each other. The Company has arranged
appropriate D&O Insurance coverage on Directors’ and officers’ liabilities
in respect of legal actions against Directors and senior management
arising out from corporate activities. The D&O Insurance will be reviewed
and renewed annually.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company. The terms and conditions of each of such service contracts
are similar in all material respects. The service contracts are initially for a
fixed term of three years commencing from their respective appointment
dates and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less than one
month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other, which notice
shall not expire until after initial fixed term.

The non-executive Director has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for a fixed term of three years commencing from his
appointment date and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less
than one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other,
which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter
of appointment with the Company for a term of one year commencing
from their respective appointment dates, which may be terminated by not
less than 7 days’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Save as disclosed above, no other Director have entered into service
contract or letter of appointment with the Company which is not
determined by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Other than as disclosed in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance,
to which the Company, its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, was a
party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
Reporting Period.

There are no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
to the business of the Group between the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the Reporting Period. During the Reporting Period,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance for the
provision of services to the Group by a controlling shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries were made.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that the Directors shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty in their
respective offices, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any
matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any
Director.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has taken out and maintained appropriate insurance to protect
the Directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims
brought against the Directors.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had been notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
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EEpnE ERME RO EE (L) BRFERE D
Mr. Zhao Weihao Interest held jointly with another person; 237,780,000 58.67%

interest in a controlled corporation™ee2
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Ms. Li Yin Ping Interest in a controlled corporation™ete3 44,370,000 10.95%
E=-3 Jetn NS NE L
Notes: Kz
1. The letter “L” denotes the long position in our Shares. 1o FRILBERARBIRDITR
2. Ascendor Futur Holding Limited (“Ascendor Futur”) directly holds 2. RBESERARAFR([BRE®)EERS

237,780,000 Shares. Ascendor Futur is wholly and beneficially owned by
Will Full Holdings Limited (“Will Full”), which is in turn beneficially owned
by Mr. Zhao Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin as to 98.62%, 1.00%
and 0.38%, respectively. Mr. Zhao Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao
Bin together indirectly control all Shares held by Ascendor Futur. Mr. Zhao
Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin are parties acting in concert
pursuant to the Deed of Acting in Concert. By virtue of the SFO, each of
Will Full, Mr. Zhao Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin is deemed to
be interested in the same number of Shares in which Ascendor Futur is
interested.

3" Winz Strategy Company Limited (“Winz Strategy”) directly holds 44,370,000
Shares. Winz Strategy is wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Li Yin Ping.
By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Li Yin Ping is deemed to be interested in the same
number of Shares in which Winz Strategy is interested.
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ExeHE(A)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

Interests in associated corporation of our Company

EEREBRTHRASRKRS - HE
ROREEETFEANERR KR
(&)

JiSZNNECILIEL D7 S IS

/

Approximate

Name of associated Number of percentage of
Name of Director corporation Nature of interest share held (L)’ shareholding
BEgE MEEEE S ERME FreERR 7 8B (L) BARRBE D
Mr. Zhao Weihao Ascendor Futur Interest held jointly with 1 100%

another person; interest in
a controlled
corporationite?

B fth A FLRIFFE MR
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Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the long position in the share.

2. Ascendor Futur is wholly and beneficially owned by Will Full, which is in turn
beneficially owned by Mr. Zhao Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin as
t0 98.62%, 1.00% and 0.38%, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) that were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or as recorded in the register
which was required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

None of the Directors or their spouses or children under the age of 18
had been granted any right to subscribe for the shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations, or had exercised any
such right during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

In order to eliminate competing business with the Group, on 23 July 2019,
Beijing Herun entered into a deed of non-competition with the Company
(the “Deed”).

In compliance with the Deed, Beijing Herun has made an annual
declaration on their compliance with the non-competition undertaking.

As of the date of this annual report, the Company is not aware of any
other matters regarding the compliance of the undertakings in the Deed
that are required to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors had an interest in any
business which competes or may compete with the business in which the
Group is engaged in.

GROUP’S EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company’s policy on determining the emolument payable to
Directors is based on the skill, knowledge, involvement in the Company’s
affairs and the performance of individual Director, together with reference
to the profitability of the Company, remuneration benchmarks in the
industry, and prevailing market conditions. To enable the Remuneration
Committee to give better advice on the Group’s future remuneration policy
and related strategies, the Remuneration Committee has been advised
of the Group’s existing remuneration policy and succession plan, such
as guidelines on for determining employees’ remuneration packages and
related market trends and information.

The details of the Directors’ emoluments and senior management’s
remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 10
to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES
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As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons and entities, not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company, had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

Number of

Name of Shareholder  Nature of interest Shares held (L)"°e’

BREEEB RS RO EE (L) Ao

Ascendor Futur Beneficial owner'ee2 237,780,000 58.67%

B B2 A2

Will Full Interest in a controlled corporation™ee2 237,780,000 58.67%

(3 REVEEE a2

Ms. Wu Hong Interest held jointly with another person; interest 237,780,000 58.67%
in a controlled corporation™ete2

RiT &+ Bifth A R B - RN IEAE R

Mr. Zhao Bin Interest held jointly with another person; interest 237,780,000 58.67%
in a controlled corporation™ete2

M Bifth A HFEFEE B - NI AR

Ms. Wang Qian Interest of spouse™ed 237,780,000 58.67%

FHERL P (B 4 w00

Winz Strategy Beneficial ownerhee4 44,370,000 10.95%

Bl Bl a N

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Report of the Directors (Continued)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (CONTINUED)

Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes the long position in our Shares.

2. Ascendor Futur directly holds 237,780,000 Shares. Ascendor Futur is wholly
and beneficially by Will Full, which is in turn beneficially owned by Mr. Zhao
Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin as to 98.62%, 1.00% and 0.38%,
respectively. Mr. Zhao Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin together
indirectly control all Shares held by Ascendor Futur. Mr. Zhao Weihao, Ms.
Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin are parties acting in concert pursuant to the
Deed of Acting in Concert. By virtue of the SFO, each of Will Full, Mr. Zhao
Weihao, Ms. Wu Hong and Mr. Zhao Bin is deemed to be interested in the
same number of Shares in which Ascendor Futur is interested.

Mr. Zhao Weihao established a discretionary family trust (the “Family Trust”)
as settlor for the benefit of himself and Exclusive Summit Limited, which
is wholly owned by him. On 23 April 2021, the Company was informed by
Mr. Zhao Weihao of the completion of the Family Trust arrangement, which
comprises: (i) the transfer of the entire issued shares of HK Alpha Base
Holdings Limited (“HK Alpha Base”) from Mr. Zhao Weihao to Hongkun
Alpha Investment Limited (“Hongkun Alpha SPV”) (which is held by J.P.
Morgan Trust Company (Bahamas) Limited (“J.P. Morgan Trustee”) in its
capacity as the trustee of the Family Trust); and (ii) the issuance of non-
voting shares by Ascendor Futur to HK Alpha Base, after which, Ascendor
Futur is held as to 99.00% by HK Alpha Base and 1.00% by Will Full.

For the avoidance of doubt, J.P. Morgan Trustee (or other vehicles set up
underneath it for the purpose of the Family Trust, including Hongkun Alpha
SPV and HK Alpha Base) will not control Ascendor Futur since all shares
issued by Ascendor Futur to HK Alpha Base are non-voting in nature. Mr.
Zhao Weihao (in his own capacity and through the Family Trust), Mr. Wu
Hong, Mr. Zhao Bin, Will Full and Ascendor Futur remain as the controlling
shareholders of the Company. Please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 23 April 2021 for further details.

3" Ms. Wang Qian is the spouse of Mr. Zhao Weihao. Ms. Wang Qian is deemed
to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Zhao Weihao is
interested by virtue of the SFO.

4. Winz Strategy is wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Li Yin Ping. By virtue
of the SFO, Ms. Li Yin Ping is deemed to be interested in the same number
of Shares in which Winz Strategy is interested.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ExeHE(A)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES (CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors were
not aware of any persons (other than the Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Purpose and participants of the Share Option Scheme

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share Option Scheme”)
was approved and adopted by the Board on 17 February 2020. The
purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable our Company to grant
options to any employee, adviser, consultant, service provider, agent,
client, partner or joint-venture partner of our Company or any of our
subsidiaries (including any Director or any director of our subsidiaries)
who is in full-time or part-time employment with or otherwise engaged by
our Company or any subsidiary at the time when an option is granted to
such person under the Share Option Scheme or any person who, in the
absolute discretion of the Board, has contributed or may contribute to our
Group (the “Eligible Participants”) to subscribe for the Shares thereby
linking their interest with that of our Group.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
Grant and acceptance of options

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, our Directors may, in
their absolute discretion make offer to the Eligible Participants. An offer
shall be made to an Eligible Participant in writing in such form as our
Directors may from time to time determine and shall remain open for
acceptance by the Eligible Participant concerned for a period of 21 days
from the date upon which it is made provided that no such offer shall be
open for acceptance after the 10th anniversary of the adoption date of the
Share Option Scheme or the termination of the same.

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted by an Eligible
Participant concerned in respect of all Shares which are offered to such
Eligible Participant when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance
of the offer duly signed by the Eligible Participant, together with a non-
refundable remittance in favour of our Company of HK$1.0 by way of
consideration for the grant thereof is received by our Company within
such time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not be later than
21 days from, and inclusive of, the date of offer).

Any offer may be accepted by an Eligible Participant in respect of less
than the total number of Shares which are offered provided that it is
accepted in respect of a board lot for dealing in Shares on the Stock
Exchange or an integral multiple thereof.

Subscription price of Shares

The subscription price of Shares under the Share Option Scheme shall be
determined at the discretion of our Directors but in any event will not be
less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange as shown in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the offer date of the particular option, which must be a business day; (b)
the average closing price of the Shares as shown in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date of that particular option; and (c) the nominal
value of a Share on the offer date of the particular option.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ExeHE(A)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted at any time under the Share Option Scheme together with options
which may be granted under any other share option schemes for the time
being of our Group shall not exceed 40,000,000 Shares, which represent
10% of the issued Shares as at the Listing Date. Our Company may seek
approval from the Shareholders at general meeting to refresh the 10%
limit provided that the total number of Shares available for issue under
options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of our Group in these circumstances must not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of our Company as at the date of
approval of refreshing of the limit. The limit on the number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other options
granted and yet to be exercised under any other share option schemes of
the Group must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. As
at the date of this annual report, the total number of Shares available for
issue under the Share Option Scheme is 40,000,000 Shares, representing
approximately 9.87% of the issued Shares (excluding treasury Shares) as
at the date of this annual report.

Unless approved by our Shareholders in the manner set out below,
the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each grantee (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of
the Shares in issue. Where any further grant of options to an Eligible
Participant would result in the Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such person (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month period up
to and including the date of such further grant representing in aggregate
over 1% of the Shares in issue, such further grant must be separately
approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such Eligible
Participant and his close associates (or his associates if the Eligible
Participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
Exercise of options

An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be
determined and identified by the Board to each grantee at the time of
making an offer for the grant of an option, but in any event no later than
10 years from the date of grant.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, an option shall be
exercisable in whole or in part in the circumstances by giving notice in
writing by the grantee to our Company stating that the option is thereby
exercised and the number of Shares in respect of which it is so exercised.
Each such notice must be accompanied by a non-refundable remittance
for the full amount of the subscription price for Shares in respect of which
the notice is given. Within 21 days after receipt of the notice and, where
appropriate, receipt of the auditor’s or the independent financial adviser’s
certificate, our Company shall accordingly allot the relevant number of
Shares to the grantee (or his legal personal representative) credited as
fully paid. Though there is no specified minimum period under the Share
Option Scheme for which an option must be held or the performance
target which must be achieved before an option can be exercised under
the terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme, our Directors
may make such grant of options, subject to such terms and conditions
in relation to the minimum period of such options to be held and/or the
performance targets to be achieved as our Directors may determine in
their absolute discretion.

Duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing from 17 February 2020 and the remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme as at the date of this annual report is around 4
years and 10 months.

Movements in the Share Option Scheme

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to 31 December
2024, no options had been granted or agreed to be granted, and thus no
options had been exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option
Scheme. As a result, the total number of options available for grant under
the Share Option Scheme as at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024,
respectively, was 40,000,000.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ExeHE(A)

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Board, the Board confirms that the Company
has maintained the public float as required by the Listing Rules as at the
date of annual report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The (i) royalty-free use of trademarks; (ii) royalty-free use of software
copyright; (iii) provision of property management, property developer
related and value-added services constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company.

Royalty-free use of trademarks and royalty-free use of software copyright
were within the de minimis threshold provided under Rule 14A.76 of
the Listing Rules and were exempt from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

On 25 February 2020, we entered into a master services agreement
(the “Master Services Agreement”) with Beijing Herun, in relation to
our continuing provision of property management, property developer
related and value-added services (the “Parent Group Services”) to
Parent Group with term from the Listing Date to 31 December 2022. On 5
December 2022, we entered into a new master services agreement (the
“New Master Services Agreement”) with Beijing Herun and Hongkun
Weiye, in relation to our continuing provision of Parent Group Services to
the Parent Group with term from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.
The annual caps under the New Master Services Agreement for the three
financial years ended/ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 are
RMBA45.0 million, respectively. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
transaction amount of the New Master Services Agreement was RMB8.4
million.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 5 December
2022 and 19 January 2023 and the circular of the Company dated 4
January 2023 for further details.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by
the independent non-executive Directors. The independent non-executive
Directors confirmed that the aforesaid continuing connected transactions
were entered into:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

either on normal commercial terms, or on terms no less favourable
to the Group than terms available to or from Independent Third
Parties; and

according to the agreements governing them on terms that were fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has performed certain predetermined
procedures and reported its findings regarding the continuing connected
transactions of the Group set out above for the year ended 31 December
2024 and stated that:

(1)

nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the above continuing connected transactions have not been
approved by the Board;

for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Company;

nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and

with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions set out above, nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that the above continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the annual cap as set by
the Company.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ExeHE(A)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

The auditor of the Company was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor of
the Company has issued its unqualified letter containing its findings and
confirmed the matters set out in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

In prior years, the Group had made the Refundable Deposits under the
Agency Services Agreements and certain payments as non-refundable
deposits to connected persons of the Company in relation to the
property developer-related services rendered under the Master Services
Agreement. These deposits constitute notifiable transactions and/or
connected transactions of the Company, and would be subject to the
relevant requirements under Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules.
In addition, during the Reporting Period, the Acquisition constitute a
notifiable transaction and connected transaction and were subject to the
relevant requirements under Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules.
Further announcement will be made by the Company in relation to the
aforesaid according to the Listing Rules (if required).

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the related-party
transactions or continuing related-party transactions set out in note 30 to
the consolidated financial statements fall within the scope of discloseable
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under the
Listing Rules. The connected transaction and continuing connected
transactions of the Group are in compliance with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, comprising Mr. Chan Cheong Tat as chairman
as well as Mr. Cheung Wai Hung, Ms. Chen Weijie and Mr. Leung Ka
Wo as members, has reviewed, together with the participation of the
management, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed auditing and financial reporting matters including
the review of the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no other significant events affecting the Group after 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

There has been no change in the auditor of the Company in the preceding
three years.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 have been
audited by Crowe. It is the auditor’s responsibility to form an independent
opinion, based on its audit, on those financial statements and to report
their opinion solely to the Company and for no other purpose. They do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of the independent auditor’s report.

Crowe will retire as auditor of the Company and, being eligible, will offer
itself for re-appointment at the AGM.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 100 to 109 of this annual report.

By order of the Board

Ye Xing Group Holding Limited
Wu Guoging

Chairman and executive Director
27 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
1 3 A% BLAD ¥R

Crowe

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YE XING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
BEEEBZERERAT

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ye Xing Group
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 110 to 191, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

B AR E (E

REEITER

Key audit matters are the matters that, in our professional judgment, was BREFFEHESBBERMNEXHE - BB

of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements HABMGEMBREANEAZREENS
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 1B GLEEBERERMBAEBRSMBR
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming KRLAZRRETEEDN - RN Tea
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these LETERMHEFNER -

matters.

Key audit matters

BRETSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RN ESTNAEREBRENSE

Impairment of trade and other receivables and amounts due from related parties

B 5 R E M JER TR R JEW B2 77 50 R B

We identified impairment of trade and other receivables and
amounts due from related parties as a key audit matter due to
the significance of these balances to the consolidated financial
statements and the involvement of subjective judgment and
estimates made by the directors of the Company in determining
the expected credit loss (“ECL”) for these balances.

R E 5 I H & WK IE K [l U5 B 32 77 TR 1B /) 45 SR ST AR & I TS 3R
RNWERME - AR BERAFEFEETZFAERNENEERE
([AREEEE DR REHHE R - Bt - ZAIEES R
L Ath R W R e U T IR (B v e R BRSR ERAt EIE o

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)
and amounts due from related parties were approximately
RMB128,607,000 (net of allowance for credit loss of
approximately RMB33,872,000) and RMB22,277,000 (net of
allowance for credit loss of approximately RMB96,107,000),
respectively, as set out in notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated
financial statements, which represented approximately 30.5%
and 5.3% of total assets of the Group.
RZZ_WHE+-A=+—H  EXEENEZIEKFIECTE
FBRNFIE) REWEERBSRENEESES O RARE
128,607,000 T (EHIKRE E BB R HA AR 33,872,0007T) K&
AR¥T22,277,0007 (2 HkR E BB EEHHLI AR %96,107,000
TT)  WERE SRR 0M21 T - ARtk EREREE
#%930.5% 5%5.3% ©

The directors of the Company assessed the impairment of trade
and other receivables and amounts due from related parties
based on valuation performed by an independent professional
valuer (the “Valuer”).
NAESRBBE L ZEGERM ([ EEDETHME  FETE
5 FEMSCRRORD L At FE SRR A T2 FE LA 38 75 SR IE D URLE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment of trade
and other receivables and amounts due from related
parties included:

BB 5 I H e F I8 K FE IR B s&E 5 RIBR(E A B HY
BFeE

° Obtaining an understanding of the ECL model
applied by the directors of the Company for the
estimation of the impairment of trade and other
receivables and amounts due from related parties;
B N B2 2E M 5T 5 5 0 EL b 8 WURR A K2 R
7 EWFIERENTEREEBEER

° Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer;

L ERTR B - e RFEIL

° Understanding and challenging the Valuer’s
valuation methodology, significant assumptions
adopted and significant unobservable inputs used
in the valuation;

BN E R ERMNEERE  RANEZERERMA
RGERERANEZ A EARA

° Testing the mathematical accuracy of the
calculation of ECL, on a sample basis; and
EMEER DR AMEEBRTEN BB ER
MRk

° Evaluating the disclosures regarding the
impairment of trade and other receivables and
amounts due from related parties in notes 20 and
21 to the consolidated financial statements.
FEhAR S B TS AR £ 20021 R BAR B 5 F1H fh g
WERREYRUBE A K B 77 e M SR I R R B o
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B XBERE (F

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

REETEE(E)

Key audit matters

FARETSEHR

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BN ETNAEREBRENSEE

Impairment of trade and other receivables and amounts due from related parties (continued)

B2 REMEWH TR ERFFET KB E ()

Impairment of trade receivables was made using simplified
approach under Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard
(“HKFRS”) 9. Except for amounts due from related parties and
customers which have been identified as credit impaired, the
management used provision matrix under simplified approach to
assess impairment. The provision rates are based on groupings
of various debtors by their ageing, which are considered
of similar loss patterns, and taken into consideration of the
historical default rates and the forward-looking information. For
impairment of amounts due from related parties and customers
which have been identified as credit impaired, the management
considered the specific factors, such as the creditworthiness of
the debtors, the ageing of the balances and the forward-looking
information.

B 5 RYGRHDRERE BB MBI E LR FIRERA B A
17 - REWEEFRERERRREARENT I BEBER
FREHE AT H BB R R (R (E - BEEERTREAN
fRirDH - ZRBONBRER  UERELEHEMAIELE
oo BREER FENREREERRERRENES  EEE
ZRTEABEZR  WEBANGAE - SRENRKRARIEER -

For other receivables, impairment was made using general
approach under HKFRS 9. Under the general approach,
management used estimations and judgments to estimate
default rates and loss rates under different stages by making
reference to the credit rating and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors.

R E MBI - IRREBV B mE LR FEIFTH — MR AR
B-HE—RTET  EEEBB2EGEAIANEZBLERRN
AIREIEERN - A MLETARIE RSt IR RAELRFIBLE -

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

For trade receivables which are assessed using
simplified approach under HKFRS 9, with the assistance
of our valuation specialists where appropriate:

YR RIB R B B ImE A% TR 8 A TR
WE SRUGK - ERMOEEERNHE T (WEA) - &K
13

° Assessing the reasonableness of the grouping
used by management by evaluating the credit risk
characteristics of these receivables;

BB EKRNERRRSE - FHHEEE
RS ENEIEMN

° Obtaining and testing the ageing analysis of
the trade receivables, on a sample basis, to the
underlying financial records;

BEIAIHE ZRKRNBERONE - UEARE
% B SRR ERETT AT

o Evaluating the appropriateness of historical period
selection and evaluated the reliability of the key
data input to calculate historical default rate,
including historical credit loss experience and
current status of each portfolio, trade receivables
lifetime recovery information and other relevant
data; and
FMEES EBREENEE N YAEARHERES
BOENBARENB AN BEERERE
KIEBAGEREEEOERNRE - EHRKF K
HEIWERMEMERER : &

° Evaluating whether the historical loss rates are
appropriately adjusted based on current economic
condition and forward-looking information such as
macroeconomic factors.

FHHIE B R EERIRIRE A MR B
HEFREMEFET TESRHE -



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

B AR E ()

ERETEE(E)

Key audit matters

FARETSEHR

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BN ETNAEREBRENSEE

Impairment of trade and other receivables and amounts due from related parties (continued)

B 5 RE MW IR L EWTE S 3R B (&)

For other receivables using general approach under
HKFRS 9, with the assistance of our valuation specialists
where appropriate:

HRBEEBMBRELER RN T — R EEITHE
Hi W ARMANGEEROBE T (WEA) - &

Assessing the reasonableness and
appropriateness of the management’s judgments
on classification into one of the three stages
required by HKFRS 9 by challenging the criteria
for determining if a significant increase in credit
risk has occurred (stage 2) or if the receivable
is credit-impaired (stage 3) by examining the
relevant supporting documents or information on a
sample basis to evaluate if there has been timely
identification and consideration of changes in
credit risk; and
BBE T ERRREREEEIN(FLEER)E
WERFE R B A EARE(EIER)WIRE - FHEE
i%%’i“iﬁi%@?“%ﬁﬁ‘*i& HRANFFEER =1E
MRz —HHETR S B EMEE 1+ - BBERE
IHFE A B METIERED RNHFIMERET
EERRNEY &

Evaluating the appropriateness of inputs and
assumptions applied in the determination of
impairment, including staging classification,
probability of default, loss given default, exposure
at default and forward-looking information.
.%15%EAﬁErE/EMEE’J%u)\WEP“EﬁL " BRES

SRR EAOBE  ZHEK - BHRBRAATEL
ﬁ%ﬂ c
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B AR E ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

REETEE(E)

Key audit matters

FARETSEHR

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BN ETNAEREBRENSEE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BE R VL ER G B EHE

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of goodwill
amounted to RMB29,709,000, which was mainly resulted from
the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Jiangsu Wanhao
Property Management Co., Ltd. in 2021. Management had
to perform impairment assessment of goodwill annually in
accordance with HKAS 36.

BHE_Z_WFE+_HA=+—8H" FﬁEMEEFTE%AE%
29,709,000t - B-_E - —FURBIHSZWERBERR
100%MRIEFTE - BEIRENERBEDEE ﬁﬁﬂ‘J%%%}ﬁi‘%ﬁéﬁ%
HEITRIERE ©

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill as a key
audit matter due to the directors’ impairment assessment of
goodwill based on the ‘value in use’ of the Group’s underlying
cash generating unit (“CGU”) that involves judgements and
estimates about the future results of the business, and key
assumptions including revenue growth rate, long-term growth
rate and the discount rate applied to future cash forecast.
BB REN AT A —ARREAFE  BRAEFSRE
SEEARReEFET((REELER DN EREE HEEE
TTRERHE - 2P R AR R EB AR AENEE - U RB
FBRALEEZEANBRER  RAEREMNER T ARKREE
BIEVRLIR & -
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Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment included:

MR AR EF AN EIZF B

° Discussing with the management to understand
the management process in impairment
assessment of goodwill and the key estimations
made by the management in the impairment
assessment of goodwill including growth rates in
revenue, estimated profit before tax and pre-tax
discount rates;

HETRE R - AR EEREN AN EIRRIZN
RERBEREBRET AR MY ERE - 215
WABRE - (EEHBATAEMB AR X

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the growth
rates in revenue and estimated profit before tax,
with reference to current financial position and
historical financial performance;

ZIRE R BARNME LI %G - HERAER
ﬁﬂlﬁipﬁﬁﬁl MENAIRMN

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the financial
forecasts approved by the management by
comparing the actual results of the CGU to
the previously forecasted results used in the
impairment assessment of goodwill;
AAKReEFBUNERERDRETERNL
RITEDRIAS RETTEL B - AEAR B IR E LA 10 B B 788
AN ;



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BB RS ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BREEEE(E)
Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
BERENER RMNETNAEIERREETEE

Impairment assessment of gooadwill (continued)

B R AR & EE R AR R B AT ()

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the sensitivity
analysis performed by management on the
key assumptions to understand the impact of
reasonable changes in assumptions on the
recoverable amount;
AEEREEHARERETHERESTHNEE
M ABRRRER A SRS PR SN E

o Checking the mathematical accuracy of the VIU
calculations, on a sample basis; and
MR ER Fea G REETENEEERIL
&

° Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures related to goodwill impairment
assessment in notes to the consolidated financial

statements.
FHE RSB A O B 75 MR T S B R R (BT
RN BEN T -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B XBERE (F

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BB RS ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2025

Tsui Kar Lam Karen
Practising Certificate Number: P06426
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

mERaRkHEMEEIER

For the Year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-mE R
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE AR¥TFT AREFT
Revenue &= 6 377,314 341,405
Cost of services BRAEAC AN (296,015) (279,712)
Gross profit EX 81,299 61,693
Other income EAlA 7(a) 1,486 2,137
Other losses, net HAtFEE 7(b) (139) (59)
Administrative expenses TE R (47,440) (49,332)
Impairment loss of trade and other B 5 K E M WG IB R E B 1A
receivables, net HE 8 (20,278) (5,775)
Impairment loss of amounts due from FEN B R EE R FE
related parties, net 8 (38,635) (18,893)
Selling expenses HERX (2,851) (3,818)
Provision of onerous contract BRI S B 25 (1,461) =
Interests on lease liabilities HEABEZFE (6) (8)
Loss before tax BRAR AT E1E 11 (28,025) (14,055)
Income tax credit FriSfiE e 9 6,431 309
Loss and total comprehensive loss for FEBEREAEEERE
the year (21,594) (13,746)
Loss and total comprehensive TIEEFEBEREEER
loss for the year attributable to: FEE
— Owners of the Company R VNEIE =N (21,965) (14,048)
— Non-controlling interests — IR 37 302
(21,594) (13,746)
Loss per share (RMB cent) BREBALEES)
- Basic —HARK 12 (5.42) (3.47)

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

E MR R R

As at 31 December 2024
RZZE-NFE+=-A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Hia AR¥FT AR¥TFor
NON-CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE REAE 14 33,722 37,238
Intangible assets mEE 15 10,032 12,643
Deferred tax assets BETRIEEE 16 34,354 19,298
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 34,744 37,296
Goodwill RS 18 29,709 29,709
142,561 136,184
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties held for sale BEGEEE 19 7,363 5,338
Trade and other receivables B 5 kHEAMER A 20 133,451 95,086
Amounts due from related parties JE Y & 5 R OA 21 22,277 61,585
Tax recoverable a] Y o 18 = 1,201
Bank balances and cash RITHEB KRR 22 116,694 140,090
279,785 303,300
CURRENT LIABILITIES b b=k
Trade and other payables B 5 R HMFERFRIR 23(a) 115,082 115,645
Contract liabilities AHERE 23(b) 79,577 80,834
Lease liabilities HEaR’ 24 67 59
Provisions BE 25 1,461 -
Tax liabilities HEEaRE 9,599 3,965
205,786 200,503
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 73,999 102,797
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERARBAG
LIABILITIES 216,560 238,981
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEafl 24 - 71
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEEE 16 2,508 3,036
2,508 3,107
NET ASSETS BFEE 214,052 235,874

HEEEERERAE —ZoHFER
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)
RE TR R (&)

As at 31 December 2024
RZEZNE+=A=+—H

2024 2023
—EomE —To=F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
et AR¥TFT AREFT
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR#E
Share capital [N 26 3,650 3,650
Reserves ffEH 209,217 231,268
Total equity attributable to owners of the SEBNALNGHEAE AiERS
Company 212,867 234,918
Non-controlling interests DB R 1,185 956
TOTAL EQUITY HRERS 214,052 235,874
The consolidated financial statements on pages 110 to 191 were FN0EZEF1NBENGEMBHRELCETS
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 March RZTZMF=A =+t BIEREETIE
2024 and are signed on its behalf by: AR TESREREE
ZHAO WEIHAO # &% WU GUOQING % B
DIRECTOR E % DIRECTOR %
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

e

<BE*

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NWFE+-_A=1+—HILFEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RDAHE AR
Retained
profits/ Non-
Share Share Statutory Capital (Accumulated controlling
capital Premium reserve reserve losses) Subtotal interests Total
RERR/
S RpEE EER Bt (RiHER) Nt FERER @it
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ANRETT  AREFT AREFT  AREFT  AREFT  AREFT AREFT  AREFT
(Note a) (Note b)
(Wiita) (Hitb)
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=%-F-A 3,650 179,495 22,757 (15,725) 21,943 212,120 654 212,774
Capital contribution from the AR FIERARRR
controlling shareholder of the HE
Company - - - 36,846 - 36,846 - 36,846
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ FEBERZE
for the year BEeE - - = = (14,048) (14,048) 302 (13,746)
Transfer to statutory reserve ERTETE - = 620 = (620) = = =
At 31 December 2023 and WZZZ=F
1 January 2024 TZA=+-ARk
—Z-mE-A-A 3,650 179,495 23377 21121 7275 234918 956 235,874
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ SEBER2E
for the year g - - - = (21,965) (21,965) 371 (21,594)
Transfer to statutory reserve ERTETRE - = 774 = (774) = = =
Deregistration of a subsidiary FHIBAR - - (86) - - (86) (777) (863)
Capital injection from non-controlling  3HEMRE T4
interests - - - - - - 635 635
At31 December 2024 e Sl 1
+-A=t-H 3,650 179,495 24,065 21,121 (15,464) 212,867 1,185 214,052
Notes: et -
&, The statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from net profit for a. EEREEEREARREARLME( F
the year of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China Bl ) %2 B A BEA S B BB A R B S A
(the “PRC”) (based on the subsidiaries’ PRC statutory financial statements) F(RIRFT B R B8 BUETE B 75 Rk ) 851
in accordance with the relevant PRC laws until the statutory reserve reaches W& ERAEREEINZENB ARG
50% of the registered capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory reserve MEREI50% © BrIEARIEIE R 5T EEHIG
cannot be reduced except either use to set off the accumulated losses or MER - BRI AEE e
increase capital.
b.  The capital reserve represents: (1) the considerations paid by the Group b. BARERE - OREEEEEAEED AR
in excess of the paid-up capital of respective group entities upon group BREEEEERACEANSRE QA
reorganisation; (2) the capital injection paid by Winz Strategy Company KEARAT([ERRME]) IO FERR

Limited (“Winz Strategy”) in excess of the paid-up capital of Beijing
Hongkun Property Management Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Hongkun”) (as detailed
in Note e) upon the group reorganisation; (3) elimination of share capital of
Beijing Hongkun upon the group reorganisation; (4) issue of shares of the
Company upon the group reorganisation; and (5) capital contribution arising
from the compensation from the controlling shareholder of the Company by
transferring a right-of-use property from its connected parties to the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (Note 30).

b FRB Y EE R AR AR ([T R )R
SESHENBRZER  QREESHEEY
S FUB I 2 BN ¢ (4N EBEARR T
ARABMZGD : RER-_F-_=F+_"A4
=+—HIFE  ARARERBRRB BRI
SEEEEESFREVEAMERENTR
& (FEE30) ©

HEEEZERERAE —ZoHFFR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
MERREER(E)

For t
HE

he Year ended 31 December 2024
—E-NFE+-A=+—HItFE

Notes: (Continued)

On 13 March 2020, the Company capitalised the sum of HK$2,999,900
(equivalent to RMB2,701,000) standing to the credit of the share premium
account of the Company and applied such sum in paying up in full at par
299,990,000 shares for allotment and issued to existing shareholders.

On 13 March 2020, in connection with the Listing, the Company issued
100,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (a public offering in Hong
Kong of 50,000,000 and an international offering of 50,000,000 shares) at a
price of HK$1.56 per share (equivalent to approximately RMB1.40 per share)
for a total of HK$156,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB140,437,000)
with issuance costs amounted to HK$12,119,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB11,001,000) being charged to the Company’s share
premium account.

In addition, on 3 April 2020, the over-allotment option in connection with the
Listing was exercised and as a result, additional 5,310,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each were issued at a price of HK$1.56 per share (equivalent to
approximately RMB1.43 per share) for a total of HK$8,284,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB7,598,000) with issuance costs amounted to HK$543,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB495,000) being charged to the Company’s
share premium account.
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R-ZE-TF=RA+=H KRAAHAQAE
%1937 (B BR 3 AR < 582,999,900/ 7T (A E 7
AR¥E2,701,00070) B EAN - ARKEE
%4 £ 299,990,000 A% A% 17 LABC 3 K 847 T 5
BRE -

—E-EF-A+=H - BLTmE &K
REVAGRI6BTTHER(BERER
# AR #1.407T ) 47 100,000,000 % & I
EAEOCOIBTHEBER(EEALAHESE
50,000,000 % X B % %% £ 50,000,000A% ) -
4 57 156,000,000 7% 7T (HHE R AR
140,437,0007T) * BE1TRAK12,119,0007%
THRERHARB11,001,0007T) * Bt A
AARH IR EERS -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
n\l_\éiﬁﬁ)\ﬁiﬁ

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NE+_A=1+—HIEE

2024 2023
—EomE —Eo=F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
Kt AR¥EFT AREFT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REED
Loss before tax BrEERE 1B (28,025) (14,055)
Adjustments for: 1
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BERERETTE
equipment 6,594 5,991
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 2,552 448
Amortisation of intangible assets R EERE 2,611 3,111
Provision of onerous contract BRSNS 1,461 -
Written off of property, plant and RBEEME - BEMEE
equipment 19 =
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - WEKEEN
equipment EE = 2
Bank interest income RITHBHA (1,362) (1,185)
Impairment loss of trade and other B 5 R E M EW R IER
receivables, net REEERE 20,278 5,775
Impairment loss of amounts due from FENS RS T B SR FE
related parties, net 38,635 18,893
Interests on lease liabilities HEAGBZHE 6 8
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ~ YMNEME R ) 2 & 124 (169)
Operating cash flows before movements — &iE& & BB AL E
in working capital Rens 42,893 18,849
(Increase)/decrease in properties REGEEERD
held for sale (2,025) 1,224
Increase in trade and other receivables E 5 I B FE WA AN (58,643) (16,832)
Decrease in amounts due from related L B8 75 SR IE R
parties 673 494
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 R EMERFIER L (1,426) (8,360)
(Decrease)fincrease in contract liabilites ~ A#IBEECHL), &N (1,257) 11,693
Cash (used in)/generated from operations 44 (Fifl),EL£IRE (19,785) 7,068
Income tax paid EATATEH (2,318) (8,515)
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED RETH(FA)EL
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES R P (22,1083) 3,553
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
mERERERE)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024

HE_Z-_ME+-A=+—HItFEE

2024 2023
—ECE —E-=F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
i AREFT AR¥TFT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Advance to related parties [ 75 2K (46,662) (119,556)
Purchases of property, plant and BEME  BREREE
equipment (3,097) (1,593)
Repayment from related parties ERAE T ER 46,662 121,108
Interest received BUFIE 1,362 1,155
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant HEME - BEMEED
and equipment Fr{S 308 - 103
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED BRETH(FA)  EERS
FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES B (1,735) 1,217
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Principal paid for lease liabilities HERBZENETSE 27 (63) (60)
Interests paid on lease liabilities HEABEZEMNAE 27 (6) (8)
Capital injection from non-controlling I R E
interests 635 =
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/ METHELE (FTA)RE
(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES FE 566 (68)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH ReERBELEEER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (RA) /hnFEE (23,272) 4,702
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FYzRERASEEER
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 140,090 135,219
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE HNEEZESBH 2
RATE CHANGES (124) 169
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZESRELEEER -
AT END OF THE YEAR AND BRITHEBRES
REPRESENTED BY BANK
BALANCES AND CASH 116,694 140,090
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated and registered as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the
Cayman Islands Companies Law Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) on 26 March 2019. The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company
are stated in the section “Corporate Information” of the annual report.

The Company’s immediate holding company is Ascendor Futur, a
limited company which was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the British Virgin Islands.

The shares of the Company have been listed on Main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 13 March 2020.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the provision of property
management services and commercial operational services, and
the particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 31.

The consolidated financial statements is presented in RMB, which is
the same as the functional currency of the Company, and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except when
otherwise indicated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements has been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention.

e B IS R R MY R

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NE+_A=1+—HIEE

—REHR

KRN ZE-NF=A=+XERE
MEHRBRAREF2E(—NR—F58
IFER  BEFEREF) RHASHS
AEAR S R B RERRBER AR o K
R AR BRI & B S B
RANERIRRER | —ERIER -

RRRHERIER AR REES - 22
AN EBE LR S MRS —RER
RBRAT -

RATRODR-ZE_TF=A+=A%
ERMERHPIARARER L -

ARAMEBEBRIREER - B
ARIEBRFRAMEIEERGRAR
BERTS - AN RIME A BFHIEHNH
31 e
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APPLICATION OF NEW OR AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRSs

Adoption of amendments to HKFRSs — effective
1 January 2024

The Group has adopted the following amendments to HKFRSs

Accounting Standards for the first time for the current year’s

financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 and
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
position and performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
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3. APPLICATION OF NEW OR AMENDMENTS TO

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

HKFRSs (CONTINUED)

(ii)

New or amendments to HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not

yet effective, in these consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 21
Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendment to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2024

HKFRS 18 and consequential
amendments to
other HKFRSs

HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2026

9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2027

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined

The Group is currently evaluating the potential impact of these

Lack of Exchangeability”

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

standards on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-ZT-_MF+-A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporates the financial
statements of the Company and companies controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Group:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary or business begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary or business and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary or business. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date of the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary or business.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries or business is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually
or more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount is
less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units). Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss and is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of
profit or loss on disposal.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are initially stated at costs and subsequently
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes are
stated in the consolidated statements of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect
of goodwill above)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e B A R R B EE ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect
of goodwill above) (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Leasing
The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16, at inception of a contract.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed. The Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability
with respect to all lease agreements in which it is the lessee at the
lease commencement date, except for short-term leases (defined
as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of
low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the
lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased asset are consumed.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing
rate at the date of initial application.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

. the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liabilities are presented on a separate line in the
consolidated statements of financial position.

The lease liabilities are subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case
the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

. the lease payments changes due to changes in an index or
rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to
a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised
discount rate is used).

° a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e B A R R B EE ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liabilities, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date and any initial direct costs. They are
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle
and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located
or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and
measured under HKAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities and
contingent assets. The costs are included in the related right-of-use
asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease
term and useful live of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers
ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the
related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the
underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement
date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented on a separate line in the
consolidated statements of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

As a practical expedient, HKFRS 16 permits a lessee not to
separate non-lease components from lease components, and
instead account for each lease component and any associated
non-lease components a single component. The Group chooses to
use this practical expedient.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

EXETHERES(E)

REMAEREBEA ()

EREEEREAEREERENGET
B &R B s BT EERNK
IARAE G B - BRAFIAR IR
BB R T ERBERBEE -

EARKEAERGMBHREAEEENK
REME - REEAEI SR EE
IR E R E G RGP E AT -
ARIBE A G ERFI7H B8R - X
RABRKABE |ERNTERE -
KABSHERREREEE 2T © BR3E
BRAKATRARNEERE °

ERREEEHENMAEEENEX
H(AERELE)TE - HEHESR
THRAE E R PT B HESE R B BRI
RRAEETRATERR R EEE - IR
RERREECRBEENERFRA
e - TEBHEMKAHMGTE -

EREEENFEUMBARARANERZ
5l e

ENREEER S HREE BN R
EREBNESR M TANE - WHHE
RFEFE - VIIRTHERRH AT ENR
BRAR RREIMEE N - WA AL A
BERRA °

IEREBHERZ M - EBOERE R
A% 16% 70 PR A BB 18 70 B 3
SREEBHTES - MEBEEED
SRR R B ERE
REH N - AEERBEAEHER
BE A -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised services
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those services.
Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to customers.

Control of the service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the service is transferred over time if:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-ZT-_MF+-A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

If control of the service transfers over time, revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the service.

The Group provides property management services, property
developer related services and value-added services to property
developers, property owners and residents. Revenue from providing
services is recognised over time in the period in which the services
are rendered.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Qutput method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract, that best depict
the Group’s performance in transferring control of services.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing services to a customer,
the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a
performance obligation to provide the specified services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified service before
that service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified service by another party. In this
case, the Group does not control the specified service provided
by another party before that service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the
amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified services to be provided
by the other party.

Property management services

For property management services fee income from properties
managed under lump-sum basis, where the Group acts as principal
and is primary responsible for providing the property management
services to the property owners, the Group recognises the fee
received or receivable from property owners, which is a fixed
amount, as its revenue and all related property management costs
as its cost of services. For property management services fee
income from properties managed under commission basis, where
the Group acts as agent, the Group recognised its revenue on a net
basis. On a commission basis, the Group charges a pre-determined
percentage at 10% of the total property management fees received.
Any direct cost under the property management service agreement
shall be borne by property owners and residents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Property developer related services

Property developer related services to property developers and
other property management service companies mainly include
property planning and design consultancy services, pre-delivery
inspection services, sales assistance services, post-delivery repair
services or a combination of these services at the pre-delivery
stage to property buyers. The Group agrees the price for each
service with the customers upfront and issues the monthly bill to
the customers which varies based on the actual level of service
completed in that month.

Value-added services

For value-added services, it includes community-related services
ranging from utilities services, household repair and maintenance
services to other value-added services that meet the daily needs
of the property owners and residents. Revenue is recognised
over time/at a point in time in the period when the related value-
added services are rendered. Payment of the transaction is due
immediately when the value-added services are rendered to the
customer.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans and state-
managed retirement benefit scheme are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered services entitling them to the
contributions.

Provisions

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised
and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered to
exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable
costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received from the contract.
The unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the least net cost
of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the net cost of
fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to
fulfil it.

When assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making, the
Group includes costs and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to the contract, consisting of both the incremental costs that
relate directly to fulfilling contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such
as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deduction of any
amount already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit during the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-ZT-_MF+-A=+—HILtFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions (including trade
and other receivables, amounts due from related parties and bank
balances and cash) are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit loss
(“ECL”) on financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, amounts due from
related parties and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial

recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as

well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with
significant balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix
i.e. analysis of trade receivables by aging and apply a probability-
weighted estimate of the credit losses within the relevant time band.
The probability-weighted estimate of the credit losses is determined
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the

forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the

likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Forward looking information considered includes the future
prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from financial analysts and governmental bodies, as well
as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that related to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the borrower has
a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider; or

. it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s trade and
other receivables from individual customers, amounts due
from related parties are each assessed as a separate group.
Trade receivables from customers with significant balances
are assessed for expected credit losses on an individual
basis); and

. Ageing.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management of the Group
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to share similar
credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for
all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Classification of financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the group entities are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and amounts

due to related parties) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when, and only when,
the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 4, the management of the Group is required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following is the key assumption concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next twelve months.

Impairment assessment of expected credit losses
for trade and other receivables and amounts due
from related parties

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to estimate the amount
of loss allowance for ECL on trade and other receivables and
amounts due from related parties that are measured at amortised
cost based on the credit risk of the respective financial instruments.
The loss allowance amount is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows with the consideration of expected future credit
loss of the respective financial instrument. The assessment of
the credit risk of the respective financial instrument involves high
degree of estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future cash
flows are less than expected or more than expected, a material
impairment loss or a material reversal of impairment loss may arise,
accordingly.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of trade and other
receivables (excluding prepayments) amounted to RMB128,607,000
(net of allowance for credit loss of RMB33,872,000) (2023:
RMB88,495,000 (net of allowance for credit loss of RMB13,594,000))
as disclosed in Note 20 and amounts due from related parties
amounted to RMB22,277,000 (2023: RMB61,585,000) net of
allowance for credit loss of RMB96,107,000 (2023: RMB57,472,000)
as disclosed in Note 21.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of goodwill
amounted to RMB29,709,000 (2023: RMB29,709,000) as disclosed
in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets with finite useful lives

In determining the recoverable amounts of these assets, expected
cash flows to be generated by the assets are discounted to their
present value, which involves significant levels of estimates relating
to sales volume, selling prices and other operating costs. When
a decline in an asset’s recoverable amount has occurred, the
carrying amount is reduced to its estimated recoverable amount.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment amounted to RMB33,722,000 (2023:
RMB37,238,000) as disclosed in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements, and intangible assets with finite useful lives
amounted to RMB10,032,000 (2023: RMB12,643,000) as disclosed
in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the net amounts received and receivable for
(i) property management service, (ii) property developer related
services, and (iii) value-added services.

Information reported to the directors of the Company, being the
chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) of the Group, for the
purpose of resources allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on the revenue analysis of each operating
segment in the provision of property management service,
property developer related services and value-added services of
the Group. Other than the revenue analysis as set out below, no
operating results and other discrete financial information including
geographical location by operating segments relating to provision
of property management service, property developer related
services and value added services is prepared regularly for internal
reporting to the CODM for resources allocation and performance
assessment.

No analysis of segment assets and segment liabilities is presented
as these information are not regularly provided to the CODM for
review.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z-_NE+_A=1+—HIEE

Revenue from major services FERBHN R
2024 2023
—E-mF R
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT N
Type of services BREEAAY
Property management services W EIER 323,809 289,885
Property developer related services Y5 B AR TS 9,375 9,651
Value-added services AR 44,130 41,869
377,314 341,405
Type of customers KPR
External customers SN 362,575 331,630
Related companies fAiE A A 14,739 9,775
377,314 341,405
Timing of revenue recognition e R I ]
Over time —BREER 364,712 322,534
A point in time P AE 2L 12,602 18,871
377,314 341,405

Performance obligations for the provision of property management
services, property developer related services and value-added
services are either for a period of one year or less or bill a fixed
amount for each month of services provided. As permitted under
HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue from customers is derived solely from its
operations and services rendered in the PRC, and the non-current
assets of the Group are all located in the PRC.

Information about major customers

There was no revenue from customers individually contributing over

10% of total revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

REMEEERY - MEFEEAER
BRIRERGNBENETOHRS—F
2 58 MRSk B A R A0 AR TS R )
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165R T RF - WARBEBE DR TZEFR
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Hol@ &
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FATREMRT - BASEIERBEE
B AR -

FERFER
BHE_Z-_NgFrR-_ZT_=+-A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER LOSSES, NET 7. HWAREMEERE
(a) Other income (a) HMA
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARHTFT ARETIT

Bank interest income ERITH B U A 1,362 1,155
Value-add tax refund BETRR 124 982
1,486 2,137

(b) Other losses, net (b) EHAMFEE
2024 2023
T —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT ARETFT

Written off of property, plant and MM - BB AR
equipment (19) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME - BEMRENEE
and equipment = (2)
Government subsidy (Note) B Eeh (A7) 67 82
Net exchange (loss)/gain &5 (&18), W (124) 169
Others Hiftb (63) (308)
(139) (59)
Note: The government subsidy mainly represents subsidy received Hiat . BURBNAMEBEN P A
from relevant government authority for supporting the SRAREEEEIEREEP
Group’s property management business in the PRC during Bils ok E =R 0kl
the pandemic. There are no unfulfilled conditions and other ZERP T FAERBITHR
contingencies attaching to it. M REMEABEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES, NET 8. BEEHEFEHE
2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHTFT ARKTT

Impairment loss recognised on: BRI EEE
Trade receivables — third parties BHRKRE-E=7 20,124 5,831
Other receivables — third parties HEtEWsIE—-%8=7 154 (56)
Impairment loss of trade and other B 5 N H MW IR R E R R FE
receivables, net 20,278 5,775
Impairment loss recognised on: BHERRERE :
Amounts due from related parties JEN R T FOA
— trade nature —EB54E 38,635 19,310
Amounts due from related parties JENL R T FOA
— non-trade nature —3FBHME = (417)
Impairment loss of amounts due from FEURRE T R E B R B
related parties, net 38,635 18,893
58,913 24,668
Details of impairment assessment for the years ended 31 December RBEZZ-_NFR=F=_=F+=A
2024 and 2023 are set out in Notes 20 and 21. =+ —HI-FERET G FIE AN

F20 K BizE21 -

HEEEZERERAE —ZoHFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX CREDIT BRI R
2024 2023
—ECE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) Pl SEFRIS L ([ D EEFREHL )

— Current income tax —BNERFR SR 9,037 6,390
— Under-provision in prior years —BAFETTEE 116 108
Deferred tax (Note 16) RETIA(H15E16) (15,584) (6,807)
(6,431) (309)

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on EIT (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25%. During the year, certain subsidiaries
of the Group was entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 20%
(2023: 20%) for small and micro enterprises with the first RMB1
million of annual taxable income eligible for 75% (2023: 75%)
reduction and the income between RMB1 million and RMB3 million
eligible for 75% (2023: 75%) reduction.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from, Hong Kong
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Company and the group entity incorporated in the BVI are
not subject to income tax in the Cayman Islands or any other
jurisdiction.
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10.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED)

The income tax credit for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 can be reconciled to the profit before tax per the consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NE+-_A=1+—HILFE

FrietiER (&)

BE_T_MER-_FT_=F1+_H
=T R FEMEHE R SRR
MRESABE M EMEEKEROE

follows: BRANTE -
2024 2023
—E-mF R
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFT AREFT
Loss before tax FRE A5 18 (28,025) (14,055)
Tax at the applicable tax rate LERR R ERRIE (6,676) (8,062)
Tax effect of preferential tax rate BEMENT G E (1,214) (539)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible PP RS2
for tax purposes 1,312 1,205
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses RERMIEEBENRBEE 884 2,161
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BASLAIRBERZ RBEBRNTS
previously not recognised 2 (853) (182)
Under-provision in prior years BETFERETR 116 108
(6,431) (309)

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments paid/payable to the directors of the
Company (including emoluments for the services as employees of
the group entities prior to becoming the directors of the Company)
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follow:

10.

EE  BSITBRAERESH
[

F@i_y_mfﬁ&_v__ﬂr ﬂ
=t+—HILFE B EBAER
ENME (BEKRALTA ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁé%
EEBETEESMRERRBOMES)F
B

2024 2023
- Junl 111 3 —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARH¥FIT AR¥TFr
Directors’ fee BEHES
Other emoluments ﬁf@ 57
— salaries and other benefits e REAMmETR 2,154 2,359
— discretionary bonus —%’I%?E%I 210 240
— contributions to retirement benefit — R FIFHEIE R
scheme 191 222
2,555 2,821
BEEEEERBERAT —ZTZNFFIR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—HIFE

10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND 10. E5  E5TBRAEBREESH

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) BN (&)
Salaries Contributions
and other  Discretionary  to retirement Total
Fee benefits bonus benefit scheme amount
#eR BARER
e AR BfERA FHEIfRR aE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ANEEFTT ANEEFIL AREFTL ANEEFTT ANEEFTT
Year ended 31 December 2024 BZ-_E-_NE
TZA=t+-ALEE
Executive directors HITEE
Ms. Wu Guoging REMRL - 848 105 83 1,036
Mr. Zhao Weihao HEREE - 19 - 1 20
Ms. Li Yin Ping £33 - 111 - 6 117
Ms. Zhang Chunying RERLT - 583 105 9% 784
Non-executive director FUTEE
Mr. Li Yifan F-NEE - 93 - 5 98
Independent non-executive director BUHHITEE
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung RERLE - 125 - - 125
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat REELAE - 125 - - 125
Ms. Chen Weijie e g T - 125 - - 125
Mr. Leung Ka Wo PRAKE - 125 - - 125
Total &3t - 2,154 210 191 2,555
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-B-=F
TZAZt-BLFE
Executive directors HITEE
Ms. Wu Guoging REPLL - 1,271 100 124 1,495
Mr. Zhao Weihao HEREE - 109 - 5 114
Ms. Li Yin Ping E>3 3t = 109 = 5 114
Ms. Zhang Chunying FERLT - 434 140 88 662
Non-executive director FHTEE
Mr. Li Yifan %4 - - - - -
Indlependent non-executive director BUFHTEE
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung REMEE - 109 - = 109
Mr. Chan Cheong Tat RE#EE = 109 = - 109
Ms. Chen Weilie RgEat = 109 = - 109
Mr. Leung Ka Wo DRAEAE - 109 - = 109
Total At - 2359 240 222 2821
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

10. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Note: The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group. The non-executive director’s and
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for the services as directors of the Company.

The discretionary bonus is determined based on the performance of
individual and market trend for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two directors
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: two). The remunerations
of the remaining three individuals (2023: three) for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out below:

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
 ECE_NE+—A=+—HILEE

10. X  BSTTRAEBRESH
B (&)

Krat - ERAITERHWNARSHERAA
B R A LB RS HARTE AOFTBN o
ERIERITES B NFH R
RABZ/ARARBHEENS -

BBEAENBE_T_NFR_F
TEEFT A=+ -BIEFEMNEA
KBRS BBEE -

BE-ZT-NF+-A=1+—HIF

= mEEE%E?%MAi@%ﬁ

%éiL_Y_,E ME) - HE
—NE+—A=+—ALFE - %

T BAT(ZEZ=F : ZH)0F
BiZn T
2024 2023
—EMF —T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT AREFT
Salaries and other benefits e REAET 1,641 1,621
Discretionary bonus E’] IBTEAT 324 332
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme  RAEFIFT IR 305 273
2,270 2,226
The emoluments were within the following bands: FEENT
2024 2023
—EImE =%
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 702 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the five highest paid
individuals (including directors and employees) as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. In
addition, no directors waived any emoluments during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
had no forfeited contributions under retirement benefit plan utilised
to reduce future contributions.

REBEE-ZE-_NER-T-_=F+=
A=1+—RIEFE  AEEBERT
MEZFREERTMAT(BEE
ERES) I EABME - tERRS
A IMARE R E K RS S E AR
BAE - N REBEEZT-NFR
T+ -_A=1+—HILtFE
BEZEENETAMS -

BE_T_MOER_FT_=F1+_H

=T RIEFE  AEEBEREBERR
DARBHRERARBAET LU -

HEEEZERERAE —ZoHFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—HIFE

11. LOSS BEFORE TAX

11. BR¥AIEER

2024 2023
—E-ME o=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT
Loss before tax for the year has been FASBENBRAIEE
arrived at after charging: B
Auditors’ remuneration % SR 7 A
— audit services —ZH AR 1,600 1,600
— non-audit services — HAth R 7% 650 760
2,250 2,360
Directors’ emoluments (Note 10) BEME(HaE10) 2,555 2,821
Other staff’s salaries and other benefits ~ EM B T#H4 R HMEF 128,783 110,183
Other staff’s contributions to retirement  H#h 8 T Z RIK@EFIFH 8
benefit scheme 23,379 21,345
Other staff’s contributions to housing EMET 2 EEABESHERK
provident funds 4,225 3,680
Total staff costs BT A4 158,942 138,029
Depreciation for property, plant and M - BEREERE
equipment 6,594 5,991
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEENE 2,552 448
Amortisation of intangible assets M E RS 2,611 3,111
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12.

13.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable
to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to owners of
the Company is based on the following data:

12.

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

BRER

BREABEREENEBRARNER
BRAREZEITE BRI OHETE
s °

ARRVIEE AL SREABBNE
THEERIA T B -

2024 2023
—E-mE —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AREFT
Loss for the year attributable HEREAERM SR QE
to owners of the Company for the HmEAELRFEERE
purposes of basic loss per share (21,965) (14,048)
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Number of Number of
shares shares
R BB ighr = ¢E!
Weighted average number of ordinary HEREAEEM S L BR
shares for the purposes of basic IR &
loss per share 405,310,000 405,310,000

No diluted earnings per share is presented for each of the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 as there is no potential
ordinary shares in issue during those years.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

13.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—HIFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. V¥ - BERRXRE

Furniture,
Leasehold land Leasehold fixtures and
and building  improvement equipment Total
HELH R4 BE
REZF HE#E EBRRE @zt
RVB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT  AREFr  AREFr  ARETR
At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=%-f-H 30,356 16,228 9,632 56,216
Additions RE 752 = 841 1593
Disposals st = = (245) (245)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R-F-=F+-A=+-Bk
—“ZI-ME-A-H 31,108 16,228 10,208 57,564
Additions RE 1,694 801 602 3,007
Written off B - - (193) (193)
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZmE+=A=1—H 32,802 17,029 10,637 60,468
DEPRECIATION il
At 1 January 2023 W-Z-=f-F—H 1,453 6,786 6,236 14,475
Provided for the year FERE 1,500 3,220 1271 5,991
Eliminated on disposals T SR8 - = (140) (140)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 WZEZ=F+-A=+-Ak
—“Z-mF-A-H 2,953 10,006 7,367 20,326
Provided for the year FERE 1,49 4,008 1,090 6,504
Written off s - = (174) (174)
At 31 December 2024 RZZZME+=A=+—H 4,449 14,014 8,283 26,746
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2023 RZF==F+-A=1+—-H 28,155 6,022 2,861 37,238
At 31 December 2024 R-B-ME+=A=t-H 28,353 3015 2,354 33722
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14.

15.

(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
over their estimate useful lives and after taking into account
their estimated residual value, using the straight-line basis at the

following rates per annum:

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

W% BERRE(E)

B - E REREE R IR AR
Al A AR AT R B A RIBMEETR
RABEEE NS FLRETINE ¢

Leasehold land and building Over the shorter of HETHRETF T+ bR EA sk 20F
the term of land lease (ABREEBE)
or 20 years
Leasehold improvement 5 years HEEE 5%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3to 10 years RE - BEERER 3ZE10F
B
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B EE
Software Customer
copyrights  relationships Total
g EFEf act
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT  AREFTT  AREFR
cosT A
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and W-Z-=f-f-B —B-=%#t-fA=1-H
31 December 2024 RZZ-mME+-A=1-H 5,000 16,894 21,894
Amortisation B
At 1 January 2023 W-F-=%-A-H 3,500 2,640 6,140
Charge for the year FR%H 1,000 2,111 3,111
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RIEZ=F+-A=+-BR=F-M§—A-A 4,500 4,751 9,251
Charge for the year FRZH 500 2,111 2,611
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-ME+ZA=1-H 5,000 6,862 11,862
CARRYING VALUES EEE
At 31 December 2023 RZZ-=E+-A=1-H 500 12,143 12,643
At 31 December 2024 R-B-m&E+=A=+-A = 10,032 10,032

HEEEZERERAE —ZoHFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
 E-_E_ME+_A=+—HIFE

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

During the year ended 31 December 2018, Hongkun Holding
developed two mobile applications called Hongkunhui* (%i#&) and
H-Butler* (¥§& % ). Hongkun Holding agreed that the Group can use
the above copyrighted software on a royalty-free basis. In order to
expand the functions of the mobile applications, on 10 June 2019, the
Group entered into a software copyright transferring agreement with
Hongkun Holding, pursuant to which Hongkun Holding as vendor sold
and the Group as purchaser acquired some copyrighted software
(i.e. Hongkunhui* (#&3##) and H-Butler* (& %)) at a consideration
of RMB5,000,000. The Group visualise Hongkunhui* ( % 1# & ) as a
platform for the development and dissipation of new value-added
services, whereas H-Butler* (% & K ) as the key supporting tool for
staff in carrying out daily functions.

The software copyrights have finite useful lives and are amortised on
a straight-line basis over 5 years.

The customer relationships were acquired as part of a business
combination completed during the year ended 31 December 2021,
which represents property management service contracts. They
were recognised at their fair values at the date of acquisition and are
subsequently amortised on a straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives of 8 years.

* For identification purpose only
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

16. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purposes:

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

16. ELERIE

RTEAHTBHRAERFIR - HHE
ISR EEMB B IR o« ERNH
IR E B EREMS BRI ST
T

2024 2023

—EIMNEF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFTT AR¥TFT

Deferred tax assets BETHIEEE 34,354 19,298
Deferred tax liabilities BEHEAE (2,508) (3,036)

31,846 16,262

The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the
current and prior year:

BEREMRCHEIBNRLEHIDFEE
RA@EmT :

Fair value
Impairment  adjustment Provision
loss on business of onerous
of receivables combination contract Total
AEFA SHEE EE
HEBE AAEERE BRRE &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFoT AREFT AREFT AREFr
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=4%—HF—H (13,019) 3,564 - (9,455)
Credit to profit or loss (Note 9) &t N\ia M B8 (#i#9) (6,279) (528) = (6,807)
At 31 December 2023 and RZE-_=F+-A=t-HK
1 January 2024 “Z-NFE—HF—H (19,298) 3,036 - (16,262)
Credit to profit or loss (Note 9) & AJEH B IA(f229) (14,690) (528) (366) (15,584)
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZMFE+=A=+—H (33,988) 2,508 (366) (31,846)
BEESEERERAT —ZT-NFFHR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—HILFE

16.

17.

DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2024, the Group had unused tax losses of
RMB14,909,000 (2023: RMB14,787,000) available to offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the tax losses, respectively, due to unpredictability of future profit
streams. The unrecognised tax losses in the PRC will expire from
2025 to 2029.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1
January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated statements of financial position in respect
of temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits of the
PRC subsidiaries amounting to RMB47,622,000 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: RMB57,800,000), respectively, as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Group leases office premises and staff quarters to operate
its business. Property leases are typically made for fixed periods
of 1 to 5 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain various different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may
not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

The average lease term are 3 to 18 years (2023: 3 to 18 years) for
the years ended 31 December 2024.
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17.

IESER IR ()

RZZE-_NF+=—A=+—H ' ~5£H
A AR R SRR EATIEEEAA
R#14,909,000t(ZT==%F : AR
#514,787,0007T) ° F R R 2k FI) 7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 17. EAEEE(E)
RMB’000
AE#EFT
cosT B
At 1 January 2023 RZBE-_=F—H—H 3,570
Additions NE 36,846
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZZE_=F+=-A=+—8k
—ZE-MF—F—H 40,416
Written off B (2,028)
At 31 December 2024 R-B-MF+=-RA=+—H 38,388
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—H—H 2,672
Provided for the year FERE 448
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZB_=ZF+_A=+—HK
—EoNFE—-A—H 3,120
Provided for the year FEEE 2,552
Written off b6 (2,028)
At 31 December 2024 MR-ZB-_WFE+—A=+—H 3,644
CARRYING VALUES RREE
At 31 December 2023 RZZE-=F+=-H=+—8 37,296
At 31 December 2024 R-EBE-_ME+=-HA=+—H 34,744
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group acquired a RZBZ=F+-A=+—HILFE -
right-of-use property of approximately RMB36,846,000 through a AEBEBBEAER S A MIE—FTEE
connected transaction (Note 30). 495 AR #536,846,000 T MY FEY 2
(B3E30) °
The consolidated statements of profit or loss and other GeEBEmkAMEEKRREREE NIE
comprehensive income contain the following amounts relating to FHERN SR
leases:
2024 2023
TE-ImEFE —E-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFT ARKTT

Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREESENE 2,552 448
Interests on lease liabilities HEBEZFE 6 8
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—HIFE

18. GOODWILL 18. BHE
RMB’000
AREFT
COST AND CARRYING AMOUNTS RARREEE
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, RZEZ=F—A—H -ZF==%F
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 +=—A=+—R8 -ZZ-_m&F—A—HK
—E-NE+ZA=+—H 29,709

(a)

Impairment testing on goodwill

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
completed the acquisition of Jiangsu Wanhao Property
Management Co., Ltd. (“diangsu Wanhao”) at a consideration
of RMB47,000,000, which resulted in the recognition of
goodwill of RMB29,330,000.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group’s goodwill
acquired through the business combination is allocated to
the subsidiary which was regarded as a cash generating
unit (“CGU”). The recoverable amounts of CGU have been
determined on the basis of value-in-use calculations. The
value-in-use calculations use cash flow projections based on
financial forecast approved by the management of the Group
covering a 5-year period (2023: 5-year period).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

18. GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 18. HE (&)

(a) Impairment testing on goodwill (Continued) (a) RERREARE)
Goodwill allocated to the CGUs and key assumptions used in PEINSREELABEVNEER
calculation of recoverable amounts of the CGUs are set out FTESRESEABENITKEESE
below: FERBRAOT
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-_mME+=-HA=+—H

Annual
revenue Terminal Pre-tax
growthrate  growthrate discount rate
CGU Principal activities Goodwill (Note i) (Note ii) (Note iii)
KEFERE KERRE HARRE
ReELEN TEEHR B (Kati) (Hietii) (Hiitiii)
RMB’000
AREFT
Jiangsu Wanhao Provision of property management 29,330 3% 3% 14.8%
services
IHER REMEERRS
As at 31 December 2023 RZZE_=F+=A=+—H
Annual
revenue Terminal Pre-tax
growthrate  growthrate  discount rate
CcGU Principal activities Goodwill (Note i) (Note i) (Note iif)
WEFERE  KEERE  BARRE
ReELEN FEEH B (Hizt) (Hiati) (Histii)
RMB’000
AEEFT
Jiangsu Wanhao Provision of property management 29,330 5% 3% 13.0%
services
THER RENEERRS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e

R M ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024

BHE-_Z—

ME+—A=1t—RIFE

18. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

(a)

Impairment testing on goodwill (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Annual revenue growth rate is based on the existing charge
rates and revenue-bearing gross floor area of the properties.

(ii) Terminal growth rate is based on the GDP growth and does
not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry.

(i)~ The management of the Group considered market and industry
data to develop the weighted average cost of capital for the
value- in-use calculation.

The management of the Group determined that there is no
impairment of the CGU containing goodwill for the acquisition
of business during both years. The management also
considered that any reasonably possible change in any of
the assumptions would not cause the recoverable amount of
CGU below its carrying amount.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, additions to
goodwill of approximately RMB379,000 was attributable to the
acquisition of 65% equity interest in 75z H BE B R AR by
the Group.

No impairment test was carried out for this CGU as the
management considered the amount is insignificant.
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19.

20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale represent car parks acquired by the
Group which are held for sale, they are initially stated at costs and

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

19. FEREEE

FENERAREBERENGEFSISE
i - SRR E - ERIBERAR

subsequently carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

AR F AR NREE TR -

20. EZKREMmEYRE

2024 2023

—ECNE T =F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

BiaE AR¥FT AREFT

Trade receivables E 5 EUGRIA 150,300 91,826
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEIERE (33,590) (13,466)

116,710 78,360

Other receivables: HAth fEI IR -

Deposits birara (a) 3,538 1,079

Prepayments FEfRIE 4,844 6,591
Payments on behalf of residents REFFR (b) 3,308 2,949

Advances to staff M8 TE 4,740 4,107

Other tax recoverable AU B EAb R T8 - 312

Others Hith 593 1,816
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEEIE G (282) (128)

16,741 16,726

Total trade and other receivables B 5 Rk E AR GRIEREE 133,451 95,086

Notes:

(@)  The amounts represented the deposits paid for staff quarters, Point of
Sales machines and tendering activities. The deposits are refundable
in the next twelve months at each of the end of the reporting period
and therefore the amounts are classified as current assets.

(b)  The amounts represented the amounts paid on behalf of residents to
the utilities service providers for the services provided.

wist -

(a) ZELEEREIES TEHLG
BEBREDHINOEE - REWSE
HR BEARARRT_EARR
B AUZESRERARDEE -

(b) EELEEREFPMKERBHER
FRATIR GRS TR BOR -

HEEEZERERAE —ZoHFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024

BHE_Z_ME+_A=+—HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

Property management service income is generally required to be
settled by property owners and property developers on the date
upon issuance of demand note.

The Group generally grants a credit period of 30 days for its
property developer related services and value-added services to its
third parties.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, before the
impairment allowance presented based on the date of demand note
issued:

20. B KkEfbEYREE)

EHL AN EAEE PSS
BERREIHEE AR -

REERF Tdﬁﬁ’%%ﬁ%?ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁn&&
ARG TE=7730RNEEH

AT AE S EREIE (RRERERT) &
RO - DERMUBEHHBEHE
§|J :

2024 2023
—E-mEF ZE=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
0 to 60 days 0Z60X 35,128 34,623
61 to 180 days 61E180K 31,544 19,878
181 to 365 days 181E 365K 36,890 10,058
110 2 years 1224 21,214 18,189
2to 3 years 2E3F 15,797 3,874
Over 3 years HBim3E 9,727* 5,204
150,300 91,826
# Included an amount of RMB2,422,000 reclassified from amounts due # BERE AR EE S FTAREEER
from related parties due to change in ownership structure during the (- 15 ARME2,422,0007T # FE UK

year.

Impairment assessment on trade receivables
subject to ECL model

The ECL of trade receivables of approximately RMB150,300,000
(2023: RMB91,826,000) is calculated using a provision matrix. The
provision rates are based on grouping of various customers by their
ageing that have similar loss patterns.

As at 31 December 2024, allowance for credit losses of
approximately RMB33,590,000 (2023: RMB13,466,000) were made
for trade receivables from the customers.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

RE T IR EH DR -

B EEBEEARRNE
2 RN IR B R E RHE

ANR¥150,300,000( C T - =4 : A
R%91,826, ooommé\’%ﬂk K E TR
HEEEIEF RREERETE - BEX
EIJ%MEE%EME%%QE@T\E%}E%
E/]E_Eﬂ'—/_\/'\

HEZT-_MF+-_A=+—8B " ¥
FRHESREBFMNEEBRANAAR
#33,5690,0007L(— T - =4 : AR¥
13,466,0007T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. B3Rk tbfEKEE (&)
(CONTINUED)

Impairment assessment on trade receivables REREEBEEENSRNE
- - = S A AT =
subject to ECL model (Continued) 5 WG IR R VB TS ()
The following table of ageing analysis, based on the date of LATNERTE KRAMA BRSO ITE -
demand note, provides information about the Group’s exposure to RMHTEBRAEEEERRE A ML
credit risk and ECL for trade receivables from other customers: EPNESRBKRABEEBRNE
¥

As at 31 December 2024 R-B-MFE+-A=t—H

0-60 61-180 181-365 1-2 2-3 Over3

days days days years years years Total

0-60% 61-180X  181-365K 12 2-3% BiBE &t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETE ARBFT ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETZ

Expected loss rate hikil sy b 1.8% 3.0% 6.4% 46.3% 69.3% 90.7%
Gross carrying amount BEmE 35,128 31,544 36,890 21,214 15,797 9,727 150,300
Loss allowance BiEkE (643) (962) (2,379) (9,831) (10,954) (8,821) (33,590)
Net carrying amount REEA 34,485 30,582 34,511 11,383 4,843 906 116,710
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H
0-60 61-180 181-365 1-2 2-3 Over 3
days days days years years years Total
0-60X 61-180K  181-365K 1-26 2-3F HBiEE =

RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTL  AEETT ABETT ARETT ABETT ARETT ARETT

Expected loss rate kil oy b 55% 5.5% 55% 25.0% 48.2% 67.2%

Gross carrying amount BEmE 34,623 19,878 10,058 18,189 3874 5,204 91,826
Loss allowance ek (1,888) (1,104) (571) (4,540) (1,866) (3,497) (13466)
Net carrying amount REFE 32,735 18,774 9,487 13,649 2,008 1,707 78,360
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—HILFE

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. ESRHMEKRREE)
(CONTINUED)
Impairment assessment on trade receivables REREEBEEENSRNE
subject to ECL model (Continued) S REBGRIBR R ERT (&)
The provision matrix is based on historical observed default rates BEEE D IREB ATEHF AR LB
and are adjusted for forward-looking information (for example, the RSENE  UREFMNDBZRAE
current and forecasted economic growth rates in the PRC, which % N BRI 1S A AT RE M B RH(Flan A B
reflect the general economic conditions of the industry in which BRIRIBALEIERE - RTEBA
the debtors operate) that is available without undue cost or effort. R FTETT RN BB LA
Such forward-looking information is used by the management B o ZERIEMENHAEREERER
of the Group to assess both the current as well as the forecast REH R E B BE aT RFEAM R
direction of conditions at the reporting date. The Group rebutted the Mo ERBEESEBARREERE
presumption of default under ECL model for trade receivables over HE - RS EERENEEERo0KR
90 days past due based on the historical continuous settlement HE S EWFIBREFEEEBBER
by the trade debtors with the Group. Individual customers with BEXNHBE - BRERERVBEAR
significant balances are assessed individually for the credit risk PrIEERBERIEEEA AT a1 8
based on their probability of default and exposure at default. The KR BT - AR AT EBBAR
grouping is regularly reviewed by the management of the Group to SEERESEHN  ABRERSEE
ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated. ABMEAERIEER
The following table shows the movement of lifetime ECL for trade AT AIREBE T A ENEME PR
receivables from other customers under the simplified approach: BHREFIBZHEREEERNE
) -
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
ZHES ZHTES
FEFE FEFE
(BZEHE) (BEERE) fat
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT ARBEFT
At 1 January 2023 RZZTE-_=%—H—H 7,536 94 7,630
Impairment losses recognised, net  EERBIEEIEF5E 5,349 487 5,836
Transfer to credit-impaired BREZEHE (807) 807 =
At 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F+=H
1 January 2024 =+—ARZZTZlEF
—H—H 12,078 1,388 13,466
Impairment losses recognised, net B HERRIEEIEFE 18,457 1,667 20,124
Transfer to credit-impaired EREEERNE (2,109) 2,109 =
At 31 December 2024 RZTZMF
+-A=1+—8H 28,426 5,164 33,590
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment assessment on trade receivables
subject to ECL model (Continued)

The following table shows the movement of lifetime ECL for trade
receivables from a former related company (the “Counterparty”)
under the simplified approach:

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NE+-_A=1+—HILFE

20. B KkEfbEYREE)

XIEREEFRENRBOHE
mﬁ“ﬂ& XIB BB RS ()

KT AR R S AR
(IRBE i BRI
REEENED

Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
2HATEH
FEER
(IEERE)
RMB’000
ARETIT

At 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=F—H—H

Reversal of impairment losses BRI EREF
recognised, net

Derecognition BUE#ER

6,285

(%)
(6,280)

At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 HR_ZE-_=ZF+=-A=+—H
and 31 December 2024 —ECINFE+ZA=+—H

CECNE-A-HAN

The following significant changes in the gross carrying amounts of
trade receivables contributed to the changes in the loss allowance:

= Increase in the impairment loss allowance for other customers
for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023 were mainly due to deterioration of ageing profile of
trade receivables beyond 365 days; and

- Derecognition of loss allowance of Nil for the Counterparty
(2023: RMB6,280,000) arising from the set off of the
outstanding trade receivable balances through a connected
transaction (Note 30).

UTEZEERENIRERBRERETE
REME  FHEKREHSNEIL

- HEZZ-WOF+=-A=+—H
MZZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H1t
FEMEME - RREEBEREE
M EERAMNEBEHBI365H
BB S EKFIBRREM R E
b+ A0

— RBEEXRSHEEEZEURGIEAE
BREAEENRSHFHEX
EFcERBAZT(ZZE==
F . AR#6,280,0007T) (B
30) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—HIFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20.

(CONTINUED)

Impairment assessment on other receivables
subject to ECL model

The following table shows reconciliation of loss allowances that has
been recognised for other receivables:

B5 R HMEWRREE)
XBHEEMBRARRNE
fb U IR RO BUE R

DA L o M SO B S e S AR
R

Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2HEH 2HES
1287 H FEER FEFR
FEFR (BEEHE) (5&HE) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFIT AEEFTT AREFT AREFT
At 1 January 2023 R-2-=%¢—-F—AR 170 14 30,566 30,750
Reversal of impairment losses BRI ERE TR
recognised, net (56) - - (56)
Transfer to lifetime ECL ERE>BEHEERE
(not credit-impaired) (BZERE) (31) 31 = =
Derecognition BUERER - - (30,566) (30,566)
At 31 December 2023 and M-Z-=%#+-A#
1 January 2024 =f+—-8k
—T-FE-A—H 83 45 - 128
Impairment losses recognised, net ERERREBEFE 154 - = 154
Transfer to lifetime ECL ERE>IEHEERE
(not credit-impaired) (BZERE) (118) 118 = =
At 31 December 2024 RZEZWE
+=A=1+-H 119 163 = 282

There are no significant changes in loss allowance for other
receivables during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
31 December 2023, except for derecognition of loss allowance
of RMB30,566,000 arising from the set off of the outstanding
refundable deposits balances through a connected transaction
(Note 30) during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

21. FEWEIE R KIE

Maximum aggregate
amount outstanding
during the year
AEEREEREESH
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZBEomE T ZBINF —To=F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Kz ANRETFT ANREFT AREFT AREFT
Trade nature BHME
Related companies E AT (@), (©) 118,384 119,057 119,057 119,551
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEBERE (96,107) (67,472)

22,277 61,585

Non-trade nature FESUE
Related companies ENT (b), (©) - = - 5,356
Less: allowance for credit losses o EEBREE - -
Total &t 22,277 61,585
Notes: K1t -

(a)  The Group generally grants a credit period of 30 days for its property
developer related services and value-added services to its related
parties and no credit term granted to related parties for its provision
of property management services in which such income is generally
required to be settled upon the date of issuance of demand note.

(b)  The balances were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

(c) Related companies are companies which are beneficially owned by
Mr. Zhao Weihao, an executive director of the Company.

(a) AEEREBETREMXAEERA
AR5 M BB BR TG B — AR T30RM(E
BEH - mARETREMEERRY
B I RETEES  BZFRA
BEANSBEEH AREE -

(b) ZEHRBAERER  REAFRER
EE-

(c) BEARREAXARNBITESRHE
BRALERZEHEBBARRAEN
FrERH -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
RE TR R M (&)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—HIFE

21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES 21. EWEER FIE(E)

(CONTINUED)
Movement in the loss allowances are set out below: BREBNHEEFE AT
Trade nature 2548
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HFEST 2 HFESH
FEEE FEEEE
(BEERHE) (BEERME) et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARFor AREFT AREFr
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=%—H—H 30,218 7,944 38,162
Impairment losses recognised, net B HERB(EE 1B/ F4E 7,723 11,587 19,310
Transfer to credit-impaired EREEERE (11,482) 11,482 =
At 31 December 2023 and RZZZ=%+_A4
1 January 2024 =t+—HER-ZT-NF
—HA—H 26,459 31,013 57,472
Impairment losses recognised, net B MERMEFIEF 5 (4,357) 42,992 38,635
Transfer to credit-impaired B EERE (22,102) 22,102 =
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZMNE+—H
=+—~H - 96,107 96,107
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES
(CONTINUED)

Non-trade nature

21. EWEER IE (&)

FESIEE

Lifetime ECL
(not-credit-

impaired)

ST
EEER

(BEERE)

RMB’000

ARETTT

At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—H—H
Reversal of impairment losses EERREREFE
recognised, net

417

(417)

At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 R-ZE-_=%+—-A=+—H
and 31 December 2024 —E-mF+=-A=+—H

CZECMF—-A—HEK

As at 31 December 2024, in the opinion of the Company’s directors,
the expected loss rate was estimated to be ranged from 61.1% to
100.0% (2023: 15.1% to 95.8%).

The significant changes in the loss allowances for amounts due
from related parties were contributed by:

- For the year ended 31 December 2023, increase in the
impairment loss allowance was mainly due to deterioration
of ageing profile of amounts due from related parties over 2
years.

- For the year ended 31 December 2024, increase in the
impairment loss allowance was mainly due to deterioration
of ageing profile of amounts due from related parties over
3 years and there was significant financial difficulty of the
related parties.

HZE2o024F 128318 -

ZANVNECTE

ERR - BHEBEXMGEFE61%

% 100.0% 2 @ (2023 F
95.8%) °

D 151% &

AT BEE R E FIRMIE R EES

MEANESH A

~ BE-T-=F+-A=+-H

I FERRERBRESIEM -
TERARNBB2F B R E
T RIER R RN BAL o

BE-ZZ-_NFE+=-A=+—H
IEFERREBERESEN -
FERHNBIBEIF R ME UK E
F AR KRB MEES
AR EN o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—HIFE

21. AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES 21. EWEER FIE(E)

(CONTINUED)

AT AR (RRERERSEBEERHZ
FIH) FEUR B2 TS B 5 IR REE DT

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables from related
parties, before the impairment allowance presented based on date

of demand note:

2024 2023

—EmEF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR#FT AREFT

0 to 60 days 0Z60X 13,266 4,703
61 to 180 days 61E180K 1,384 1,654
181 to 365 days 181E365K 9,655 4,004
110 2 years 1224 9,216 28,851
2to 3 years 2E3F 23,746 47,482
Over 3 years 3FEMN L+ 61,117 32,363
118,384 119,057

22. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 22. RITEKRRAS

IRITHERIR BRI RS - FHEFER
B010%(ZTE==4 : 0.20%) °

The bank balances carry interest at variable rate with an average
interest rate of 0.10% (2023: 0.20%) per annum.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(a) Trade and other payables

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

23. EERHMENREBERENE
&

(a) BSNMEAMEMNFIA

2024 2023
—E-ImF R
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kt AR¥TFT N
Trade payables B SN SE 38,667 37,792
Other payables: H A FERTRRIE ¢
Receipts on behalf of residents RAFP YR (a) 11,768 9,782
Deposits received Biize (b) 32,317 35,780
Accrued staff costs JEETE TR 17,828 18,812
Accrued contribution to social FEET It iRk kTR
insurance and housing provident NES MR
funds 6,503 6,474
Other tax payables HAb ERHIE 6,202 3,457
Accrued expenses FEFHFIX 729 2,507
Other payables H b fE T RUE 1,068 1,041
Total other payables HEA e RIEERR 76,415 77,853
Total trade and other payables 2 5 REMERFIE
pekc) 115,082 115,645
Notes: Bt

(@)  The balances represented the receipts on behalf of community
residents to settle the utilities bills from utilities suppliers.

(b)  The balances mainly represented by the utility, interior
decoration and rental deposits received from the property-
owners and residents. The deposits received are repayable on
demand and accordingly the amounts are classified as current
liabilities.

(@) EBEREEESKROR
AR EKE SRR
TR -

(b) HHEBEBEEREP KR
MAREE  NRREREE
Be CRREARENRME
B RZERRDFEERR
Ham-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) & (&)

23. ESRHMENREBERENE

(a) Trade and other payables (Continued) (a) BZNEMENFIAE)

Notes: (Continued)

HrE - ()

(b)

(Continued)

The credit period granted by suppliers to the Group ranges
from 30 days to 90 days during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023. The following is an aged analysis of trade
payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of
each reporting period:

(b)

(#)

REBEE_ZT-_NFER-_T_=
F+-A=+—BHLFE &
FAEEHREEOEESHNT
30KZEIOK » LW RARERE
HAENBEZAHIINES

FE SRIERIBRES DA
2024 2023
—EIlE —T-=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#FT AT
Within 1 year 1R 31,457 28,621
1-2 years 1224 2,032 6,351
2-3 years 2E3F 3,162 2,685
Over 3 years 3FLAE 2,016 135
38,667 37,792
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Contract liabilities

The contract liabilities represented the advance from
customers for property management services, property
developer related services and value-added services. The
payment terms vary and depend on the terms of the Group’s

23.

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

EZRHMBENRERGHNE

& (&)

(b) &HAE
ANAFREENNEERRE
FREN - MERBHEMRY

RIBERS - XHEHRERBR
FAREENYEE BRI S OMK

property management services contracts. FRMGE °
The movements in contract liabilities are as follows: EHEBENEEINT ¢
2024 2023
—ECNE T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHFT ARET T

At the beginning of year REH) 80,834 69,141
Receipt from customers upon entering R AF] A KA1 5 P UK

contracts during the year 290,875 312,854
Revenue recognised that was included R AAS KB EEHE

in the contract liabilities balance at B RS

the beginning of the year (80,834) (61,630)
Revenue recognised during the year ~ RAFEREREREFERZF KA

that was related to receipt from FERAR) Y

customers in the same year (211,298) (239,531)
At the end of year RER 79,577 80,834

When the Group receives advanced consideration from
customers before the property management service activities
commence, this will give rise to contract liabilities, until the
revenue recognised on relevant contract upon provision of
property management services.

All contract liabilities are expected to be recognised as
revenue within one year.

EAEERNYEEEREESHA
SRATH R R PR B R(ER - #5
ELRNEE  BEERHEMEE
12 AR5 1% SLARRA & A0 RERR M S

IR WA BEET BN —F AR
Rl -

HEEEZERERAE —ZoHFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—HIFE

24. LEASE LIABILITIES 24. FHEGS®E
2024 2023
—ENE —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARKTT

Non-current FEED = 71
Current mED 67 59
Total @t 67 130
2024 2023

—E-UE —E-=4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHTFT ARKTT

Minimum lease payment due: SEEERNRB AT
— within one year —15R 68 68
— more than one year but not —1F A EB BB
exceeding two years = 68
68 136
Less: future finance charge B RREEE A (1) (6)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBENRE 67 130
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

24. LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

24. HEAE(E)

2024 2023
—EomE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#FT AREFT
Present value of lease liabilities: HEBENIRE :

— within one year —15R 67 63

— more than one year but not exceeding —1F LA EBTHiE2F
two years = 67
67 130

The Group lease various properties to operate its business and
these liabilities were measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not yet paid.

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to
its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored within the Group’s
treasure function.

Extension options are included in certain lease agreements entered
by the Group. Certain periods covered by the extension options
were included in these lease terms as the Group were reasonably
certain to exercise the option at the lease commencement date.

The total cash outflows for leases including the payments of lease
liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2024 are RMB69,000
(2023: RMB68,000).

ARERESENEEERES -
2% B E RN AL R BN R
B3 -

AEEYEAHEREAREANREDE
TR - AERBEEARENOEREE
RN BB

AREEFTZWE THEHZEARA LTS
BEE - ARAKERBERB A
IEWETEITER R - R AR EER
BENETHRERREXSHESN
7 o

HE_Z-_mWE+_-_A=+—8It%F
EAEReRHAE(REREA
BNR) AAREE9,000T(Z T ==
#  AR¥68,0007T) °

HEEEZERERAE —ZoHFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—HILFE

25. PROVISIONS

25. ®&fE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHTFT ARETIT

Provision for onerous contract BRI ORE 1,461 =
Provision for onerous contract relates to the Group’s exposure to EBEREEANNEBRBEAREAERTA
the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract, WBISAT T AR R AR T ANEE K
which exceeds the expected benefits to be received by the Group. BSONEMNRARH - ZBHKRELS
The provision is measured at the represent value of the lower of the KR TRRAR A AR B R TT A R TREDS
expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost PRANE R EREE R ERTE o
of continuing with the contract.
26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. IR
Details of authorised and issued share capital of the Company are as RARDEEREEITRANFBOT
follows:
Number of
shares Share capital
R A R A [EN
HK$000 RMB’000

TET ARKETT

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each BAR0.01E TR EER
Authorised: ERE
At 1 January 2023, RZEZ=F—-H—H"
1 January 2024 and —EoOFE-A-HEK
31 December 2024 —EMETZA=+—H 500,000,000 5,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAZEK
At 1 January 2023, RZZE_=F—-H—-H"
1 January 2024 and —EoMF-A-HK
31 December 2024 —Z-NFE+=-A=+—H 405,310,000 4,053 3,650
All new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares in all EFBMEME T EERERNER

respects.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

27. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 27. REEEFELEENHER

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRFMAEBREEBAEEBEN
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash 28 pIERERIFREEH - QEF
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for PEANBEARSREE SARKE
which cash flows were, or the future cash flow will be, classified in EREBNAEENGEESRERA
the Group’s consolidated statements of cash flows from financing SERBEEFDMSHRERENALE -
activities.
Lease
liabilities
HESE
RMB’000
AR¥FTT
At 1 January 2024 RZZE—WF—A—H 130
Financing cash flows BMERENR (69)
Non-cash changes JEFE 2
Interests on lease liabilities HEAENS 6
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-MFE+—A=+—H 67
Lease
liabilities
HEBE
RMB’000
AREFT
At 1 January 2023 RZZE=-_=F—F—H 190
Financing cash flows BERER (68)
Non-cash changes i3y i)
Interests on lease liabilities HEAENS 8
At 31 December 2023 R_E_=Ff+-A=+—H 130
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024

BE-_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—HILFE

28. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

29.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
throughout the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The capital structure of the Group consists of share capital and
reserves.

The Group reviews the capital structure periodically and considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital and balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends and new share issues as well as the issue of new
debts or the redemption of existing debts.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

28. EXREBER

29.

AEBEREEANUERAEEE &
BEARBELE  RRBBREBLEBK
S EHR B R REABH - NEE
ERERENEBE T _NER_T=_=
F+_A=t+—HUFEHEFTE -

REBNEARRBEIBERA LR -
AEEFRRFNEARBERERBEAK
AEEEBHERBRAENEAR - WiEE
IR RS BT A R BT ER X
BOREEH FEOEEBEARRSE -
TRMTH

(a) =T AR

2024 2023
—ECNEF T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
Financial assets SWMEE
At amortised cost IR AT 2 267,578 289,858
Financial liabilities SRAE
At amortised cost R ERR AT E (108,880) (112,318)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR R M (&

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NE+_A=1+—HIEE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 29. £WMITE(HE)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, amounts due from related parties, bank
balances and cash and trade and other payables. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The management of the Group monitors and manages the
financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through
internal risk assessment which analyses exposures by
degree and magnitude of risks. The risks included market risk
(including interest rate and foreign currency risks), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below and remained unchanged during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. The management of
the Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

(b) TEEREIERFNMEE

AEENTESRTABEES
REMEWRIE - U EET K
] RITEBREREARE S M
HAbENFIR - ZE 2R T AR
FBENBHERE

AEEERERBABRERTG
DITRRIZE BRI » UEER K
EREASELEF@ENDRE
% o ZERRBEMSRAR (2
FEHERINERE) - EERER
MnEE Rk o B BmAERIE
ZERBRABEREH N T » WK
BEZ_T_NFR-_T-_=F
+—A=+—BLEFEHEFT
o o AEFEEEEEENERZ
LR - AR & K A U R
BUEE BT o

Market risk T 15 [ B
Interest rate risk VeI

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate on bank
balances. The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed rate lease liabilities.

The management of the Group considered that interest rate
risk of bank balances and lease liabilities are insignificant and
accordingly no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s transactions were mainly conducted in RMB,
the functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries,
and its major receivables and payables are denominated
in RMB. The Group is subject to foreign exchange rate risk
arising from the assets and liabilities which are denominated
in currency other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entity. The majority of the Group’s foreign currency
transactions and balances are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. The management closely monitors foreign currency
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

PR B8R 17 45 R 0B 1T T 5 2
B AEBEERSREFIER,
CRES DS
& EEGRATFEREEAR -

AEBERERHRITEHRLA
ERENNERBREN - B
REFNBEEDH

SE R

REBNRZ HEEARRARE
MEBARMNMEER ARKE
17 X 2RNGANEMNFR
BLAARESIE - 785 EE ER A
HASEERESBEIAINE
BHENEENMABELNINE
R o NEBEKED D INER S
RS AETRHE - BEEER
PIERSNERRR - WHRERE
R B Eh B RHIMNE R

HEEEERERAE —ZoHFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—HIFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets/
liabilities are mainly bank balances and other payables at the

end of each reporting period and the carrying amounts are as
follows:

29. €WMIE(E)

(b) TEREREERZERER

(%)

B ()

SMNE RS (48)

RE & AR AR B SE HE
K AE AEEERRITAYR

REMBNEIE - HEEERS
T -

2024 2023
—EmEF =%
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHFT ARET T

Assets BE

Hong Kong Dollars BT 3,573 7,440
United States Dollars =TT - 9
Liabilities =R

Hong Kong Dollars BT (3,819) (2,613)
Sensitivity analysis BREDHT

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% (2023: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB against
the relevant foreign currency. The sensitivity rates used
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. A positive number
below indicates the increase in post-tax profit/decrease in
post-tax loss for the year where RMB weakens 5% against
the relevant currency. For a 5% strengthening of RMB against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the post-tax profit/loss and the balances below
would be negative.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

B

E-E_NE+-A=+—HIFE

29. €WMIE(E)

(b) TEREREERZERER

policies (Continued) (4%8)
Market risk (Continued) s Rk (&)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) SMEm S ()
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BREDIT(E)
2024 2023
TEC-OF R
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARKFT
Hong Kong Dollars/ BT ET
United States Dollars
Impact to loss for the year FEBENTE +/-12 +/-242
Credit risk EERK

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the end of each reporting period. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets. However, the
management of the Group will consider collateral or other

credit enhancements should the need arise.

The Group has concentration of credit risk on amounts due
from related parties as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 with
details set out in Note 21. The assessment on recoverability

have been set out in Note 21.

AEBEfEERSEERRKE
BAKERERSHFRERET
REMELMBER - BREER
THR B & HmE PR S B
AERFABNERCEREHMEE
RIAREE - NE B ERFA E
ER MR EEERIEEAS
HemEERREERRREMRR
B o AW - AREEEEHNE
EREZEEAMARIEMEEES
i °

AEERZZE-WNER=ZT ==
F+-A=+—HHNEERKRE
FRTEEURRRE S B - FHIBER
BiisE21 o AT B R AR E A BT 5
21
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024

&

ETTC

ME+-—A=+—HILFE

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk with the customers, the
management of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits and credit approvals. Before
accepting any new corporate customer, the Group uses
an internal credit scoring system to assess the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on trade balances which are collectively assessed under
the simplified approach based on provision matrix and other
significant balances which are individually assessed.

Please refer to Note 20 for the ECL assessment of trade and
other receivables and Note 21 for the ECL assessment of
amounts due from related parties.

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group’s management
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

All of the Group’s liabilities except for lease liabilities set out
in Note 24 are carried at amounts not materially different from
their contractual undiscounted cash flows as all the financial
liabilities are repayable on demand or within the credit period
granted by suppliers at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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30.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES
DISCLOSURES

Related parties balances

Other than the balances with related parties set out in Note 21, the
Group did not have any other related parties balances as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.

Related parties transactions

Other than the transactions as disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, the Group had the following significant
transactions with related companies, which are beneficially owned
by Mr. Zhao Weihao, an executive director of the Company as
follows:

30.

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NE+-_A=1+—HILFE

EMIAE

(c) EMITACAFENE
AAREFRAE - HEMBBRE
RS ARN S RAE R
B R EREER LA TEH
Ao

MEREZESRE

BT R

BRPSAE21FTE 2 BRE T S8R50 - A&
BR—_F_WFER_FT_=F+_A
=+ — A EEARET AR o

FERTRS

Bira B HmREMBITRENR

S RBIEZT Ei&_?__i
TZA=+t—HLFEA  AEBEEN
THARRRTESHEREEMERE
HIEBERRRANAARD -

Year ended 31 December

BEt+t-A=+—-BLFE

2024 2023

—EomE —Eo=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ETFT AREFT

Property developer related services W E FA 2% pa AR AR TS 8,464 8,888

Purchase of right-of-use property BEFEAEYE - 36,846

Advances to related parties [ BAE 75 25K 46,662 119,556

Repayment from related parties BEAERER 46,662 121,108
BESEERERAT —ZTNFFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-ZT-_MF+-A=+—HILtFE

30. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
Related parties transactions (Continued)

On 26 September 2023, Hongkun Ruibang Property Management
Company Limited (“Hongkun Ruibang”) (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) entered into the transfer agreement
(the “Transfer Agreement”) with Beijing Ruihongda Enterprise
Consulting Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Ruihongda”), pursuant to which
Beijing Ruihongda agreed to transfer and Hongkun Ruibang
agreed to acquire the right-of-use of a property (the “Acquisition”)
for a term commencing from the date of approval of the Transfer
Agreement and the Acquisition contemplated thereunder by the
Shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules to 30 June 2041
at consideration of approximately RMB36,846,000, which was
settled by way of set-off against (i) the total amount of outstanding
Refundable Deposits owed by Wuxi Yongqging to Hongkun Ruibang
Wuxi Branch as at the date of the Transfer Agreement; and (ii)
the total amount of outstanding trade receivables owed by Wuxi
Yongging to the Group as at the date of the Transfer Agreement
(collectively the “Outstanding Balances”). As at the date of the
Transfer Agreement, the Outstanding Balances were fully impaired.

As Beijing Ruihongda is ultimately wholly beneficially owned/
controlled by Mr. Zhao Weihao (“Mr. Zhao”) and his associates.
Mr. Zhao is an executive Director and a controlling shareholder
of the Company. Accordingly, Beijing Ruihongda is a connected
person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
As such, the Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and has complied
with the requirements of reporting, announcement, circular and
independent Shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 6 December 2023, the Acquisition was approved and it
was completed on the same date. The difference of the fair value
of the right-of-use property acquired and the carrying amount of
the Outstanding Balance was credited to the capital reserve as
the compensation was received from Mr. Zhao, the controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Please also refer to the Company’s announcements dated 26
September 2023 and 6 December 2023 and circular dated 20
November 2023 for further details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

30. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
Compensation of key management personnel

The compensation of key management personnel during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 was as follows:

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-NE+-_A=1+—HILFE

30. HEEKREAESKE ()

TEEEAEHM

I2EBAEBRHE_T_NER-T
T=HT - A=t+—HILFENFMN

T
2024 2023
—B-mF —E-=#
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT N
Salaries and other benefits #Fre kH MR 4,139 4,590
Discretionary bonus E’] BIEAL 534 602

Contributions to retirement benefit RIKE R B

scheme 501 577
5,174 5,769

The discretionary bonus of key management personnel is FTEBTEABNRBEICAD2REAL

determined by reference to the performance of individuals and
market trend.

Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to
connected transactions

The related party transactions in respect of the property
management, property developer related and value-added services
as disclosed above constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
are provided in section “Connected Transaction and Continuing
Connected Transactions” of the Report of the Directors.

RAEMSBEETE

BRRER ZH TR BIrE
%

FRERAYEER  MERBEEERER
RERBNBEET R ZEK ETRAIE
TUABFIRENBER HUFERER
2 o LR BEVIAZ R EOREHN
EFZeRmE HERXSHRGERERS |
ZEH o

HEEEZERERAE —ZoHFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024

HE_Z-_MFE+-_A=+—HILFE

31.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

At the date of this report, the Company has direct and indirect
interests in the following subsidiaries:

31. MEARAFHE

RAHREBH  RNABRTIIMERR
BEER R AR

Place and date Equity interest Principal activities
of incorporation/ Registered/Issued attributable to and principal place
Name of company establishment and paid-up capital the Group of business
ML B SMELR BRI TEERR
G B R A RBRER AEBEELRE TELEHY
2024 2023
—EopE —To=F
Directly held:
BERE
Ye Xing Holdings Limited BVI USD50,000/ 100% 100% Investment holding, BVI
4 April 2019 USD0.01
BEZRERAR EBRUES 50,000%7T,/ RERR  RBRLES
—E-NFRANA 0.01%7T
Indirectly held:
EERA
Ye Xing (HK) Holdings Limited HK HKD10,000/ 100% 100% Investment holding,
12 April 2019 HKD10,000 HK
BE (B BERERAA BB 10,0007,/ REEKR  BA
“E-NENA+=H 10,000/ 7T
Beijing Hongkun Ruibang Property The PRC RMB141,258,200/ 100% 100% Provision of property
Management Company Limited* 18 June 2003 RMB141,258,200 management Services,
(Note) the PRC
B ANEERRRRR M) TE AEH RENFERRE - PE
ZEZ=FRATNR 141,258,2007T,/
AR#141,258,2007T
Beijing Hongkun Property The PRC RMB5,000,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
Management Company Limited* 16 July 2010 RMB5,000,000 management Services,
(Note) the PRC
JEREth % S B ERAR (H3E) hE ARH5,000,0007, REMEERRS - TE
Z2-BFLA+RH AR 5,000,007
Xianghe Hongkun Property Service The PRC RMB500,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
Company Limited* (Note) 25 April 2011 RMB500,000 management services,
the PRC
BB ERBERRAR M) M AR#500,0007T,/ RENEERRE - PE
“E——FMA=1HA AR500,0007T
Hongkun Real Estate Brokerage The PRC RMB5,000,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
(Hainan) Company Limited* (Note) 11 October 2011 RMB500,000 management Services,
the PRC
BIERELL (BR)BRARMZ) PE ARH5,000,0007, RUDFERRE  TE
—2—FtA+-H AR#500,0007
Yichang Zhongxiang Property The PRC RMB3,000,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
Management Company Limited* 21 November 2012 RMB500,000 management services,
(Note) the PRC
HETIMEERERAR M) M AR #3,000,0007T, RENEERRE - PE
“E—CH+-A-t—H  AR®¥500,0007

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report



31.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB EHRME(R)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE—_Z-_NWF+-_A=1+—HIFE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

B8~ Rl ()

Place and date

Equity interest

Principal activities

of incorporation/ Registered/Issued attributable to and principal place
Name of company establishment and paid-up capital the Group of business
FEMERL, B SMELR /BRI TEERR
ARA B R A RBRER AEBELIRE TELEHY
2024 2023
BoRE —To=F
Hongkun (Beijing) Commercial The PRC RMB3,000,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
Management Company 17 December 2008 RMB3,000,000 management services,
Limited* (Note) the PRC
BER(ER)BRER h AEH3,000,0007,/ REMEERRE - TE
BRAR(HL) “TT\F+-A++R  ARMS,000,0007T
Beijing Hongkun Valley Enterprise The PRC RMB5,000,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
Operation Management Company 18 February 2016 Nil management services,
Limited* (Note) the PRC
ERBRACKELER hE AEH5,000,0007,/ REMEERRE - TE
BRAR (M) —E—REZA+NH z
Beijing Cloud Era Enterprise Operation The PRC RMB5,000,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
Management Company 19 February 2016 Nil management services,
Limited* (Note) the PRC
IRERREEEE i I AEH5,000,0007, REMEERRE - TE
ERERAR(Hit) —E—REZAt+NH =
Chengde Hongkun Guangxia Property  The PRC RMB1,000,000/ - 60% Provision of property
Management Company Limited* 21 July 2020 Nil management services,
(Note) the PRC
AERRERENEERBRAA (M) + AR #1,000,0007T,/ RENEERRS - &
ZEIFFEACTA z
Jiangsu Wanhao* (Note) The PRC RMB5,000,000/ 100% 100% Provision of property
24 September 2003 RMB5,000,000 management services,
the PRC
HEZ(Hit) i AR 5,000,007,/ RENZEERS - o+
“EL=FERAZ1IA AR#5,000,0007T
Dongfang Yirun Medical Company The PRC RMB1,000,000/ 65% 65% Provision of medical sale
Limited* (Note) 23 May 2016 RMB1,000,000 services, the PRC
RhanReRBRARH:T) HE AK#1,000,0007T,/ REERAERE -
ZE-RFRAZt=H AR#1,000,0007T
Oriental Ideal Coast Yirun Community ~ The PRC RMB1,200,000/ 65% 65% Provision of medical sale
Health Service Station Company 13 January 2017 RMB1,200,000 services, the PRC
Limited* (Note)
RAERB RS BLREERBL H AK®1,200,0007T,/ REERAERE -
BRARKZL) I = ARH1,200,00070
Beijing Hongsen Environmental The PRC RMB5,000,000/ 85% 85% Provision of environmental
Services Company Limited* (Note) 20 June 2023 RMB5,000,000 health management,
the PRC
ERERREREER AR (4:2) EF I AK#5,000,0007T,/ RERZEEERE - &
—E-=FXA-1H AR#5,000,0007T

BEEEZRERAT

ZE-NEFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e MR wR M E ()

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE-_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—HILFE

31. B RFE(E)

31. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Place and date

Equity interest Principal activities

of incorporation/ Registered/Issued attributable to and principal place
Name of company establishment and paid-up capital the Group of business
FEMARL, B SMELR/ BRT TEERR
AL B R A REZER rEBELRE TELEHY
2024 2023
“ECDME —ZT-=F
Hongyilin (Beijing) Rehabilitation The PRC RMB100,000/ 90% 90% Provision of technical
Technology Company Limited* (Note) 25 September 2023 RMB90,000 services, the PRC
BEROER)RERBR AR (M) =+ AR#100,0007T,/ RARIMTRE - PE
“E-=FNA-TEHA AR 90,0007
Beijing Hongzhesen Health The PRC RMB500,000/ 100% 100% Provision of health
Management Company Limited* 19 September 2023 RMB20,000 consulting services,
(Note) the PRC
IRBHEREREEERARAM L) =+ AR#500,0007T,/ RERFERARS -
Z2=FARTNE AR#:20,0007
Beijing Hongmai Trading Company The PRC RMB1,000,000/ 100% - Provision of food and
Limited* (Note) 28 February 2024 Nil beverage retail and
wholesales
ERBEBEBRLR (A2 I ARH RERRNFHTER
—E-MFE-A=F/\B 1,000,0007t,/% i

*

The English name is for identification purpose only.

Note: These companies were registered as a limited liability company in the

PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end

of the year.

Ye Xing Group Holdings Limited 2024 Annual Report

* HICRTEEHREG -

Hiet - ZERRRTEEMAEREELR
7l o

)

RER - BEERNBRREEITEM
EBES



32.

33.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had non-cash
addition to right-of-use assets of approximately RMB36,846,000
(Note 30).

On 31 December 2023, the Group entered into an offsetting
agreement with Hongkun Weiye, a related company, pursuant to
which the trade amounts due from related companies (included
in amounts from related companies) of RMB1,473,000 had been
settled by offsetting with the amounts due to related companies at
aggregate amount of RMB1,473,000 as at 31 December 2023.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, CAPITAL
COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities or capital commitments.

32.

33.

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

EXFRERS

BE-_Z-_=%+-A=+—H K&
B FREEEIFRS BN A AR
36,846,000t (FizE30) °

RZZBE-_=F+-_A=+—H K&
B mimE R (—HBAEQR)EKIE
HIBE - Bt BKAEARINES
FIEGrARKEESFIERN) AR
1,473,000 TEBBHN T Z=4F
+ZA=+—HEMEEQRFKIASGE
A AR ,473,0007TH T REEE

RREEEFEE

R-ZZE-_NF+=—A=+—8 ~5£H
BT ERKAR BB ARIE o

HEEEZERERAE —ZoHFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e KRR (&)
For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BHE_Z-_ME+_-_A=+—HIFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

34. ARFNMBMRREK

COMPANY
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT AR¥TFor
NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZIRE 151,590 151,590
151,590 151,590
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Bank balances and cash RITHB RS 2,429 6,405
2,429 6,405
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables H A fERTRUE 3,819 2,613
Amounts due to subsidiaries (Note a) FERTH B R R IA (W ita) 7,131 7,690
10,950 10,303
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEETFE (8,521) (3,898)
NET ASSETS BEE 143,069 147,692
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRHE
Share capital [N 3,650 3,650
Reserves (Note b) ®E (M Ep) 139,419 144,042
TOTAL EQUITY HRER 143,069 147,692
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e PR M (E)

For the Year ended 31 December 2024
BE_ZT-_NE+_A=1+—RHItFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE  34. A2 RHEIEHAR R (#)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Note a: Ki#a -
The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. ZEREREER - 28 RIREKERER -
Note b: Hiatb -

Share Accumulated

premium loss Total
RARE RARE A&t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARHETT ARHT T ARHT T

At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=F—HF—H 179,495 (80,143) 149,352
Loss and total comprehensive FEEBEBREEAZAE

loss for the year - (5,310) (5,310)
At 31 December 2023 R-_ZE—_=F+=-A=+—H 179,495 (85,453) 144,042
Loss and total comprehensive FEBEREEMAXEE

loss for the year - (4,623) (4,623)
At 31 December 2024 R-E-_MF+=-_A=+—H 179,495 (40,076) 139,419

35. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 35. MEHREIER

Apart from the events as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated Frére MR A D ik EIR
financial statements, the Group did not have other material events Ih - REERBEBREREEARSER
after the reporting period and up to the date of this report. B E M E RN EIE o

BESBERARAT —T-EFFH 191



Five-year Financial Summary

HFEHBEHME

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS me¥E

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—EoTEFE B —_To-F = ZE-NMF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFIT ARETIT AREFT AREFT AR¥ETFRT

Revenue A 261,405 336,828 343,498 341,405 377,314
Gross profit EF| 63,478 89,630 67,023 61,693 81,299
Net profit/(loss) SFRE,(E18) 20,762 31,207 (51,872) (13,746) (21,594)

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, EQUITY AND LIABILITIES FREE RaR8E

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E==F —E-—fF —ZTE-—F —ZT-=F ZEBE_NE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFiT ARETFIT AREFT AREFT AR¥FT

Assets BE

Non-current assets ERBEE 24,227 87,378 101,121 136,184 142,561
Current assets MENEE 403,574 382,190 315,132 303,300 279,785
Total assets BEE 427,801 469,568 416,253 439,484 422,346
Equity and liabilities EEREE

Non-current liabilities JEmBIAE 16 2,728 3,694 3,107 2,508
Current liabilities mEBaE 194,423 202,271 199,785 200,503 205,786
Total liabilities BwEE 194,439 204,999 203,479 203,610 208,294
Total equity RS 233,362 264,569 212,774 235,874 214,052
Total equity and liabilities wESNBEE 427 801 469,568 416,253 439,484 422,346
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